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“Looking to the year 
ahead, Fortescue is 
absolutely focused 

on ensuring daily 
production is reliable 

and low cost.”

Fortescue Ore being loaded into the 
FMG Matilda at Herb Elliott Port.
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Fortescue’s first full year of production has been 
one of extraordinary achievement. The hallmark for 
the year has been without doubt, the ability of your 
Company’s employees to successfully plan, adapt 
and implement strategies to cope with the many unique 
challenges we have faced over the past 12 months.

Great companies have great people and at 
Fortescue we have some of the best people in our 
industry working side by side. It has been a privilege 
to work with them.

At the beginning of the year under review, your 
Company was shipping ore into a market driven by 
strong demand and record prices. The seemingly 
insatiable growth of China fuelled buoyant conditions 
in Australia and around the world. But just a few months 
later the world economic environment changed 
dramatically, demand collapsed and prices fell.

The economic downturn impacted many areas of 
the business and presented significant challenges in 
relation to shipping and management of our contracts 
with our Chinese customers. 

Through the hard work of the Fortescue team we 
maintained our strong relationships with Chinese 
steel mills and, despite fluctuating demand, 
continued to sell every tonne of ore we could mine, 
process, rail and ship to China.

While our corporate and marketing teams were setting 
a new course to manage the global economic crisis, 
operations staff remained firmly focused on the transition 
from construction and commissioning to operations. 

After the massive effort of constructing the port, the 
rail line and building a mine and processing facility in 
just two years, your team turned its hand to ramping 
up production and shipping more than 27 million 
tonnes (Mt) of ore in our first full year of operations. 
We are now regularly mining, processing and 
transporting in excess of 100,000 tonnes of ore each 
day from the Cloudbreak minesite.

We are well and truly the New Force in Iron Ore 
and already rank as Australia’s third largest iron ore 
producer in just our first full year of operation. In 
the coming financial year we should move to fourth 
worldwide.

And there’s more to come. During the year, 
Fortescue’s Resources were significantly increased 
and our exploration team is well positioned to 
continue to add to the resource foundations which 
support a large scale, long term iron ore producer.

In December 2008, Fortescue also made history by 
opening up the Pilbara for third party access, with 
more than 680,000 tonnes of third party ore shipped 
through Fortescue’s port.

During the year, Fortescue attracted an additional 
18,000 shareholders and in April, we welcomed 
Hunan Valin Iron and Steel Group Company Ltd 
as a key equity partner in Fortescue’s future. The 
partnership has provided the platform for Fortescue 
to further expand our operations beyond our original 
targets.

But while we had our successes, we also ensured 
that we paid respect to those who lost their lives 
in the terrible Cyclone George tragedy of 2007. In 
May this year a 12 metre high raw steel sculpture 
was unveiled at a ceremony in South Hedland and 
stands as a solemn tribute to their lives and their 
contribution to our company. 

Looking to the year ahead, Fortescue is focused on 
ensuring daily production is reliable and low cost. We 
are driven towards our target of becoming the lowest 
cost iron ore producer in the Pilbara. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank the 
devoted and hard working Fortescue team, led by 
CEO Andrew Forrest, and my fellow Board members. 
I believe we can all look back on this year with pride 
at what has been achieved and the strong base we 
have established on which to build our future.

Herb Elliott
Chairman

CHAIRMAN’S 
REPORT
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S 
STATEMENT
Your team met our dream this year when Fortescue 
truly became the New Force in Iron Ore. Your 
company has shattered the iron ore duopoly which 
existed in the Pilbara for many decades and firmly 
established itself as a vital alternative supplier of 
iron ore for the steel mills of Asia and the world. The 
entire Asian region has decades of success and 
sustained growth ahead and Fortescue is committed 
to being an integral partner in that journey. 

We have also opened up the Pilbara by providing 
infrastructure services to third parties, commissioned 
our new facilities which were built in record time, 
established new markets across China and 
generated strong interest throughout Asia. The 
Chichester Range is now a major new iron ore 
supply region and our central Pilbara Solomon Group 
project promises to be even bigger again. 

Over the past 12 months we have made the 
transformation from development and construction 
to a major operating iron ore production company. 
We’ve completed building our open access port 
at Anderson Point in Port Hedland, constructing a 
massive mine and processing facility at Cloudbreak 
in the Pilbara’s Chichester Range and laying some 
300 kilometres of rail. 

Your team has taken each of those pieces of 
infrastructure through the commissioning phase and 
ramped up the many facets of our operation, with 
most now running at or beyond name plate capacity. 
In the past financial year, we mined, processed, 
railed and shipped more than 27 million tonnes of ore 
to over 45 steel mill customers across China. 

All of this has been achieved in the face of turbulent 
economic conditions both here and abroad. This 
challenging economic environment has further 
proved the extremely high value of Fortescue’s 
strong relationship with Asia. Fortescue has devoted 
considerable time and energy to nurturing our 
relationship with China, which while struggling with 
the global financial crisis and shipping collapse, has 
remained strong. 

In fact we have strengthened a number of those 
relationships with strategic partnerships and 
alliances. In early 2009, Fortescue signed a Co-
operation Agreement with Hunan Valin Iron and Steel 
Group and welcomed that company as a major new 
shareholder. The relationship provides business and 
supply opportunities for Valin and Fortescue with 
many potential product development opportunities for 
the Pilbara. 

Across our operations the 2009 year has also been 
one of intense activity.

At Cloudbreak, production quickly ramped up to 
more than 2.5 million tonnes per month. We have 
improved the productivity of our surface miners as we 
have developed more science around this innovative 
use of a machine primarily used in coal mining and 
infrastructure building. We have also improved the 
layout of our pits to better suit the surface miners. 
At our ore processing facility we have enhanced the 
management of size, moisture content and shape 
of the material we feed in to increase volumes and 
the introduction of the Desand plant in early 2009 
assisted greatly with the management of alumina. 

“The entire Asian region has 
decades of success and sustained 
growth ahead and Fortescue is 
committed to being an integral 
partner in that journey.” 

Ranking with the achievement of Cloudbreak, just 50 
kilometres down the road Fortescue has established 
its second minesite, Christmas Creek. Mining began 
in May 2009 and since then some 300,000 tonnes 
has transported by road train to the Cloudbreak 
ore processing facility while our second new plant 
is being built at Christmas Creek. The ore from 
Christmas Creek is used to supplement Cloudbreak 
ore and ensures a blend of suitable grade and 
moisture content. Christmas Creek is actually a 
significantly larger deposit than Cloudbreak, with 
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a current reserve estimate of 997 million tonnes 
compared to Cloudbreak’s 588 million tonnes. Both 
have some 50 per cent more in resources as shown 
in the Reserves/Resources table on page 10. More 
than 200 team members are working at Christmas 
Creek and a substantial village has been established.

The rail team has been delivering record 
performances, reducing cycle times below the 
target of the original definitive feasibility study and 
increasing the amount of ore railed to Port each and 
every week. In May, rail ran the 1000th train down 
the line, less than a year after operations began. For 
the full financial year, more than 1,100 rail journeys 
were completed. Fortescue’s heavy haul railway 
has been recognised as currently the heaviest in 
the world with a 40 tonne axle load design and was 
honoured as such at the International Heavy Haul 
Association conference in Shanghai. 

At the Herb Elliott Port your team has also been 
breaking records and proving their infrastructure. 
Both the in-load and out-load circuits at the port 
have been proven above design capacity and 
during the year, a second stacker was installed and 
commissioned. Also the original lay by berth was 
converted to a second ship loading berth.

Our intrepid Exploration Team has further increased 
Fortescue’s resources. At our Solomon Group 
of tenements, the exploration upside potential 
is massive. Located to the north of Tom Price 

in the Hamersley Ranges, Solomon’s Resource 
Estimate was significantly increased to take the total 
Solomon Group estimate to 2.223 billion tonnes 
and Fortescue’s total Resource Estimate for the 
Chichester and Hamersley Ranges to 5.145 billion 
tonnes. On top of this there was also the maiden 
resource estimate for Glacier Valley announced in 
July 2009 of 1.230 billion tonnes. 

Fortescue has been firmly focused on embedding 
the value of our strong family culture, enthusiasm, 
innovation, mateship and frugality. We have cut 
costs across the business and we are on our way to 
becoming the lowest cost producer in the Pilbara. 

It has been a great year for Fortescue and I thank 
our entire team for their never give up attitude of 
dedication and determination. Your company has 
built a very strong base, one unparalleled around 
the world in any company outside of the majors. We 
have joined this small in number but massive in  
value group, with great relish. We now look to 
strongly consolidate and build on that base in the 
coming years. 

Andrew Forrest
Chief Executive Officer

The RAHCO overburden removal 
system at Cloudbreak.
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Operations
The primary focus of operations over the year was 
the successful ramping of all facets of the integrated 
mine, rail and port production system.

Mining operations now span two sites at Cloudbreak 
and Christmas Creek which are situated about 
50 kilometres apart in the Chichester Ranges in 
Western Australia’s Pilbara region. Cloudbreak has 
grown to more than six active pits where over 1,600 
Fortescue staff and contractors work to mine and 
process Fortescue ore. During the year over 30 
million tonnes (Mt) of iron ore was mined and over 
90Mt of overburden was removed. 

Christmas Creek commenced mining operations 
in May 2009 and is operated by a tight team of 
Fortescue staff and contractors. To the end of the 
financial year approximately 230,000 tonnes of 
Christmas Creek ore was blended with Cloudbreak 
material for shipping to China.

Fortescue’s unique use of surface miners was 
optimised over the year. Hands-on operating 
experience confirmed many of the feasibility design 

concepts and further refined and improved on others. 
As a result of these improvements, surface miner 
production rates rose significantly, topping 113,000 
tonnes of material mined each day. 

Towards the end of the year, Fortescue took delivery 
of the first of a series of upgraded Wirtgen surface 
miners. The new machine has been specially 
modified to suit the Pilbara environment and in 
particular Fortescue’s ore seam mining application. 
The new machines are more robust with a cutting 
drum that spans 4.2 metres in width (compared to 
2.5 metres for the original machines) which will vastly 
improve mining rates.

Over the 2008/09 financial year, various processing 
infrastructure at Cloudbreak was commissioned 
including the desand plant which assisted with the 
management of alumina and, as a result, reduced 
the reliance on selective mining which was used 
early in the year to produce target grade material. 
The performance of the Ore Processing Facility 
(OPF), the largest in the Pilbara, also improved 
significantly over the year due to increased 
operational understanding which assisted in 
eliminating bottlenecks. A 24 hour ore processing 
production rate record of 129,008 tonnes was 
achieved at Cloudbreak during the year. 

Once processed, Fortescue’s ore is railed the 256 
kilometre journey from the mine to the port site. 

ACTIVITIES 
REPORT

Summit 300 recruits on 
the job at Port.
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During the year Fortescue’s rail team of around 120 
people, managed over 1,200 journeys with the size 
and weight of each train load gradually increased to 
progressively work-harden the rail. Currently each 
train consist comprises 240 wagons and carries 
approximately 30,000 tonnes of material, making 
the journey to the port in around four hours. In many 
key areas the Fortescue rail operation is performing 
above original expectations with the critical measure 
of cycle time being reduced to under 20 hours – 
cycle time is from the start of loading at the mine to 
the return of that train from unloading at the port. 

Records were achieved during the year when the 
railway was recognised at the International Heavy 
Haul Association conference as the heaviest haul 
railway in the world with a 40 tonne axle load 
design. Also in March, Fortescue moved its train 
control centre to Perth from the Pilbara, making the 
company the first in Western Australia to control a 
railway from outside the region of operation.

The performance of Fortescue’s port facility at Port 
Hedland was also a source of record breaking 
achievements during its inaugural year. The in-load 
and out-load circuits have been proven at name 
plate design capacity. Port operations benefitted 
from the completion of the second ship loading 
berth and the second stacker, both of which provide 
increased flexibility in managing Fortescue’s ship 
loading program. In particular, the second stacker 
makes available six additional stockpiles for a total 
3.6Mt of live capacity and the second berth cut the 
average changeover delay between ships from 6.4 
hours to 0.5 hours, allowing an empty ship to always 
be available to the shiploader. Both ship loading 
berths cater for Capesize vessels and the Herb 
Elliott Port has significant expansion potential with 
the third wharf area already dredged and ready for 
construction.

A 12 hour ship loading record of 100,349 tonnes 
was achieved and a monthly shipping record for 
Fortescue was attained in June with the Port team 
loading 3.29Mt of ore onto 19 ships.

During the year, Fortescue also delivered on its 
third party access commitments. In December 
2008, Atlas Iron shipped its first commercial ore to 
China through the Herb Elliott Port and since then 
five further shipments have been completed. More 
recently Fortescue signed an agreement with another 
independent miner, BC Iron which is expected to start 
utilising Fortescue’s infrastructure in 2010. 

Looking ahead, Fortescue’s immediate focus in 
2009/10 is cost control together with continuing 
dedicated efforts around ramp up. Fortescue will 
also be devoting significant corporate energy to its 
expansion program so as to be ready to activate 
plans as soon as the economic environment justifies 
the decision.

Marketing
Fortescue’s marketing team has continued to grow 
its customer base despite the dramatic impact of 
the global financial meltdown in late 2008. During 
the year 27.3Mt of product was shipped to over 45 
customers across China. There were 159 individual 
shipments on Capesize vessels ranging from 
160,000 – 210,000 tonnes capacity, departing the 
Herb Elliott Port almost every other day. 

Shipments of Rocket Fines, the main product 
exported, achieved an average grade of 58.92 per 
cent Fe with calcined iron grade of 64.3 per cent Fe 
within 0.5 per cent of the target grade. The close 
alignment between actual and target is a remarkable 
achievement for a new mine with so many new pieces 
of technology, mining method and equipment.

At the commencement of the fiscal year, the market 
dynamics were strong and Fortescue was receiving 
record prices. By November 2008 the situation had 
changed markedly. The previously orderly market, 
underpinned by the benchmark pricing system, had 
changed to be characterised as being a shipment by 
shipment negotiation. The imperative became one 
of delivering a quality product with demonstrable 
performance benefits for the buyer. Prices fell from their 
2008 peak and settled at their current levels which 
represent an approximate 30 per cent reduction from 
the last year’s negotiated benchmark price. 

With Fortescue newly into production the global 
financial crisis hit the Chinese and Global Steel 
industry very heavily. In this extremely difficult market 
environment, the Company nevertheless expanded 
its customer base and more importantly, has now 
conclusively proven the “value in use” proposition 
of its Rocket Fines product versus alternative 
competitor products. Rocket Fines have been widely 
used by many customers at between 30 to 45 per 
cent of their sinter blends (ore basis) compared to 
a maximum of 15 per cent for competitor’s Marra 
Mamba fines products. As background, a steel mill 
will typically use between six to eight different iron 
ore types within its feed stock to capture chemical 
and physical property benefits from a cross section of 
different material types.

Reserves and 
Resources
While Fortescue commenced mining operations 
in the previous year, 2009 is the first full year 
of operations at Cloudbreak. Accordingly it is 
appropriate to restate the Reserves and Resources 
in reference to the volume of iron ore mined during 
the period and the adjoining table shows an adjusted 
estimate for Cloudbreak. Christmas Creek has not 
been adjusted as mining only commenced in the 
later part of the year and the volumes are considered 
immaterial in the context of a changed position.
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ACTIVITIES REPORT
The depletion of Reserve from Cloudbreak 
is estimated at approximately 40Mt from the 
commencement of mining activities in November 
2007. This has been determined through a detailed 
survey of the mined out areas and the depletion 
of the surveyed volumes from the original mining 
block model. In reconciliation of the depletion 
amount, 29Mt of material has been exported and 
approximately 4Mt were surveyed to be stockpiled at 
the port or the mine as at year end. 

Approximately 1Mt has reported to tailings after the 
de-sanding process. Of the Reserve depletion, 1.6Mt 
has been sterilised due to infrastructure placement. 
It is estimated that approximately 2.5Mt has been 
used in construction where material was used for 
various purposes including extensive sheeting of the 
vast stockpile sites at both the mine and port and 
temporary train loading stockpile areas. Due to the 
very rapid ramp up in production some ore losses 
have occurred whilst gaining a full understanding 
of both the ore body and the new mining method. 
Going forward, these losses are not expected to 
continue due to the improved systems and better 
understanding. 

Exploration and 
Tenement Acquisition
The key focus of Fortescue’s Exploration team over 
2009 was the increase and upgrade of Resource 
estimates for the Solomon Group of tenements and 
the estimation of a maiden Resource for the Glacier 
Valley tenements (for location of tenements refer to 
map on page 12).

The Solomon Group contains a total Resource 
estimate 2,223Mt split between 543Mt of Indicated 
and 1,680Mt of Inferred Resources (refer below 
table). Through the year there were a series of 
announcements that progressively upgraded this 
highly prospective project area. In November 2008 
Fortescue increased the Resource estimates for 
two of the Solomon Group tenement areas known 
as Valley of the Kings and Firetail. Continuing infill 
drilling work resulted in the April 2009 Indicated 
Resource estimate for the Solomon Group of 543Mt 
classified which was additional to the 1,680Mt 
Inferred Resource. Further infill drilling has been 
undertaken at Firetail and it is expected that this will 
soon result in a Resource upgrade for this area.

Fortescue Reserve - Resource      

Reserve Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Proved 126 59.7 3.60 1.80 0.051 8.16

Probable 1,459 58.8 4.20 2.40 0.057 7.64

Total Reserve 1,585 58.8 4.18 2.36 0.056 7.64

Resource Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Measured 134 59.36 3.71 1.97 0.050 8.39

Indicated 1,627 58.53 4.25 2.51 0.055 7.87

Inferred 467 58.16 4.24 2.48 0.058 7.74

Total Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek 2,227 58.50 4.21 2.47 0.055 7.87

Resource Solomon Group Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Indicated 543 56.4 6.98 2.89 0.060 8.91

Inferred 1,680 56.1 7.00 3.51 0.079 8.34

Total Solomon 2,223 56.2 6.99 3.39 0.076 8.45

Please refer to the relevant Competent Persons Statement on page 122.
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Exploration work at Glacier Valley has been 
progressively building since the Joint Venture with 
Baosteel was signed in 2007. The first stage target 
was for a resource of over one billion tonnes (Bt) 
and this was achieved in July 2009 when a maiden 
Inferred Resource of 1,230Mt was announced 
(refer table page 122). As the deposit is magnetite 
mineralisation, the announcement also included the 
Davis Tube recovery test results to show the likely 
product yield and composition following beneficiation 
and calculated a product specification with an iron 
grade of 67.3 per cent, alumina of 0.1 per cent and a 
micron size of 28mµ, based on an overall yield of 33.1 
per cent. 

Fortescue’s Tenement Acquisition Team was also 
very active through the year and the company’s 
total Pilbara portfolio now stands at 71,400 square 
kilometres. The details of the portfolio are provided in 
the table from page 120 of this report.

Environment
Minimising the environmental impact of our 
operations is essential to Fortescue’s longevity, 
success, growth and positioning in the domestic 
and global markets. We have a dedicated team of 
environmental professionals building a culture and 
reputation of environmental excellence.

Fortescue is proactively working to ensure that the  
environmental impact from ground disturbance 
activities such as construction and mining is minimal. 
This includes undertaking nearly 20,000 hectares of 
flora, fauna and vegetation surveys prior to ground 
disturbance activities across Fortescue’s operations this 
financial year. Proactive techniques employed include:

 ● Clearing controls to limit vegetation disturbance; 

 ● Trapping and relocation of priority fauna species; and

 ● Progressive rehabilitation and education 
and training on environmental issues for all 
supervisors and managers. 

Through these and other techniques, Fortescue is 
aiming to raise environmental awareness within its 
operations and consistently meet high standards of 
environmental management.

The company is currently funding research projects 
by the University of Western Australia and the 
Department of Environment and Conservation into 
samphire and mulga vegetation communities in the 
Pilbara. This work aims to add to the body of science 
into these high value plant communities, which are 
represented across Fortescue’s tenements. Both 
these communities are adjacent to the highly valued 
Fortescue Marshes which borders our Chichester 
Range mining operations. 

Another area where Fortescue is actively working 
to improve environmental performance is at its Herb 
Elliott Port located to the south of the Port Hedland 
town centre. Dust is a concern to the Port Hedland 

community, largely due to proximity of residential 
areas close to existing iron ore handling facilities. 
Fortescue proactively manages the port facility 
to reduce dust and is a participant in community, 
industry and government forums who are working 
together to better understand and resolve the issues.

Safety
The health and safety of the Fortescue team is 
paramount in all our decisions and central to our business 
success. Our focus is firmly fixed on ensuring our 
employees and contractors are able to achieve personal 
and company expectations for the improvement of 
standards in health and safety on our sites.

Safety is a core value and we are building a culture 
of zero harm across our entire business. During the 
year from July 2008 to June 2009, Fortescue’s Loss 
Time Injury Frequency Rate improved by 43 per 
cent to 6.6. Our target for the next financial year is to 
improve that rate to well under the iron ore industry 
rate of 1.8. Our Total Recountable Injury Frequency 
Rate has also decreased.

In the year ahead Fortescue will introduce an 
integrated risk management and contractor 
management system which will provide online skills, 
training modules and a mobilisation system. 

Summit 300
Fortescue’s Summit 300 program has been  
established to achieve the commitment by  
CEO Andrew Forrest, as part of the Australian 
Employment Covenant, to employ an additional  
300 new Aboriginal people into the company  
by 30 June 2011. 

Fortescue’s Vocational Training and Employment 
Centre (VTEC) is the driver behind this program and 
is responsible for all pre-employment training. Since 
VTEC commenced in 2006, over 200 Aboriginal people 
have been employed on Fortescue’s operations.

The core commitment behind Summit 300 is that 
candidates will be given a guarantee of a job 
provided they successfully complete all required 
training and pre-employment processes.

The focus of Summit 300 is providing employment to 
those Aboriginal people who have to date been unable 
to secure employment within the mining industry. 

Highest priority will be given to Aboriginal people 
connected to the Kariyarra, Palyku and Nyiyaparli 
Native Title Claims. The Land Access Agreements 
with these groups commit Fortescue to preferential 
employment treatment in return for approval for all 
business operations without delay.

Following people from these groups, priority for 
employment will then be given to local, Pilbara 
Aboriginal people and then all other Aboriginal people.
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MAP OF OPERATIONS

Key
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ASX BEST PRACTICE 
RECOMMENDATIONS
This statement provides a description of the manner in which 
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (the Company) and its controlled 
entities (Fortescue) complies with the ASX Principles and associated 
recommendations. More detail on Fortescue’s policies and 
procedures are also available in the corporate governance section of 
Fortescue’s website (www.fmgl.com.au).



FORTESCU
E M

ETALS GROU
P ANNUAL REPORT 2009     

14

14

Principle 1: Lay Solid 
Foundations 
ASX Principle 1 states that a company should 
“establish and disclose the respective roles and 
responsibilities of the board and management”. 
Fortescue complies with this principle and associated 
recommendations in the following manner:

Recommendation 1.1: Formalise and 
disclose the functions reserved to the Board 
and those delegated to management.
The Company has adopted a Statement of Matters 
Reserved for the Board to further clarify and 
distinguish the roles of Directors and Management. 
This statement summarises the roles and 
responsibilities of the Board of the Company. The 
disclosure of the role and responsibility of the Board 
is designed to assist those affected by corporate 
decisions to better understand the respective 
accountabilities and contributions of the board and 
management of Fortescue.

The Board has specifically reserved the following 
matters for its decision:

 ● Appointing, evaluating, rewarding, and if 
necessary the removal of, the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO);

 ● Guidance for and approval of business strategy;

 ● Determination of major capital and operating 
expenditures and major funding activities 
proposed by management and subsequent 
monitoring of actual performance against defined 
expectations; 

 ● Satisfying itself that the financial statements fairly 
and accurately set out the financial position and 
financial performance of the company and also 

assuring that appropriate audit arrangements are 
in place; and 

 ● Formal determinations that are required by 
Fortescue’s constitutional documents, by statute 
or by other external regulation.

The Board has delegated responsibility for the 
day-to-day activities to the CEO and the CEO’s 
direct reports. The Board ensures that the team is 
appropriately qualified and experienced to discharge 
their responsibilities.

Each new Director is required to sign and return a 
letter of appointment which sets out the key terms 
of the Director’s appointment. The contents of the 
letter of appointment for new Directors are consistent 
with the ASX Principles. The letter also includes 
acknowledgement of the Company’s Director’s Code 
of Conduct, which has been drafted in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. The Code defines core principles 
to which all Directors are required to adhere. 

Recommendation 1.2: Companies should 
disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of senior executives.
In 2009 the company adopted a performance 
measurement program described as “Good Tonnes” 
wherein a range of measures were determined 
as key performance indicators and were reported 
upon on a monthly basis. This provided a clear 
and transparent reference point to evaluate the 
performance of all employee teams inclusive of 
senior executives. The year end evaluation process 
was through line management up to the executive 
committee team whose six members are directly 
answerable to the CEO. The performance of the CEO 
is assessed by the Board and during the year the 
Independent board of directors met with the CEO and 
reviewed both performance and remuneration matters.  

The Cloudbreak 
Human Resources 
team.
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Recommendation 1.3: Reporting on ASX 
Principle 1:
A copy of the Statement of Matters Reserved for the 
Board, the Director’s Code of Conduct and the Board 
Charter are all available in the corporate governance 
section of Fortescue’s website. Fortescue does not 
have an explicit statement as to matters delegated to 
senior management. 

Principle 2: Board 
Structure 
ASX Principle 2 states that a company should 
“have a Board of an effective composition, size 
and commitment to adequately discharge its 
responsibilities and duties”. Fortescue complies with 
this principle and associated recommendations, other 
than Recommendation 2.1, in the following manner:

The Company has an experienced Board of Directors 
with appropriate expertise across a range of sectors 
including mining, rail and port operations, finance 
and marketing. Over the past year the composition 
and experience level of the board was bolstered 
with the addition of two non-executive directors 
with extensive experience in the mining industry in 
Mr Owen Hegarty and Dr Ian Burston. Also more 
recently, the Board was further bolstered with the 
appointment of Mr Li Xiaowei as representative of 
Hunan Valin Iron & Steel Company (Valin).    

Recommendation 2.1: A Board should 
consist of a majority of independent 
directors.
In accordance with the Company’s constitution the 
Board is to comprise a minimum of three directors up 
to a maximum of 12 directors. During the most part 
of 2009, Fortescue had a board of nine directors but 
this was increased to 10 directors in June following 
the appointment of Mr Li as Valin’s representative.  
Of the 10 members, seven are classified as 
non-executive and of these, five are considered 
independent and the other two represent the 
interests of separate substantial shareholders. While 
the Board does not comply with Recommendation 
2.1 in that since June 2009, it does not have a 
majority of independent directors, there is a majority 
of non-executive directors and the chairman, who is 
an independent director, has a casting vote in certain 
circumstances.  

The Board recognises that its current composition is 
contrary to the ASX Best Practice Recommendations, 
however, the Board is of the opinion that the current 
structure serves the company well. 

Recommendation 2.2: The chairperson 
should be an independent director.
Fortescue complies with this recommendation as 
the chairman of the Board is an independent, non-
executive director. 

Recommendation 2.3: The roles of 
chairperson and chief executive officer 
should not be exercised by the same 
individual.
The positions of Chairman and CEO are not filled by 
the same person.

Recommendation 2.4: The Board should 
establish a nominations committee.
The Company has a Nominations Committee 
which forms part of the Remuneration Committee. 
The charter for this committee is included in 
the Remuneration Committee charter and is 
available from Fortescue’s website. In regards to 
its nominations role, the Committee is responsible 
to regularly review and make recommendations 
to the Board on the optimum size of the Board, 
the appropriate skills required of Directors and 
the appropriate evaluation methods to review the 
performance of the Board. The Board has also 
adopted a policy known as a Procedure for Selection 
and Appointment of New Directors which is a clear 
statement of intent.

Recommendation 2.5: The Company should 
disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, its committees 
and the individual directors.
The Company does not have a formal process 
for evaluating the performance of the board or 
its committees but rather this is done by informal 
consultation between the Chairman and the CEO 
and relevant directors as required. The company 
has held board retreats in the past where evaluation 
questionnaires have been used to gauge director’s 
views on performance and board effectiveness. No 
such exercise was conducted in the 2009 financial 
year however it is planned to hold such an event in 
the 2010 financial year.  

Recommendation 2.6: Provide the 
information indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 2.
The names of the Directors in office at the date 
of this report, the year of their appointment, their 
independence (or otherwise) and whether they retire 
at the 2009 annual general meeting (AGM) are set 
out in the table on the next page. It is also noted 
that two directors, Mr Ian Cumming and Mr Li, have 
been appointed as directors by the Board and in 
compliance with the Corporations Act, they must go 
up for election by members at the 2009 AGM.

The detail of each Director’s tenure and prior 
corporate experience is provided on page 23. The 
attendance of Board meetings and Committee 
meetings is detailed on page 26. The Board has 
accepted the criteria to assess independence of 
Directors provided by the ASX.
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Reporting on ASX Principle 2:
A copy of the Remuneration & Nominations 
Committee Charter is available in the corporate 
governance section of Fortescue’s website. The 
Company’s constitution is also available on the 
website and the process for appointment and 
election of directors is discussed. This process is 
consistent with the Corporations Act whereby one 
third of directors must retire and put themselves 
forward for re-election every year. As the table above 
displays, this process has resulted In Messrs Elliott 
and Ambrecht being nominated for re-election at the 
forthcoming AGM. Mr Li and Mr Cumming are also 
up for election as they have recently been appointed 
as directors by the board and these appointments 
need to be put to a vote by shareholders.   

Principle 3: Ethical 
and Responsible 
Decision Making 

ASX Principle 3 states that a company should 
“actively promote ethical and responsible decision 
making”. Fortescue complies with this principle 
and associated recommendations in the following 
manner:

Recommendation 3.1: Establish a code 
of conduct and disclose the code or a 
summary of the code as to;

 ● the practices necessary to maintain the 
confidence in the Company’s integrity;

 ● the practices necessary to take into 
account the legal obligations and the 
reasonable expectations of stakeholders;

Director Appointed Executive/ 
Non-Executive Independent Retiring and seeking 

re-election in 2009

Herb Elliott 2003 Non-Executive Yes Yes

Andrew Forrest (CEO) 2003 Executive No No

Graeme Rowley 2003 Executive No No

Russell Scrimshaw 2003 Executive No No

Ken Ambrecht 2003 Non-Executive Yes Yes

Geoff Brayshaw 2008 Non-Executive Yes No

Owen Hegarty 2008 Non-Executive Yes No

Ian Burston 2008 Non-Executive Yes No

Li Xiaowei 2009 Non-Executive No Yes

Ian Cumming 2009 Non-Executive No Yes

 ● the responsibility and accountability 
of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical 
practices.

Fortescue has established a Directors’ Code of 
Conduct together with a more general Employee 
Code of Conduct which describes the standards of 
ethical behaviour that directors and key executives 
are required to maintain. The Directors’ Code details 
a range of issues relating to director’s responsibilities 
including those required under Corporations Law. 
The code also provides a concise summary of 
the general principles and duties expected of 
the Company’s directors with commentary on 
issues relating to professional integrity, conflicts of 
interest and general duties owed to the Company, 
stakeholders and creditors. 

The broader Employee Code of Conduct provides 
a guide to adherence of appropriate practices 
so as to maintain confidence in the Company’s 
integrity. The document sets out the responsibilities 
and accountability of individuals for reporting or 
investigating reports of unethical practices.  

Recommendation 3.2: Establish a policy 
concerning trading in company securities by 
directors, senior executives and employees 
and disclose the policy or a summary of that 
policy.
The board has established a Securities Trading 
Policy which outlines the policy for directors and 
employees when trading in shares of the Company. 
Under the policy certain individuals are identified as 
designated persons and they are subject to explicit 
non-trading periods which are set around reporting 
periods. All other employees are subject to the normal 

ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS
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insider trading restrictions with the policy containing a 
recommendation of the preferred trading periods.

The policy sets out a brief summary of the law on 
insider trading and other relevant laws and sets out 
the restrictions on dealing in securities by people 
who work for, or are associated with, Fortescue.

Recommendation 3.3: Provide the 
information indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 3.
Fortescue complies with the best practice 
recommendations of Principle 3. A copy of the Directors’ 
Code of Conduct, Employee Code of Conduct and 
Securities Trading Policy is available in the corporate 
governance section of Fortescue’s website.

Principle 4: Financial 
Reporting Integrity 
ASX Principle 4 states that “Companies should 
have a structure to independently verify and 
safeguard the integrity of their financial reporting”. 
Fortescue complies with this principle and associated 
recommendations in the following manner:

Recommendation 4.1: The Board should 
establish an audit committee.
Fortescue has established an Audit & Risk 
Management Committee. The structure of the Audit 
& Risk Management Committee is outlined under 
Recommendation 4.3. 

Recommendation 4.2: The audit committee 
should be structured so that it:

 ● has at least three members and only 
consists of non-executive directors 
of which a majority are independent 
directors; and

 ● has an independent chairperson, who is 
not chairperson of the board.

The Audit & Risk Management Committee is 
comprised of four non-executive directors of whom 
all are considered independent. The Chairman of 
the committee is Mr Geoff Brayshaw who is not the 
Chairman of the Board and who holds the relevant 
technical expertise as a previous audit partner of a 
major accounting firm. 

Recommendation 4.3: The audit committee 
should adopt a formal charter.
The Board has approved an Audit & Risk 
Management Committee Charter that is available on 
Fortescue’s website. 

Recommendation 4.4: Provide the 
information indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 4.

The experience of the Audit & Risk Management 
Committee members being Mr Brayshaw (Chairman), 
Mr Elliott, Mr Ambrecht and Dr Burston can be found 
from page 23. Detail on the number of meetings held 
and attended by members over the financial year 
ended 30 June 2009 can be found on page 26. The 
Audit & Risk Management Committee also oversees 
the external auditor relationship including the terms 
of engagement of Fortescue’s external auditor.
 

Principle 5: Timely 
and Balanced 
Disclosure 
ASX Principle 5 states that a company should 
“promote timely and balanced disclosure of all 
material matters concerning the Company”. 
Fortescue complies with this principle and associated 
recommendations in the following manner:

Recommendation 5.1: Establish written 
policies and procedures designed to 
ensure compliance with ASX Listing Rule 
disclosure requirements and to ensure 
accountability at a senior management level 
for that compliance.
Fortescue has a Continuous Disclosure Policy, a 
copy of which is available on Fortescue’s website. 
The policy provides a broad overview of the reporting 
requirements including the statutory environment 
within which the Company operates. It identifies 
requirements at law under section 674 of the 
Corporations Act and under ASX Listing Rule 3.1 
including: 

 ● issues and tests for materiality; 

 ● the type of information that needs to be disclosed; 

 ● the process for bringing such information to the 
attention of the Company and its nominated 
reporting officer; 

 ● the role of the chief executive officer as ultimate 
decision maker for Fortescue’s continuous 
disclosure obligations; and 

 ● the role of the board to review all disclosures 
made during the time since the previous meeting. 

With regard to general disclosures at media briefings 
or public presentations only the chairman, the chief 
executive officer or their delegated persons are 
authorised to issue public comments on behalf of the 
Company or provide journalists and members of the 
investment community with information.

Recommendation 5.2: Disclose the Terms of 
the Continuous Disclosure Policy.
A copy of the Continuous Disclosure Policy is 
available in the corporate governance section of 
Fortescue’s website.
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Principle 6: 
Shareholder Rights 
ASX Principle 6 states that a company should 
“respect the rights of shareholders and facilitate 
the effective exercise of those rights”. Fortescue 
complies with this principle and associated 
recommendations, other than Recommendation 6.1, 
in the following manner:

Recommendation 6.1: Design and disclose 
a communication strategy to promote 
effective communication with shareholders 
and encourage effective participation at 
general meetings.
The Company’s communication strategy is to 
encourage a two way communication channel with 
shareholders. The Company produces various 
newsletters and production reports that are available 
either through the ASX platform or through the 
Company’s website. The company has an email 
alert system whereby interested parties can elect 
to receive copies of ASX lodgements through our 
investor centre attached to the website. Further, 
various senior executives of the Company make 
regular presentations at industry forums and 
conferences and make themselves available for 
questions at these events. 

The underlying shareholder communications policy is 
based on the objective that:

 ● Fortescue communicates effectively with 
its shareholders and will give shareholders 
ready access to balanced and understandable 
information about Fortescue and its corporate 
proposals; and

 ● Fortescue recognises the importance of 
shareholder participation in general meetings and 
supports and encourages that participation.

Recommendation 6.2: Reporting on ASX 
Principle 6:
The Company does not have an explicit 
communications policy, however, it does have a 
dedicated team of four people who are located 
across the various operating areas; two at head 
office in Perth, one at the production site at 
Cloudbreak and the other at Port Hedland. These 
people work closely with Fortescue’s community 
team which is based in Port Hedland and deal with 
the various community and stakeholder issues that 
arise within Fortescue’s operations.

Principle 7: 
Recognise and 
Manage Risk 
ASX Principle 7 states that a company should 
“establish a sound system of risk oversight and 
management and internal control”. Fortescue 
complies with this principle and associated 
recommendations in the following manner:

Recommendation 7.1: The Board or 
appropriate Board committee should 
establish policies on risk oversight and 
management.
The development of Fortescue’s risk management 
systems and policies has been work in progress 
for the past two years. This period has tracked 
the company’s transformation from project 
implementation to the current position of fully fledged 
producer. As advised last year some early work 
was done in developing a risk management system 
that covered the port, rail and mine construction 
and operations programs. This work was done in 
compliance with the Australian/New Zealand risk 
management standard AS/NZS4360:2004 and 
was based on a first phase high level review of the 
business. A register of identified risks and ratings 
thereof was completed and plans established in 
mitigation of the material business risks. 

The second phase development program was 
initiated in 2008/09 with the appointment of the 
specialist risk services group MYR Consulting 
who have completed a comprehensive bottom-up 
divisional review of the Company’s risk management 
structure and reporting systems. The work has been 
titled the Good Decisions Program as it seeks to 
formalise the way the company identifies, assesses, 
controls and reports both risk and opportunities 
throughout the business for improved governance 
and management and greater business resilience.

After extensive executive interviews and team 
workshops, the first stage of the program has been 
completed with the development of a company wide, 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) framework 
where the top 20 material risks have been identified 
and the control environments analysed. The program 
will systematically extend down to lower level risk 
analysis and its implementation timeframe is by its 
very nature, long term over the next few years.

ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS
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The work conducted by MYR Consulting and 
management has been supported by the risk team 
from KPMG who were awarded the mandate for 
internal audit services to Fortescue. This included a 
peer review of the work done by MYR which involved 
independent testing of the assumptions and validation 
of the control measures.   

Recommendation 7.2: The Board should 
require management to design and 
implement the risk management and internal 
control system to manage the company’s 
material business risks and report to it 
on whether those risk are being managed 
effectively.
Through the Audit & Risk Management Committee, 
Management has advised as to the establishment 
and development of Fortescue’s risk management 
systems. A report following the completion of the first 
stage Good Decisions Program has been delivered 
to committee and in turn has been reported up to 
the Board. A review of management’s work has 
been conducted by KPMG with a report provided 
to the committee as an independent assessment of 
the extent and effectiveness of the work conducted.  
In turn, the Audit & Risk Management Committee 
has reported to the Board that it is satisfied with 
the conclusions of the independent review and that 
areas of further focus and work have been identified 
and are being actioned. As previously indicated, 
the ongoing development of the ERM program will 
continue over this current year as the Company 
applies the requisite resources to ensure the 
appropriate management of this area. 

Recommendation 7.3: The Board should 
disclose that it has received assurances 
from the Chief Executive Officer and 
the Chief Financial Officer as to the 
Corporations Act compliance status and 
the operational effectiveness, of the risk 
management and internal controls system.
The Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer have provided a letter to the Board of 
Directors stating that the Company’s financial reports 
were based on the existence of a sound system of 
risk oversight and management and internal control.

Recommendation 7.4: Provide the 
information indicated in Guide to reporting 
on Principle 7
Fortescue has developed a risk management policy 
document that sets out the process for capturing and 
reporting on the key material business risks across 
the entire operation. This document will remain a 
work in progress as the Company intends to actively 
manage its risk management process. The recent 
appointment of a Head of Risk Management together 
with the appointment of KPMG as the Company’s 
independent internal auditor, are both measures 
designed to heighten the focus on effective risk 
management.

Reporting on ASX Principle 7:
A summary of the Company’s policy document and 
the philosophy behind the development of its risk 
management procedures is available on Fortescue’s 
website. 

Michael Stream leading a Heritage 
Creek Bed meeting.
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Principle 8: 
Remunerate Fairly 
and Responsibly
ASX Principle 8 states that a company should 
“ensure that the level and composition of 
remuneration is sufficient and reasonable and its 
relationship to corporate and individual performance 
is defined”. Fortescue complies with this principle 
and associated recommendations, other than 
Recommendation 8.2, in the following manner:

Recommendation 8.1: The Board should 
establish a remuneration committee.

The Company has a Remuneration & Nomination 
Committee and its charter is available on the 
website.

The Company complies with the recommendation 
that the committee consists of at least three people, 
it consists of a majority of independent directors and 
the chairman, Mr Herb Elliott, is an independent 
director. The other members of the committee 
during the 2009 financial year were Mr Steinberg, 
Mr Ambrecht, Mr Hegarty and the CEO Mr Forrest. 
Upon the retirement of Mr Steinberg in August 2009, 
Mr Cumming has been appointed to the committee.

The Company’s objective as stated in the charter 
is to ensure that all senior executives including the 
CEO and executive directors have their remuneration 
packages reviewed on a regular basis. These 
reviews aim to ensure the balance between base pay, 
incentive schemes and superannuation plans are 
appropriate to Fortescue’s circumstances and goals. 

Recommendation 8.2: Companies should 
clearly distinguish the structure of non-
executive director’s remuneration from 
that of executive directors and senior 
executives.

The Company has developed a remuneration structure 
for its executive directors and senior executives that 
is based partly on fixed remuneration and partly 
on incentive based payments. A summary of this 
payment structure for the 2009 year is provided 
within the remuneration section of the annual report.

The payment structure for non-executive directors 
is also reviewed within the remuneration section of 
the annual report. Fees paid to directors do not have 
any performance element to them. There are no 
retirement benefits for directors and other than the 

required superannuation contribution, there are no 
other payments beyond the fixed salary component.

During 2009, all Fortescue employees including 
non-executive directors, were able to participate 
in a salary/fee sacrifice arrangement whereby a 
percentage of a person’s base payment amount 
could be diverted to on market share acquisitions by 
an independent trustee. However, given changes to 
tax treatment of this arrangement, the scheme was 
suspended as from July 2009.    

Reporting on ASX Principle 8:
A copy of the Remuneration & Nominations 
Committee Charter is available in the corporate 
governance section of Fortescue’s website.

www.fmgl.com.au

ASX BEST PRACTICE RECOMMENDATIONS
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FINANCIAL 
REPORT
30 June 2009
 

Fortescue Metals Group Ltd 
ABN: 57 002 594 872

Registered Office and Principal Place of Business:
Level 2, 87 Adelaide Terrace
East Perth, Western Australia 6004

The new Wirtgen 4200 surface 
miner in action at Cloudbreak.  
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This financial report covers both Fortescue Metals Group Ltd as an individual entity (the Company) and the 
consolidated entity consisting of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd and its subsidiaries (Fortescue). The financial 
report is presented in United States (US) currency.

Fortescue Metals Group Ltd is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office and principal place of business is:

Level 2, 87 Adelaide Terrace
EAST PERTH, WESTERN AUSTRALIA 6004

A description of the nature of Fortescue’s operations and its principal activities is included in the Directors’ 
Report on page 23 to 47, which does not form part of this financial report.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the Directors on 10 August 2009. The Company has the power 
to amend and reissue the financial report.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely, complete, and available 
globally at minimum cost to the Company. All press releases, financial reports and other information are 
available on the Company’s website at www.fmgl.com.au.
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Your Directors present their report on the consolidated entity (Fortescue), consisting of Fortescue Metals Group 
Ltd (the Company) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June 2009.

Directors
The Directors of the Company in office during the financial year and until the date of this report are as follows.

Non-Executive
Mr Herb Elliott – Chairman 
Mr Ken Ambrecht
Mr Joseph Steinberg 
Mr Geoff Brayshaw 
Mr Owen Hegarty – appointed 13 October 2008
Dr Ian Burston – appointed 13 October 2008
Mr Li Xiaowei – appointed 12 June 2009

Directors were in office for the entire period unless otherwise stated.

Names, qualifications, independence status, experience, special 
responsibilities and other directorships: 

Mr Herb Elliott AC, MBE  
Chairman - Age 71
Mr Elliott was elected a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company in October 2003, Deputy Chairman 
in May 2005 and Chairman on 16 March 2007. Mr Elliott is a member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee and Chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Mr Elliott was Chairman of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee until 5 July 2007. Mr Elliott is also Chairman of Telstra Foundation Limited and has 
been a Director of Ansell Limited and Pacific Dunlop Ltd. He is also Chairman of the private corporate health 
company Global Corporate Challenge. Previous executive roles include President of PUMA North America. 
Mr Elliott is the former inaugural Chairman of the National Australia Day Committee and was a Commissioner on 
the Australian Broadcasting Commission. Mr Elliott is a Doctor of the Queensland University of Technology.

Mr Andrew Forrest 
Chief Executive Officer – Age 47
Mr Forrest is the founder and Chief Executive Officer of Fortescue and has been CEO of the Company since 
July 2003. He was also Interim Chairman from July 2003 until May 2005 and is a member of the Company’s 
Remuneration Committee. Mr Forrest is Non-Executive Chairman of Poseidon Nickel Ltd and the Australian 
Children’s Trust. He is an adjunct professor of the China Southern University and a long standing fellow of the 
Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. His previous roles include Chief Executive Officer and Deputy 
Chairman of Anaconda Nickel Limited (now Minara Resources Ltd), Chairman of the Murrin Murrin Joint 
Venture, Non-Executive Chairman of Moly Mines Ltd, Non-Executive Chairman of Arafura Pearls Ltd, 
Non-Executive Chairman of Siberia Mining Corporation Limited, Director of the West Australian Chamber of 
Minerals and Energy and President of Athletics Australia. Mr Forrest has extensive experience in the mining 
sector and has won multiple global finance awards.

Executive
Mr Andrew Forrest
Mr Graeme Rowley
Mr Russell Scrimshaw

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Mr Graeme Rowley AM
Executive Director – Age 69
Mr Rowley has been an Executive Director of the Company since October 2003. Previously he was an executive 
with Rio Tinto plc, holding senior positions in Hamersley Iron and Argyle Diamonds. Mr Rowley’s previous 
directorships have included the Dampier Port Authority, the Pilbara Development Commission, the Council for 
the West Pilbara College of TAFE and the Western Australian State Government’s Technical Advisory Council. 
Mr Rowley has extensive experience in operational management of both iron ore ship loading facilities and 
heavy haul railway within the unique Pilbara environment.

Mr Russell Scrimshaw
Executive Director – Age 60
Mr Scrimshaw was a Non-Executive Director of the Company from October 2003 to June 2005, at which time 
he became Executive Director, Commercial. Mr Scrimshaw was a board member of Commonwealth Properties 
Ltd, EDS Australia, Mobilesoft Ltd, Telecom New Zealand Australia Pty Ltd, the Garvan Institute Foundation and 
Athletics Australia. He is also an Associate Member of the Australian Society of Certified Practicing Accountants. 
Mr Scrimshaw previously held senior executive positions within the Commonwealth Bank of Australia, Optus, 
Alcatel, IBM and Amdahl USA.

Mr Ken Ambrecht 
Non-Executive Director – Age 63
Mr Ambrecht is a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company and is a member of the Audit and Risk 
Management Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr Ambrecht is the Principal of KCA Associates 
LLC., an investment banking and advisory firm. He is a Non-Executive Director of American Financial 
Corporation Inc and Dominion Petroleum Ltd. Mr Ambrecht was previously a Managing Director at First Albany 
Capital and the Royal Bank of Canada following a 25 year career at Lehman Brothers in New York as Managing 
Director in the capital markets division.

Mr Joseph Steinberg
Non-Executive Director – Age 65
Mr Steinberg was appointed a Non-Executive Independent Director of the Company in August 2006 and he sits 
on the Remuneration Committee. Mr Steinberg has been President since January 1979 and a Director since 
December 1978 of Leucadia National Corporation Inc. (Leucadia) of the United States of America. Mr Steinberg 
was invited onto the Fortescue Board to represent Leucadia following its investment in Fortescue in August 
2006. Mr Steinberg is also President and Director of The FINOVA Group, Inc., Jordan Industries, Inc. and 
Chairman of HomeFed Corporation. He is a Trustee of New York University and serves on several non-profit 
boards. Mr Steinberg served as a director of White Mountains Insurance Group, Ltd. from June 2001 through 
to June 2005. Mr Steinberg received an AB in government in 1966 from New York University and an MBA from 
Harvard Business School in 1970. He served in the United States Peace Corps from 1966 to 1968.

Mr Geoff Brayshaw AM
Non-Executive Director – Age 59
Mr Brayshaw was appointed a Non-Executive Director of the Company on 1 July 2007 and was appointed 
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee on 5 July 2007. Mr Brayshaw was formerly an audit 
partner with a large international accounting firm and retired in June 2005. He has held a number of positions 
in commerce and professional bodies including National President of the Institute of Chartered Accountants 
in 2002, Independent Director and Audit Committee Chairman of Fortron Insurance Group Limited, Board 
member of the Small Business Development Corporation and was formerly the Chairman of a Trustee Company 
related to an Aboriginal Corporation. Mr Brayshaw is also a Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the Audit 
Committee of Poseidon Nickel Limited.
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Mr Owen Hegarty
Non-Executive Director – Age 61
Mr Hegarty was appointed a Non-Executive Director on 13 October 2008. He has nearly 40 years experience 
in the mining industry in Australia and internationally. Mr Hegarty had 25 years with the Rio Tinto Group where 
he was Managing Director of Rio Tinto Asia and Managing Director of the Group’s Australian copper and gold 
business. He was the founding Managing Director from 1995 through to the merger in 2008 of the Oxiana 
Ltd Group, which grew from a small exploration company to a multi-billion dollar Australian and Asia focused 
base and precious metals producer, developer and explorer. Oxiana Ltd Group became Oz Minerals Ltd. Mr 
Hegarty is also a Non-Executive Director of Range River Gold Limited and Executive Chairman of Hong Kong 
listed G-Resources Ltd. He is a fellow of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM) and was 
awarded the 2005 AusIMM Institute Medal for his leadership and achievements in the mining industry. He was 
elected a Director of the AusIMM in October and took up the position in January 2009. 

Dr Ian Burston AM 
Non-Executive Director – Age 74
Dr Burston was appointed a Non-Executive Director on 13 October 2008. Dr Burston has more than 30 years of 
top-level experience in Western Australian and international mining. Most recently he was Executive Chairman 
of Cape Lambert Iron Ore between May 2007 and August 2008 and previously served as Non-Executive 
Chairman of Cape Lambert from July 2006 to May 2007. Dr Burston has been Non-Executive Chairman of 
Imdex Ltd since November 2000 and Chairman and Director of NRW Holdings Ltd since July 2007. He has been 
a Non-Executive Director of Mincor Resources since January 2003 and served as Executive Chairman and 
Chief Executive Officer of Aztec Resources Ltd between June 2003 and February 2006. He is also a Director of 
Kanzai Mining Corp. Formerly, Dr Burston held positions as Managing Director of Hamersley Iron Pty Limited, 
Aurora Gold Ltd and Portman Limited and Chief Executive Officer of Kalgoorlie Consolidated Mines Pty Ltd. 
Previously he worked for the CRA Group (now part of Rio Tinto) where he worked for 22 years in various senior 
executive positions.

Dr Burston was awarded the Order of Australia (General Division) in 1993 and was elected Western Australian 
Citizen of the Year in 1992.

Mr Li Xiaowei
Non-Executive Director – Age 57
Mr Li joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director on 12 June 2009 following Fortescue’s Subscription 
Agreement with Hunan Valin Iron and Steel Group Co Ltd (Hunan Valin) on 25 February 2009. Chairman 
of Hunan Valin since 1999, Mr Li is also Vice President of China Iron & Steel Association. A graduate of 
Zhongnan University of Economics and Law, specialising in Business Enterprise Management, Mr Li also holds 
an M.A. from the Graduate School of the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. He has previously served as 
Vice Chairman of Lianyuan Iron and Steel Co Ltd, Deputy General Manager of Hunan Provincial Metallurgy 
Enterprises Group and General Manager of Valin Iron & Steel group.
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Directors’ Meetings
The numbers of meetings of the Company’s Board of Directors and of each Board committee held during the 
financial year ended 30 June 2009, and the numbers of meetings attended by each Director were:

Director

Board Meetings
Committee Meetings

Audit Remuneration

A B A B A B

Mr Herb Elliott 19 19 5 5 3 3

Mr Andrew Forrest 18 19 * * 3 3

Mr Graeme Rowley 19 19 * * * *
Mr Russell Scrimshaw 18 19 * * * *
Mr Ken Ambrecht 19 19 5 5 3 3

Mr Joseph Steinberg 18 19 * * 3 3

Mr Geoff Brayshaw 19 19 5 5 * *
Mr Owen Hegarty 11 14 * * 1 1

Dr Ian Burston 11 14 2 3 * *
Mr Li Xiaowei 1 1 * * * *

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Number of meetings held during the time the Director held office or was a member of the committee 
       during the year

* =  Not a member of the relevant committee

The Remuneration Committee also acts as the Nomination Committee.

In addition to the scheduled Board and Committee meetings a number of matters were resolved by circulating 
Board Resolutions.

Director
Number of Circulating 
Resolutions Eligible

Number of Circulating 
Resolutions Executed

Mr Herb Elliott 3 3

Mr Andrew Forrest 3 3

Mr Graeme Rowley 3 3

Mr Russell Scrimshaw 3 3

Mr Ken Ambrecht 3 3

Mr Joseph Steinberg 3 3

Mr Geoff Brayshaw 3 3

Mr Owen Hegarty 3 3

Dr Ian Burston 3 3

Mr Li Xiaowei - -

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Company Secretaries’ Particulars 
The following people held the position of Company Secretary at the end of the financial year.

Mr Rod Campbell 
Age 49
Mr Campbell was appointed Company Secretary of the Company in November 2004. Prior to that time Mr 
Campbell was State Manager Western Australia for RaboBank Australia Ltd and before that was a Senior 
Manager with State Bank NSW Ltd. Mr Campbell holds a Bachelor of Agricultural Economics from the University 
of New England and a Diploma from the Securities Institute of Australia.  
 

Mr Christopher Catlow
Age 48
Mr Catlow was previously Chief Financial Officer of the Company from September 2003 to January 2009 and 
has been Company Secretary since November 2003. Mr Catlow has extensive experience in the resources 
sector, having previously been a Director of Consolidated Rutile Ltd and Sierra Rutile Ltd. He was also 
Executive General Manager Finance of Iluka Resources Limited and Chief Financial Officer of Energy Equity 
Corporation Limited and Gold Fields Australia Pty Ltd. Mr Catlow is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants in Australia.

Principal Activities
The principal activity of Fortescue during the course of the financial year was the operation of an integrated 
logistics chain starting with the mining of iron ore from Fortescue’s Cloudbreak mine site, the railing of product 
along Fortescue’s heavy haul rail line through to the loading of ships at Fortescue’s port facility at Port Hedland.

More recently Fortescue’s second mine at Christmas Creek has commenced operations with product being 
trucked to the Cloudbreak ore processing facility for inclusion in the product blend. Fortescue also maintains an 
aggressive exploration and metallurgical program which is progressively developing tenement areas outside of 
the current mining sites.

No significant changes in the nature of the activities of Fortescue occurred during the year.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS
The ramp up of operations continued during the year with the total amount of ore shipped being 27.3 million 
tonnes (Mt) which was derived from a total volume of ore mined of 31.0Mt. 

There were a number of operating milestones achieved during the year with over 1,100 train journeys from the 
Cloudbreak mine site to the Herb Elliott port site at Port Hedland with a current round trip cycle time now under 
19 hours. Other highlights included a ship loading rate of 100,349 tonnes being achieved within a 12 hour shift 
period and a production rate through the ore processing facility at Cloudbreak of 129,008 tonnes achieved within 
a 24 hour period.

On a financial side, Fortescue completed a share placement of 260 million shares for total consideration of 
US$452 million (A$645 million) to Hunan Valin Iron & Steel Company in April 2009. 
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OPERATIONS
The consolidated results from operations are as follows. 

2009 
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Net profit/(loss) after income tax 508,042 (771,770)

Total assets 4,408,917 3,126,563

Net assets/(deficit) 850,692 (63,158)

CORPORATE
On 1 January 2009 Fortescue elected to adopt US dollars (USD) as the functional currency of the Company and 
all of its subsidiaries. The functional currency of an entity is the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates, which should reflect the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to the Company. Fortescue’s transition from an exploration to a production company has 
resulted in generating significant cash inflows from iron ore sales. These inflows are denominated in US dollars, 
which combined with Fortescue’s significant USD Senior Secured Notes and Subordinated Loan Note, indicate 
that a significant proportion of cash inflows and cash outflows going forward will be denominated in USD.

The consolidated financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2009, including comparative information 
(Represented), has been presented in US dollars.

DIVIDENDS
No dividends have been paid or declared by the Company to members since the end of the previous financial 
year and the Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend in respect of the current financial year.

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATIONS
Fortescue’s exploration and mining activities are governed by a range of environmental legislation and 
regulations. During this financial year, activities at all Fortescue sites have increased. Monitoring is conducted 
at these sites to ensure that activities continue to operate in accordance with the environmental regulations. Our 
performance has been within the requirements of our environmental licences.

Fortescue’s operations have been inspected by the Department of Minerals and Petroleum (DMP), Department 
of Environment and Conservation (DEC), Department of Water and the Commonwealth Department of the 
Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts (DEWHA) a combined total of six times during the financial year. 
Fortescue was able to demonstrate a high level of compliance with licence and ministerial conditions across all 
inspections.

Greenhouse gas and energy date reporting requirements
Fortescue is subject to the public reporting requirements of the Energy Efficient Opportunities Act 2006 and 
the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 and the National Environmental Protection (National 
Pollutant Inventory) Measure. These requirements relate to the financial year and will be reported later in 2009.

The Energy Efficiency Opportunities Act 2006 requires Fortescue to assess its energy usage, including 
the identification, investigation and evaluation of energy saving opportunities, and to report publicly on the 
assessments undertaken. As required under this Act, Fortescue has registered with the Commonwealth 
Department of Resources, Energy and Tourism and will report to them by the end of 2009.  

The National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 requires Fortescue to report its annual greenhouse 
gas emissions and energy use. The first measurement period for this Act ran from 1 July 2008 to 30 June 2009. 

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Fortescue has implemented systems and processes for the collection and calculation of the data and will be able 
to prepare and submit its initial report to the Greenhouse and Energy Data Officer by the required deadline of 31 
October 2009.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, Fortescue has adequate systems in place to ensure compliance with 
the requirements of the environmental legislation described above and is not aware of any breach of those 
requirements during the financial year and up to the date of the Directors’ Report.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS
Significant changes in the state of affairs of Fortescue during the financial year as part of the development and 
operation of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek iron ore mines in the Pilbara were an increase in contributed 
equity of $483,085,000 (from $746,791,000 to $1,229,876,000) and an increase in cash assets of $521,760,000 
(from $133,182,000 to $654,942,000). Net cash received from the increase in contributed equity coupled with 
the utilisation of available cash reserves was used primarily for the continuing development of the Pilbara Iron 
Ore and Infrastructure Project. 

The increase in contributed equity is explained in the Statements of Changes in Equity. The increase in net cash 
is explained in the Cash Flow Statements.

Other significant changes in the state of affairs of Fortescue are described below:

 ● Fortescue’s second mine, Christmas Creek, commenced development during the second half of this   
financial year with ore mining beginning in May 2009;

 ● On 5 December 2008 Fortescue exercised suspension of all its 10 long term CFR shipping contracts  
of Affreightment and Consecutive Voyage Contracts. Subsequent to this Fortescue negotiated settlement 
agreements with Bocimar International NV (Bocimar) (4 February 2009) and Classic Maritime (Classic) (27 
May 2009) leaving only five disputed contracts remaining. The Bocimar and Classic contracts were the five 
largest disputed contracts;

 ● On 19 December 2008 Fortescue also terminated one of its time charter contracts. This disputed contract 
negotiation is ongoing;

 ● On 25 February 2009 Fortescue signed its Share Subscription Agreement with Hunan Valin Iron and Steel 
Group Company (Hunan Valin) to enable Hunan Valin to proceed with its acquisition of 260 million new 
Fortescue shares issued at a subscription price of A$2.48 (US$1.74) per share to raise A$645 million 
(US$452 million) in new equity capital. Subsequent to Australian and Chinese government approvals this 
issue was effected in the fourth quarter of this financial year.

EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO REPORTING DATE
On 29 July 2009 Fortescue announced a 1.23 billion tonne Inferred Resource Estimate for its Glacier Valley 
tenement area. Glacier Valley is held by Fortescue but is subject to a joint venture (JV) arrangement with an 
Australian subsidiary of China’s Baosteel Group Corporation (Baosteel). The exploration expenditure associated 
with the resource definition enables Baosteel to move to a 35% interest in the JV. Upon expenditure of an 
additional agreed amount to cover feasibility studies Baosteel can move to a 50% interest.

The tenement is approximately 100 kilometres south of Fortescue’s Herb Elliott port facility at Port Hedland and 
approximately 25 kilometres to the east of the Fortescue rail line.

No other significant events requiring disclosure have occurred since 30 June 2009.

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
In the opinion of the Directors it may prejudice the interests of the Company to provide additional information 
(except as reported in this Directors’ Report), in relation to likely developments and business strategies of the 
operations of Fortescue and the expected results of those operations in subsequent financial years.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The relevant interest of each Director in the shares and options issued by the Company, as notified by the 
Directors to the Australian Securities Exchange in accordance with S205G(1) of the Corporations Act 2001, at 
the date of this report is as follows:

Director Ordinary Shares

Mr Herb Elliott 2,167,938

Mr Andrew Forrest 972,828,300

Mr Graeme Rowley 19,235,690

Mr Russell Scrimshaw 8,000,000

Mr Ken Ambrecht 6,313,130

Mr Joseph Steinberg 277,986,000

Mr Geoff Brayshaw 33,149

Mr Owen Hegarty -

Dr Ian Burston -

Mr Li Xiaowei -

In February 2009, 600,000 incentive options were issued to Mr Russell Scrimshaw. This issue was approved 
at a general meeting of the Company on 23 June 2009. The terms and conditions of these options are set out 
below. No other Directors held options during the year.

SHARE OPTIONS
Options granted to Directors and Officers of the Company
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company granted options for no consideration over unissued 
ordinary shares in the Company to the following Directors and to the following key management personnel and 
other executives of the Company as part of their remuneration:

Name Number of options 
granted Exercise price Expiry date

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

R Scrimshaw 600,000 A$2.50 11 February 2014

Key management personnel

Mr M Minosora 600,000 A$2.50 11 February 2014

Mr P Hallam 600,000 A$2.50 11 February 2014

Other executives

Mr P Huston 600,000 A$2.50 11 February 2014

2,400,000

 
All options were granted during the financial year. No options have been granted since the end of the financial year.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Unissued Shares Under Options
The number of options on issue in the Company at the date of this report is as follows. All of these options are 
unlisted and over the ordinary shares of the Company.

Date Options Granted Expiry Date Issue Price of Shares Number under Option

1 June 2005 31 December 2009 A$0.27 2,221,380

25 January 2006 25 January 2011 A$0.57 1,987,000

1 June 2006 1 June 2011 A$0.70 2,968,750 

11 February 2009 11 February 2014 A$2.50 2,400,000

All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or termination of the employee’s employment. These options 
were issued pursuant to the Fortescue Metals Group’s Incentive Option Scheme and have been allotted to 
individuals on condition that they serve specified time periods as an employee of Fortescue before becoming 
entitled to exercise the options. These options do not entitle the holder to participate in any share issue of the 
Company or any other body corporate.

Shares Issued on Exercise of Options
During or since the end of the financial year, the Company issued ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of 
options as follows (there were no amounts unpaid on the shares issued):

Date Options Granted Number Vested Number of Shares 
Issued Issue Price of Shares

1 June 2005 8,309,130 4,744,500 A$0.27

25 January 2006 2,010,938 694,250 A$0.57

1 June 2006 2,998,110 1,029,530 A$0.70

11 February 2009 - - A$2.50

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE
Since the end of the previous financial year, the Company has paid premiums to insure the Directors and 
Officers of Fortescue.

The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that may 
be brought against the Officers in their capacity as Officers of Fortescue, and any other payments arising from 
liabilities incurred by the Officers in connection with such proceedings, other than where such liabilities arise out 
of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the Officers or the improper use by the Officers of their position 
or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to cause detriment to Fortescue. It is 
not possible to apportion the premium between amounts relating to the insurance against legal costs and those 
relating to other liabilities. Conditions of the policy also preclude disclosure to third parties of the amount paid for 
the policy. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT

Remuneration Report (Audited)
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

A  -  Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
B  -  Details of remuneration
C  -  Service agreements
D  -  Share based remuneration
E  -  Additional information

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

A - PRINCIPLES USED TO DETERMINE THE NATURE AND AMOUNT OF 
REMUNERATION 

Key Management Personnel have the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the 
activities of Fortescue and other executives. Key Management Personnel and the five most highly remunerated 
executive officers for the Company and Fortescue, in accordance with S300A of the Corporations Act 2001, are 
defined on pages 36 and 37.

Fortescue’s remuneration strategy is designed to build a performance oriented culture and attract, retain and 
motivate its employees, encouraging them to meet their full potential. In line with this strategy, Fortescue 
provides market competitive fixed remuneration and incentives.

The objective of Fortescue’s remuneration strategy is to ensure that reward for performance is competitive 
and appropriate for the results delivered. The strategy seeks to align employee and executive reward with the 
achievement of strategic objectives and results that contribute to the creation of value for shareholders. 

The remuneration strategy is based on the following principles:

 ● High levels of employee share ownership will drive an alignment of employee and shareholder interests;

 ● Remuneration and reward will be competitive and reasonable within the sector that Fortescue operates;

 ● Performance linkage and alignment of executive remuneration to performance of Fortescue and the    
individual executive; and

 ● Transparency in terms of disclosure and compliance with relevant legislative requirements.

Fortescue has structured a remuneration framework that is market competitive and complementary to the 
reward strategy of the organisation.

The Board has established a Remuneration Committee. The Remuneration Committee operates in accordance 
with its charter as approved by the Board. The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr Herb Elliott and 
is comprised in the majority by Independent Non-Executive Directors. During the year the Remuneration 
Committee met three (3) times. 

The role of the Remuneration Committee is to provide assistance and recommendations to the Board in fulfilling 
its Corporate Governance responsibilities related to the following:

 ● Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Executive Director remuneration;

 ● Senior executive remuneration;

 ● Short term and long term incentive plans;

 ● Matters relating to Fortescue’s recruitment, retention and termination policies;

 ● CEO succession planning; and

 ● Nomination and review of applicants for a Board Director position.
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The Committee may engage independent external consultants and advisors to provide any necessary 
information to assist in the discharge of its responsibilities. 

The remuneration structure that has been adopted by Fortescue consists of the following components:

 ● Fixed Remuneration (FR) being annual salary; 

 ● Salary Sacrifice Share Plan (SSSP); and

 ● Incentive Schemes (FMGIOS)

Fixed Remuneration
Fixed Remuneration (FR) consists of base remuneration (which is calculated on a total cost basis), as well as 
employer contributions to superannuation funds. Fixed Remuneration is reviewed against relevant comparator 
companies listed within the ASX, in addition to considering the individual contribution and competence levels. 

Salary Sacrifice Share Plan
Further to Fortescue’s aim of encouraging employee share ownership, all Fortescue employees have an 
opportunity to participate in the Salary Sacrifice Share Plan (SSSP). Employees nominate the amount of pre-tax 
salary that they wish to salary sacrifice per annum (up to 50 per cent).

In the federal budget on 12 May 2009, the government announced with immediate effect the removal of 
the ability to defer tax on shares acquired under employee share schemes. Since the announcement on 12 
May 2009, a number of changes to the Government’s Budget proposal have been announced, however the 
Government’s final position on the income tax treatment of salary sacrifice share plans remains uncertain. Due 
to the uncertainty, Fortescue has decided to suspend the SSSP until final legislation is enacted.

Incentive Schemes
Fortescue’s current incentive based remuneration structure is focused on short to medium term incentives and is 
designed to reward employees and executives for meeting or exceeding their objectives. 

For an incentive to be awarded, Fortescue must have achieved its business targets and key performance 
indicators (KPIs). At the end of the performance period the CEO makes recommendations to the Board for 
incentive awards for his direct reports based on the achievement of targets. For all other employees a one up 
manager approval applies with final CEO approval prior to the finalisation and payment of any award.

All employees and executives have the option to take incentives in cash or superannuation. Non-Executive 
Directors do not participate in any incentive schemes established by the Company. 

As occurred in 2008, the KPIs established for the 2009 Incentive Plan were not met and in consequence no 
payments were triggered under the Company’s formal incentive plan established prior to the 2009 financial year. 
However, the results achieved in the fourth quarter of the 2009 financial year were nevertheless outstanding. To 
acknowledge those achievements in particular and more generally, the contribution of employees in Fortescue’s 
record breaking progression from project to producer, the Board approved an ex gratia payment of 10% of base 
salary (or 15% if applied to share purchase) for all employees on permanent contracts. 

The conditions for the payment include that Eligible staff must have been in the Company’s employ on 30 
June 2009 and that they must have served a full 12 month’s employment. For those who had not satisfied 
that condition as at 30 June, their entitlement to the payment will become due upon completion of 12 month’s 
employment. The 5 per cent extra payment incentive for receiving shares issued by the company (for an 
equivalent after tax value), is designed to encourage share ownership amongst employees. These issued 
shares are subject to a 12 month share escrow provision to encourage long term ownership.
 



FORTESCU
E M

ETALS GROU
P ANNUAL REPORT 2009     

34

34

Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Options Scheme (FMGIOS)
A component of Fortescue’s remuneration packaging is the provision of options pursuant to the FMGIOS which 
was recently refreshed by approval at a general meeting in June 2009. During the 2009 financial year 2,400,000 
options were issued to certain senior executives. 

The FMGIOS is considered a long term incentive and retention mechanism as it contains vesting conditions 
whereby the options become exercisable progressively over a 4 year period. The change in share price is the 
key performance criteria for the FMGIOS as the realised value arising from options issued under the FMGIOS 
is dependent upon an increase in the share price to above the exercise price of the options. The options issued 
in 2009 are subject to a share price condition whereby they only become exercisable if the shares trade at or 
above A$6.00 for 5 consecutive days noting that the volume weighted average market price at the time of the 
options grant was A$2.50.

A table of unissued shares under option, including expiry date and number of options yet to be exercised, is 
included in the Directors’ Report on page 31. Available options expire between 31 December 2009 and 11 February 
2014.

Remuneration structure
The Remuneration Committee considers that the above remuneration structure is generating the desired 
outcomes, evidenced by:

 ● High retention of overall employees, key management personnel and other executives; and

 ● Fortescue’s record breaking progression from project to producer. 

Consequences of performance on shareholders wealth
In considering Fortescue’s performance and benefits for shareholder wealth, the Board have regard to the 
following indices in respect of the current financial year and the previous four financial years.

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 

Revenue from iron ore 
operations – US$’000

1,830,953 139,294 - - -

Net profit/(loss) – US$’000 508,042 (771,770) (31,860) (1,487) (579)

Dividends paid - - - - -

$ Change in share price (A$8.11) A$8.52* A$2.43* A$0.66* A$0.24*

% Change in share price (68%) 252% 256% 275% 480%

* = Movements have been adjusted to provide reasonable comparative amounts in light of Fortescue’s 
reorganisation of capital in December 2007, whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully paid 
ordinary shares. 

Non-Executive Directors
Total remuneration for all Non-Executive Directors, last voted upon by shareholders at the 2007 AGM, is not to 
exceed A$750,000 per annum and is set based on advice from external advisors with reference to the fees paid 
to other Non-Executive Directors of comparable companies. Non-Executive Directors’ base fees are presently 
up to A$80,000 per annum.

REMUNERATION REPORT
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The Chairman’s base fee is A$162,000 per annum. The Chairman also receives an additional A$10,000 
per annum being fees in recognition of his membership of the Audit Committee and position as Chairman of 
the Remuneration Committee. Non-Executive Directors do not receive performance related remuneration. 
Directors’ fees cover all main Board activities. Non-Executive Directors who sit on a Board Committee receive 
an additional A$4,000 per annum per committee and the chair of a committee, other than the Audit Committee, 
receives A$6,000 per annum. The Chairman of the Audit Committee receives an additional A$15,000 per 
annum.

Non-Executive Directors do not receive share options. Non-Executive Directors may elect each year to receive 
a percentage of their remuneration in the Company’s shares under the Non-Executive Director Share Plan 
(NEDSP), which would be acquired on market. Several Non-Executive Directors participated in the arrangement 
during 2009.

Executive Directors
Executive Director fees are disclosed in part B of the Remuneration Report.

B - DETAILS OF REMUNERATION 

Amount of remuneration
The key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) of the Company and 
Fortescue who have authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity 
includes the Directors and the following executive officers as set out below:

Directors
Herb Elliott
Andrew Forrest
Graeme Rowley
Russell Scrimshaw
Ken Ambrecht
Joseph Steinberg
Geoff Brayshaw 
Owen Hegarty – appointed 13 October 2008
Ian Burston – appointed 13 October 2008
Li Xiaowei – appointed 12 June 2009

Executive Officers
Paul Hallam – Chief Operating Officer – appointed 17 November 2008
Michael Minosora – Chief Financial Officer – appointed 19 January 2009
Alan Watling – former Chief Operating Officer – resigned 9 January 2009
Gordon Cowe – Director of Projects – appointed 1 July 2008 and resigned 30 June 2009
Chris Catlow – former Chief Financial Officer, now Director, Investment and Business Development

The five named Company executives and relevant Fortescue executives who received the highest remuneration 
are set out below: 

Alan Watling – former Chief Operating Officer – resigned 9 January 2009
John Blanning – former Head of Mining – resigned 14 January 2009 
Graeme Rowley – Executive Director Operations 
Russell Scrimshaw – Executive Director Commercial
Chris Catlow – former Chief Financial Officer, now Director, Investment and Business Development
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Directors’ and Executive Officers’ Remuneration (Company and 
Consolidated) 
Details of the nature and amount of each major element of remuneration of each Director, other Key 
Management Personnel and other executives of the Company and Fortescue are:

Name

Short-term
Post-

employment

Other 
long 
term
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 U
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%

Salary & 
fees 
US$

Cash 
bonus
US$*

Non-
monetary 
benefits

US$

Total
US$

Super-
annuation 
benefits

US$

Long 
service 
leave
US$

Options 
(a)
US$

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Non-executive

Mr H Elliott
2009 54,713 - - 54,713 65,655 - - - 120,368 - -

2008 113,601 - - 113,601 5,560 - - - 119,161 - -

Mr K Ambrecht
2009 58,841 - - 58,841 - - - - 58,841 - -

2008 58,195 - - 58,195 - - - - 58,195 - -

Mr J Steinberg
2009 - - - - - - - - - - -

2008 - - - - - - - - - - -

Mr G Brayshaw
2009 60,496 - - 60,496 6,050 - - - 66,546 - -

2008 59,833 - - 59,833 5,983 - - - 65,816 - -

Mr O Hegarty 
- appointed 13 
October 2008

2009 38,706 - - 38,706 3,870 - - - 42,576 - -

Dr I Burston - 
appointed 13 
October 2008

2009 42,576 - - 42,576 - - - - 42,576 - -

Mr L Xiaowei - 
appointed 12 
June 2008

2009 - - - - - - - - - - -

Executive 

Mr A Forrest
2009 70,048 11,334 86,387 167,769 8,138 - - - 175,907 6% -

2008 69,280 - 61,415 130,695 6,928 - - - 137,623 - -

Mr G Rowley
2009 486,935 55,106 1,610 543,651 75,459 - - - 619,110 9% -

2008 327,505 - - 327,505 32,750 - - - 360,255 - -

Mr R Scrimshaw
2009 506,258 55,106 - 561,364 56,136 - - 65,977 683,477 18% 10%

2008 327,505 - - 327,505 32,750 - - - 360,255 - -
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Name

Short-term
Post-
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Other 
long 
term
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$ Share-
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$
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m

un
er

at
io

n 
pe

rf
or

m
an

ce
 re

la
te

d 
%

Va
lu

e 
of

 o
pt

io
ns

 a
s 

pr
op

or
tio

n 
of

 re
m
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Salary & 
fees 
US$

Cash 
bonus
US$*

Non-
monetary 
benefits

US$

Total
US$

Super-
annuation 
benefits

US$

Long 
service 
leave
US$

Options 
(a)
US$

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Other key management personnel
Mr P Hallam, 
Chief Operating 
Officer  – 
appointed 17 
November 2008

2009 218,325 65,723 14,960 299,008 79,455 - - 65,977 444,440 30% 15%

Mr M Minosora, 
Chief Financial 
Officer – 
appointed 19 
January 2009

2009 206,534 46,961 - 253,495 25,349 - - 65,977 344,821 33% 19%

Mr C Catlow, 
Director, 
Investment 
and Business 
Development

2009 413,922 66,177 1,610 481,709 48,010 - - 80,626 610,345 24% 13%

2008 264,524 - - 264,524 26,452 - - 79,742 370,718 22% 22%

Mr G Cowe, 
Director of 
Projects  – 
appointed 1 July 
2008, resigned 30 
June 2009

2009 438,381 - - 438,381 12,546 - - - 450,927 - -

2008 - - - - - - - - - - -

Mr A Watling, 
Chief Operating 
Officer – resigned 
9 January 2009

2009 252,033 3,018 258,010 513,061 36,630 - 60,705 - 610,396 - -

2008 449,778 - - 449,778 21,615 - - 34,576 505,969 7% 7%

Other executives 
Mr  J Blanning, 
Head of Mining 
– resigned 14 
January 2009

2009 184,504 1,812 42,421 228,737 18,631 - 288,048 103,973 639,389 17% 16%

2008 330,655 - - 330,655 33,065 - - 102,971 466,691 22% 22%

Mr W Ramsey, 
Head of 
Expansion 
Projects

2008 327,505 - - 327,505 32,750 - - 79,742 439,997 18% 18%

TOTAL: 
directors 
and other 
management 
personnel 
(consolidated 
and company)

2009 3,032,272 305,237 404,998 3,742,507 435,929 - 348,753 382,530 4,909,719

2008 2,328,381 - 61,415 2,389,796 197,853 - - 297,031 2,884,680

* = Bonuses recognised during the 2009 financial year were accrued as at 30 June 2009, therefore no bonuses 
were paid during the 2009 financial year. The bonus was issued in recognition of dramatically improved 
performance during the last quarter across all operations of Fortescue.

All key management personnel and other executives are employed by the parent entity.
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REMUNERATION REPORT
Notes in relation to the table of Directors, other Key Management Personnel 
and other executive’s remuneration
(a)  The fair value of the options is calculated at the date of grant using the Binomial model and allocated to 
each reporting period evenly over the period from grant date to vesting date. Under the terms of the FMGIOS 
the options will progressively vest over a four (4) year period, with 25% vested on each anniversary. The value 
disclosed is the portion of the fair value of the options allocated to the relevant reporting period. In valuing the 
options, expected market conditions have been taken into account (refer to Section D below).

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date:

Grant Date Expiry Date
Fair 

value per 
option*

Exercise 
price*

Price of 
shares on 
grant date*

Expected 
volatility1

Risk free
interest 

rate

Dividend 
yield

1 Jun 2005 31 Dec 2009 A$0.20 A$0.27 A$0.27 26.40% 5.75% -

25 Jan 2006 25 Jan 2011 A$0.46 A$0.57 A$0.62 26.80% 5.13% -

1 Jun 2006 1 Jun 2011 A$0.58 A$0.70 A$0.77 26.80% 5.75% -

11 Feb 2009 11 Feb 2014 A$1.61 A$2.50 A$2.42 25.50% 6.50% -

1  = Expected volatility is calculated using the AGSM risk measurement for the period

* = Adjusted in line with the reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Groups Ltd effected on 19 December  
     2007. Each option was split into ten options.

The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance and those that are fixed are as follows:

Name
Fixed remuneration At risk - STI At risk - LTI

2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd
Mr H Elliott 100% 100% - - - -

Mr A Forrest 94% 100% 6% - - -

Mr G Rowley 91% 100% 9% - - -

Mr R Scrimshaw 82% 100% 8% - 10% -

Mr K Ambrecht 100% 100% - - - -

Mr J Steinberg - - - - - -

Mr G Brayshaw 100% 100% - - - -

Mr O Hegarty 100% - - - - -

Dr I Burston 100% - - - - -

Mr L Xiaowei - - - - - -

Other key management personnel
Mr P Hallam 70% - 15% - 15% -

Mr M Minosora 67% - 14% - 19% -

Mr C Catlow 76% 78% 11% - 13% 22%

Mr A Watling 100% 93% - - - 7%

Mr G Cowe 100% - - - - -

Other executives
Mr J Blanning 83% 78% 1% - 16% 22%

Mr W Ramsey - 82% - - - 18%
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C - SERVICE AGREEMENTS
Remuneration and other terms of employment for the Executive Directors, other Key Management Personnel 
and other executives are formalised in a service agreement. The major provisions of the agreements relating to 
remuneration are set out below.

Mr Andrew Forrest, Chief Executive Officer
 ● Term of agreement – Unspecified.

 ● Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2009 of A$110,000 to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

 ● Three month termination clause.

Mr Graeme Rowley, Executive Director Public Policy
 ● Term of agreement – Unspecified.

 ● Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2009 of A$795,000 to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

 ● Three month termination clause.

Mr Russell Scrimshaw, Executive Director Commercial
 ● Term of agreement – Unspecified.

 ● Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2009 of A$795,000 to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

 ● One month termination clause. 

Mr Paul Hallam, Chief Operating Officer
 ● Term of agreement – Unspecified.

 ● Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2009 of A$700,000, to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

 ● Three month termination clause.

Mr Michael Minosora, Chief Financial Officer
 ● Term of agreement – Unspecified.

 ● Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2009 of A$700,000 to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

 ● Three month termination clause.

Mr Christopher Catlow, Director, Investment and Business Development
 ● Term of agreement – Unspecified.

 ● Base salary, inclusive of superannuation, for the year ended 30 June 2009 of A$650,000, to be reviewed 
annually by the Remuneration Committee.

 ● Three month termination clause 

Details of performance related remuneration
Details of Fortescue’s policy in relation to the proportion of remuneration that is performance related is discussed 
on page 33. The relative proportions of remuneration that are linked to performance are disclosed on page 38.

Bonuses are approved by the Board of Directors as reward for Fortescue achieving its business targets and KPIs.
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D - SHARE-BASED REMUNERATION
All options refer to options over ordinary shares of the Company, which are exercisable on a one-for-one basis 
under the FMGIOS. 

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration of each Director, Key Management 
Personnel and other executives in the previous, current or future reporting periods are set out on page 30.

Options granted under the plan carry no dividend or voting rights. When exercisable, each option is convertible 
into one ordinary share.

Options over equity instruments granted as remuneration
Details of options over ordinary shares in the Company that were granted as remuneration to each Director, 
Key Management Personnel and other executives of the Company and Fortescue are set out below. When 
exercisable, each option is convertible into one ordinary share of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd. Further 
information on options is set out in note 38 to the financial statements.

Name 

Number of options granted  
during the year

Number of options vested  
during the year

2009 2008* 2009 2008*

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Mr H Elliott - - - -

Mr K Ambrecht - - - -

Mr J Steinberg - - - -

Mr G Brayshaw - - - -

Mr A Forrest - - - -

Mr G Rowley - - - -

Mr R Scrimshaw 600,000 - - -

Mr O Hegarty - - - -

Dr I Burston - - - -

Mr L Xiaowei - - - -

Other key management personnel

Mr P Hallam 600,000 - - -

Mr M Minosora 600,000 - - -

Mr C Catlow - - 250,000 250,000

Mr G Cowe - - - -

Mr A Watling - - - 500,000

Other executives

Mr J Blanning - - 250,000 250,000

Mr W Ramsey - - - 250,000
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*  = The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The 
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully 
paid ordinary shares. To maintain the value of options issued by Fortescue, Fortescue’s options were also 
reorganised through an option split whereby each option was split into ten options. The numbers of options vested 
and the number of options granted during the year in 2008 have been adjusted to account for this option split.

The options were provided at no cost to the recipients. All options expire on the earlier of their expiry date or 
termination of the individual’s employment. The options are exercisable on an annual basis four years from grant date.

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to individuals is allocated equally over the period from 
grant date to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above. Fair values at grant 
date are independently determined using the Binomial option pricing model that takes into account the exercise 
price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of 
the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk-free interest rate for the term of the option. 

During the financial year the Company issued 2,400,000 employee options. Under the terms of the FMGIOS 
the options will progressively vest over a four (4) year period, with 25% vested on each anniversary. In addition, 
Directors have imposed a further requirement that the exercise of options is conditional upon Fortescue shares 
trading above AU$6 for a set period. The price target was over double the price of shares on grant date. The 
options have been issued at an exercise price of AU $2.50, which is in accordance with the FMGIOS whereby 
the price must be at or greater than the volume weighted average price for the five days prior to the offer date, 
which was 11 February 2009.

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date (in 
Australian dollars):

Grant date Expiry date Fair value 
per option

Exercise 
price

Price of 
shares 

on grant 
date

Expected 
volatility

Risk free 
interest 

rate

Dividend 
yield

11 Feb 2009 11 Feb 2014 A$1.61 A$2.50 A$2.42 25.50% 1 6.5% -

1 = Expected volatility is calculated using the AGSM risk measurement for the period

Modification of terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions
No terms of equity-settled share-based payment transactions (including options granted as remuneration to a 
key management person) have been altered or modified by the Company during the financial year ended 30 
June 2009.
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Exercise of options granted as remuneration
Details of ordinary shares in the Company provided as a result of the exercise of options to each Director 
of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, other key management personnel and other executives of Fortescue are set 
out below.

Name

Date of exercise 
of options

Number of ordinary shares
 issued on exercise of options 

during the year Amount Paid per 
Share A$

2009 2008*

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Mr H Elliott - - - -

Mr K Ambrecht - - - -

Mr J Steinberg - - - -

Mr G Brayshaw - - - -

Mr A Forrest - - - -

Mr G Rowley - - - -

Mr R Scrimshaw - - - -

Mr O Hegarty - - - -

Dr I Burston - - - -

Mr L Xiaowei - - - -

Other key management personnel

Mr P Hallam - - - -

Mr M Minosora - - - -

Mr C Catlow - - - -

Mr A Watling 30/11/07 - 1,000,000 0.27

Mr A Watling 18/07/08 500,000 - 0.27

Mr G Cowe - - - -

Other executives

Mr J Blanning 24/01/08 - 250,000 0.82

Mr J Blanning 07/10/08 150,000 - 0.82

Mr J Blanning 31/01/09 100,000 - 0.82

Mr W Ramsey 01/02/08 - 250,000 0.57

*  = The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The 
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully paid 
ordinary shares. To maintain the value of options issued Fortescue’s options were also reorganised through an 
option split whereby each option was split into ten options. The numbers of shares issued on exercise of options 
during the year in 2008 have been adjusted to account for this option split.
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E - ADDITIONAL INFORMATION 
Details of remuneration - 2009 cash bonuses and options
For each cash bonus and grant of options included in the tables on pages 36 and 37, the percentage of the 
available bonus or grant that was paid, or that vested, in the financial year, and the percentage that was forfeited 
because the person did not meet the service and performance criteria is set out below. The bonuses recognised 
in the 2009 financial year are payable in 2010. The options were issued pursuant to the FMGIOS and may be 
exercised 25% after one year, 50% after two years, 75% after three years and in full after four years from grant 
date. No options will vest if conditions are not satisfied, hence the minimum value of the option yet to vest is nil. 
The maximum value of the options that is yet to vest has been determined as the amount of the grant date fair 
value of the options that is yet to be expensed.

 Name

Cash Bonus * Options

Paid 
%

Forefeited 
%

Year 
Granted

Vested 
%

Forefeited 
%

Financial 
years in 
which 

options 
may vest

Minimum 
total 

value of 
grant yet 
to vest

US$

Maximum 
total value 

of grant 
yet to vest

US$

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Mr H Elliott - - - - - - - -

Mr K Ambrecht - - - - - - - -

Mr J Steinberg - - - - - - - -

Mr G Brayshaw - - - - - - - -

Mr A Forrest 6% - - - - - - -

Mr G Rowley 9% - - - - - - -

Mr R Scrimshaw 8% - 2009 - - 30/06/2013 - 578,882

Mr O Hegarty - - - - - - - -

Dr I Burston - - - - - - - -

Mr L Xiaowei - - - - - - - -

Other key management personnel

Mr P Hallam 15% - 2009 - - 30/06/2013 - 578,882

Mr M Minosora 14% - 2009 - - 30/06/2013 - 578,882

Mr C Catlow 11% - 2006 75% - 30/06/2010 - 45,442

Mr A Watling - - 2005 50% 50% 30/06/2009 - -

Mr G Cowe - - - - - - - -

Other executives

Mr J Blanning - - 2007 50% 50% 30/06/2010 - -

Mr W Ramsey - - 2006 100% - 30/06/2010 - -

*  = Bonuses recognised during the 2009 financial year were accrued as at 30 June 2009, therefore no bonuses 
were paid during the 2009 financial year.
Further details relating to option transactions during the 2009 financial year are set out below.
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A B C D

Name

Remuneration 
consisting of 

options
%

Value at grant 
date
US$

Value at exercise 
date
US$

Value at lapse 
date
US$

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

Mr H Elliott - - - -

Mr K Ambrecht - - - -

Mr J Steinberg - - - -

Mr G Brayshaw - - - -

Mr A Forrest - - - -

Mr G Rowley - - - -

Mr R Scrimshaw 10% 644,859 - -

Mr O Hegarty - - - -

Dr I Burston - - - -

Mr L Xiaowei - - - -

Other key management personnel

Mr P Hallam 15% 644,859 - -

Mr M Minosora 19% 644,859 - -

Mr C Catlow 13% - - -

Mr A Watling - - 2,720,279 -

Mr G Cowe - - - -

Other executives

Mr J Blanning 16% - 266,487 -

Mr W Ramsey - - - -

A =  The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value of options 
expensed  during the current year.

B =  The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB 2 Share-based Payment of options 
granted during the year as part of remuneration.

C =  The value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised 
during the year, being the intrinsic value of the options at that date.

D =  The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the 
year. Lapsed options refer to options that vested but expired unexercised.
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Securities Policy 
Fortescue’s security trading policy provides guidance on acceptable transactions in dealing in the Company’s 
various securities, including shares, debt notes and options. Fortescue’s security trading policy defines dealing 
in company securities to include:

(a)  Subscribing for, purchasing or selling Company Securities or entering into an agreement to do any of those 
things;

(b)   Advising, procuring or encouraging another person (including a family member, friend, associate, colleague, 
family company or family trust) to trade in Company Securities; and

(c)  Entering into agreements or transactions which operate to limit the economic risk of a person’s holdings in 
Company Securities.

The securities trading policy details acceptable and unacceptable times for trading in Company Securities 
including detailing potential civil and criminal penalties for misuse of inside information. The Directors must not 
deal in Company Securities without providing written notification to the Chairman. The Chairman must not deal 
in Company Securities without the prior approval of the Chief Executive Officer. The Directors are responsible 
for disclosure to the market of all transactions or contracts involving the Company’s shares.

This is the end of the audited Remuneration Report. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT
NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where 
the auditor’s expertise and experience with Fortescue is important.

Details of the amounts paid or payable to the auditor BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd for audit 
and non-audit services provided during the year are set out below. 

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the Audit 
Committee, is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The Directors are satisfied that the 
provision of non-audit services by the auditor, as set out below, did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons:

 ● all non-audit services have been reviewed by the Audit Committee to ensure they do not impact the 
impartiality and objectivity of the auditor; and 

 ● none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in APES 
110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the Company, its 
related practices and non-related audit firms.

Amounts received or due and receivable by auditors for:

Consolidated

2009
US$

2008
US$ 

Represented

Audit Services:

BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd

- Audit and review of financial reports 251,035 156,318

- Other assurance services 25,210 -

Services other than statutory audit:

BDO Consultants (WA) Pty Ltd

- Financial due diligence 9,590 32,966

BDO Risk Advisory Services (QLD) Pty Ltd

- Risk advisory services - 14,298

Total Remuneration 285,835 203,582
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION

The auditor’s independence declaration under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out on page 48.

Rounding off
Fortescue is of the kind referred to in ASIC Class Order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and 
Investments Commission, relating to the rounding off of amounts. Amounts in the financial report and Directors’ 
Report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain 
cases, to the nearest dollar.

Auditor
BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with section 327 of the 
Corporations Act 2001.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors.

Herb Elliott
Chairman

Dated at Perth this 10th day of August 2009.
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE 
DECLARATION
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Note

Consolidated Company

2009 
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

Revenue 9 1,830,953 139,294 39,747 22,707

Cost of sales 10 (1,350,696) (90,868) (54,660) (16,900)

Gross profit 480,257 48,426 (14,913) 5,807

Interest revenue 9,884 45,910 4,143 13,152

Other income 11 26,717 - 1,037 -

Fair value adjustment to 
Subordinated Loan Note

28 1,124,411 (1,070,182) - -

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 
on borrowings

12 (568,342) 224,893 (8,427) -

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 
– other

13 114,598 (30,091) 1,507 3,852

Other financial expenses 14 (490,945) (301,953) (12,279) (2,254)

Administration expenses 15 (34,620) (20,409) (34,620) (20,409)

Profit/(loss) before income tax 661,960 (1,103,406) (63,552) 148

Income tax benefit/(expense) 16 (153,918) 331,636 19,404 564

Profit/(loss) attributable to 
members of the Company

508,042 (771,770) (44,148) 712

Earnings/(loss) per share: 

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 
(cents)

17 17.77 (47.63)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share 
(cents)

17 17.70 (47.63)

        
The above income statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

INCOME STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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BALANCE SHEETS

Note

Consolidated Company

2009 
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 18 654,942 133,182 452,263 197
Trade and other receivables 19 183,188 109,976 512,443 618,096
Inventories 20 121,122 35,844 - -
Financial assets 21 31 26 31 26
Other current assets 22 1,498 1,147 1,498 1,147
Total Current Assets 960,781 280,175 966,235 619,466

Non-current assets
Trade and other receivables 19 13,512 1,694 127 1,694
Exploration and evaluation 
expenditure

23 11,889 2,790 - -

Development expenditure 24 1,423,222 1,046,219 - -
Property, plant and equipment 25 1,641,919 1,289,892 4,066 5,017
Intangible assets 26 25,144 22,673 25,144 22,673
Deferred tax assets 27 332,449 483,119 296,131 91,774
Other financial assets 21 1 1 1 1
Total Non-Current Assets 3,448,136 2,846,388 325,469 121,159

Total assets 4,408,917 3,126,563 1,291,704 740,625

Current liabilities
Borrowings 28 319,823 264,065 10,224 -
Provisions 29 55,582 15,688 - -
Trade and other payables 30 339,085 113,899 14,623 6,320
Derivatives held at fair value 31 31,397 10,504 - -
Total Current Liabilities 745,887 404,156 24,847 6,320

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 28 2,250,482 2,572,570 104,585 -
Trade and other payables 30 349,602 80,629 - -
Deferred tax liabilities 27 212,254 132,366 426 1,899
Total Non-Current Liabilities 2,812,338 2,785,565 105,011 1,899

Total liabilities 3,558,225 3,189,721 129,858 8,219

Net assets / (deficit) 850,692 (63,158) 1,161,846 732,406

Equity
Contributed equity 32 1,229,876 746,791 1,229,876 746,791
Reserves 33 (74,622) 2,655 (6,842) 2,655
Accumulated losses (304,562) (812,604) (61,188) (17,040)

Total equity / (deficiency in 
equity)

34 850,692 (63,158) 1,161,846 732,406

The above balance sheets should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

As at 30 June 2009
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CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

Note

Consolidated Company

2009 
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash receipts from customers 1,852,369 113,734 48,786 13,668
Interest received 9,884 43,905 4,143 13,152
Payments to suppliers and 
employees

(1,198,145) (123,709) (69,426) (28,825)

Interest paid (190,760) (167,351) - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
operating activities

35 473,348 (133,421) (16,497) (2,005)

Cash flows from investing activities
Exploration and evaluation 
expenditure

(11,317) (7,828) - -

Development expenditure (406,122) (536,734) - -
Payments for purchase of 
infrastructure assets

(544,630) (805,430) - -

Payments for purchase of other 
plant and equipment

(68) (364) (68) (364)

Payments for purchase of 
intangible assets

(2,786) (19,008) (2,786) (19,008)

Transfers to subsidiaries - - (142,676) (355,731)
Proceeds from disposal of plant 
and equipment

223,180 123,026 - -

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
investing activities

(741,743) (1,246,338) (145,530)  (375,103)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from the issue of 
share capital

453,433 351,067 453,433 351,067

Proceeds from borrowings 96,992 - 96,992 -
Payment of transaction costs - (7,080) - (7,080)
Repayment of borrowings (57,221) - - -
Deposits received 209,806 50,666 - -
Repayment of deposits (2,400) - - -
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from 
financing activities

700,610 394,653 550,425  343,987

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents

432,215 (985,106) 388,398 (33,121)

Cash and cash equivalents at 
1 July

133,182 1,165,429 197 33,318

Effect of exchange rate changes 
on cash and cash equivalents

89,545  (47,141) 63,668 - 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
30 June

18 654,942 133,182 452,263 197

The above cash flow statements should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

For the year ended 30 June 2009
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Note

Contributed 
equity

US$’000
Represented

Accumulated 
losses

US$’000 
Represented

Reserves
US$’000 

Represented

Total Equity 
US$’000 

Represented

Consolidated
Previous opening balance at 1 July 2007 397,669 (142,169) 2,699 258,199

Correction of error 8 - 101,335 - 101,335

Restated opening balance at 1 July 2007 397,669 (40,834) 2,699 359,534

Net loss for the period - (1,577,580) - (1,577,580)

Correction of error 8 - 971,480 - 971,480

Effect of change in accounting policy 7(j) - (165,670) - (165,670)

Total recognised income and expense for the year - (771,770) - (771,770)

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

Issue of share capital 32 350,547 - - 350,547

Exercise of options 32/33 3,116 - (1,219) 1,897

Forfeited options 33 - - (163) (163)

Share issue costs 32 (4,541) - - (4,541)

Equity settled share based payment transactions 33 - - 1,338 1,338

349,122 - (44) 349,078

Restated closing balance at 30 June 2008 746,791 (812,604) 2,655 (63,158)

Note

Contributed 
equity

US$’000

Accumulated 
losses

US$’000

Reserves
US$’000

Total Equity 
US$’000

Consolidated
Restated opening balance at 1 July 2008 746,791 (812,604) 2,655 (63,158)

Net loss for the period - 508,042 - 508,042

Foreign currency translation 33 - - (77,202) (77,202)

Total recognised income and expense for the year - 508,042 (77,202) 430,840

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

Issue of share capital 32 481,560 - - 481,560

Exercise of options 32/33 2,818 - (1,474) 1,344

Forfeited options 33 - - (41) (41)

Share issue costs 32 (1,293) - - (1,293)

Equity settled share based payment transactions 33 - - 1,440 1,440

483,085 - (75) 483,010

Closing balance at 30 June 2009 1,229,876 (304,562) (74,622) 850,692
 
Amounts are stated net of tax.
The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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Note

Contributed 
equity

US$’000
Represented

Accumulated 
losses

US$’000 
Represented

Reserves
US$’000 

Represented

Total Equity 
US$’000 

Represented

Company
Opening balance at 1 July 2007 397,669 (17,752) 2,699 382,616

Net loss for the period - (8,495) - (8,495)

Effect of change in accounting policy 7(j) - 9,207 - 9,207

Total recognised income and expense for the year - 712 - 712

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

Issue of share capital 32 350,547 - - 350,547

Exercise of options 32/33 3,116 - (1,219) 1,897

Forfeited options 33 - - (163) (163)

Share issue costs 32 (4,541) - - (4,541)

Equity settled share based payment transactions 33 - - 1,338 1,338

349,122 - (44) 349,078

Closing balance at 30 June 2008 746,791 (17,040) 2,655 (732,406)

Note

Contributed 
equity

US$’000

Accumulated 
losses

US$’000

Reserves
US$’000

Total Equity 
US$’000

Company
Opening balance at 1 July 2008 746,791 (17,040) 2,655 732,406

Net loss for the period - 44,148 - (44,148)

Foreign currency translation 33 - - (9,422) (9,422)

Total recognised income and expense for the year - 44,148 (9,422) (53,570)

Transactions with equity holders in their capacity as equity holders:

Issue of share capital 32 481,560 - - 481,560

Share issue costs 32 (1,293) - - (1,293)

Exercise of options 32/33 2,818 - (1,474) 1,344

Forfeited options 33 - - (41) (41)

Equity settled share based payment transactions 33 - - 1,440 1,440

483,085 - (75) 483,010

Closing balance at 30 June 2009 1,229,876 (61,188) (6,842) 1,161,846
 
Amounts are stated net of tax.
The above statements of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES 
IN EQUITY
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Note 1. Reporting entity
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd (the Company) is a company domiciled in Australia. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is Level 2, 87 Adelaide Terrace East Perth WA 6004. The consolidated financial statements of 
the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2009 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as Fortescue). Fortescue’s principal activity is the development and operation of the Cloudbreak and 
Christmas Creek iron ore mines in the Pilbara in Western Australia.

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below. These 
policies have been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless otherwise stated. 

Note 2. Basis of preparation
(A) STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, Australian Accounting 
Interpretations and the Corporations Act 2001. The financial report of Fortescue Metals Group Limited also 
complies with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB). Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s 
presentation.

On 1 January 2009 Fortescue elected to adopt US dollars (USD) as the functional currency of the Company and 
all of its subsidiaries. The functional currency of an entity is the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates, which should reflect the economic substance of the underlying events and 
circumstances relevant to the Company. Fortescue’s transition from an exploration to a production company has 
resulted in generating significant cash inflows from iron ore sales. These inflows are denominated in US dollars, 
which combined with Fortescue’s significant USD Senior Secured Notes and Subordinated Loan Note, indicate 
that a significant proportion of cash inflows and cash outflows going forward will be denominated in USD.

The consolidated financial report for the financial year ended 30 June 2009, including comparative information, 
has been presented in US dollars.

During the 2008 financial year Fortescue decided to change its accounting policy on accounting for borrowing 
costs (note 7(j)) and expense all borrowing costs incurred. The change in accounting policy was applied 
retrospectively and comparatives restated.

(B) BASIS OF MEASUREMENT
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following:

 ● derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value;

 ● financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value; and

 ● available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value.

(C) FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY
Transactions in foreign currencies have been converted at rates of exchange ruling on the date of those 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 

For the year ended 30 June 2009
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the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the income statement. Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are 
reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

Items included in the financial statements of each of Fortescue’s entities are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The parent and 
consolidated financial statements are presented in United States (US) dollars, which is Fortescue Metals Group 
Limited’s functional and presentation currency.

Note 3. Critical accounting estimates  
and significant judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgements and 
estimates that affect how certain assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses and equity are reported. At each reporting 
period, management evaluates its judgements and estimates based on historical experience and on other 
various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of the 
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 

Fortescue has identified the following critical accounting policies under which significant judgements and 
estimates are made. Further details of the nature of these assumptions and conditions may be found in the 
relevant notes to the financial statements. 

Reserve estimates
Reserves are estimates of the amount of product that can be economically and legally extracted from 
Fortescue’s current mining tenements. In order to calculate Reserves, estimates and assumptions are required 
about a range of geological, technical and economic factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, 
recovery rates, production costs, transports costs, commodity demand, commodity prices and exchange rates. 
Estimating the quantity and/or grade of Reserves requires the size, shape and depth of ore bodies or fields to 
be determined by analysing geological data such as drilling samples. This process may require complex and 
difficult geological judgements and calculations to interpret the data. 

In the Chichester Range project sites, Fortescue has estimated a Reserve of 1.625 billion tonnes (Bt) from a 
resource of 2.2Bt, which includes 141.4 million tonnes (Mt) of proved and 1,483.6Mt of probable Reserves, 
as classified under Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves December 2004 
(JORC Code). The JORC Code requires the use of reasonable investment assumptions to calculate Reserves. 

Because the economic assumptions used to estimate Reserves change from period to period, and because 
additional geological data is generated during the course of operations, estimates of Reserves may change from 
period to period. Changes in reported Reserves may affect Fortescue’s financial results and financial position in 
a number of ways, including the following:

 ● Asset carrying values may be affected due to changes in estimated future cash flows;

 ● Depreciation and amortisation charges in the income statement may change where such charges are 
determined by the units of production basis, or where the useful economic lives of assets change; and

 ● The carrying value of deferred tax assets may change due to changes in estimates of the likely recovery of 
tax benefits. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 3. Critical accounting estimates and significant judgements (continued)
Exploration and evaluation expenditure
Fortescue’s accounting policy for exploration and evaluation expenditure results in expenditure being capitalised 
for an area of interest where it is considered likely to be recoverable by future exploitation or sale or where the 
activities have not reached a stage which permits a reasonable assessment of the existence of Reserves. This 
policy requires management to make certain estimates as to future events and circumstances, in particular 
whether an economically viable extraction operation can be established. Any such estimates and assumptions 
may change as new information becomes available. If, after having capitalised the expenditure under the policy, 
a judgement is made that recovery of the expenditure is unlikely, the relevant capitalised amount will be written 
off to the income statement. 

Development expenditure
Development activities commence after commercial viability and technical feasibility of the project is established. 
Judgement is applied by management in determining when a project is commercially viable and technically 
feasible. Any judgements may change as new information becomes available. If, after having commenced the 
development activity, a judgement is made that a development asset is impaired, the appropriate amount will be 
written off to the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment – recoverable amount
In accordance with Fortescue’s accounting policy, each asset or cash generating unit is evaluated every 
reporting period to determine whether there are any indications of impairment. If any such indication exists, 
a formal estimate of recoverable amount is performed and an impairment loss recognised to the extent that 
carrying amount exceeds recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating group of 
assets is measured at the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

The determination of fair value and value in use requires management to make estimates about expected 
production and sales volumes, commodity prices, Reserves (see Reserve estimates above), operating costs, 
rehabilitation costs and future capital expenditure. Changes in circumstances will alter these projections, which 
may impact the recoverable amount of the assets. In such circumstances, some or all of the carrying value of 
the assets may be impaired and the impairment would be charged against the income statement.

Rehabilitation
Fortescue’s accounting policy for the recognition of rehabilitation provisions requires significant estimates 
including the magnitude of possible works required for removal or treatment of waste materials and the extent 
of work required and the associated costs of rehabilitation work. These uncertainties may result in future actual 
expenditure differing from the amounts currently provided. 

The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and updated based on the facts and 
circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for operating sites are recognised in 
the balance sheet by adjusting the rehabilitation asset and provision. 

Subordinated Loan Note Valuation
The Company put in place a US$100 million Subordinated Loan Note during the 2007 financial year. The key 
terms and conditions of the facility are:

 ● Interest under the note is calculated as 4 per cent of the revenue, net of government royalties, from the 
sale of iron ore FOB Port Hedland from the tenements of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek areas only. 
Accordingly the interest is only payable when Fortescue is in production and is only relevant to iron ore 
produced from these two tenement areas for a period of 13 years from 18 August 2006; and

 ● The note is unsecured and deeply subordinated to any secured debt. In the event that an interest payment is 
earned but not payable due to secured lender restrictions, the amount unpaid will accrue interest at a market 
interest rate until payment is made.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009

The note was revalued at 30 June 2009 to US$381,631,000 (30 June 2008: US$ 1,247,336,000) in line with 
changes in the following management estimates, prevailing market conditions and economic forecasts:

 ● Production was revised to reflect Fortescue’s forecast production profile as at 30 June 2009 of production 
levels from Christmas Creek and Cloudbreak reaching a maximum of 95mtpa in February 2012 (2008: 
forecast reaching a maximum 160Mtpa in December 2010);

 ● Future iron ore prices were updated to reflect lower forecasts provided by Metalytics Pty Ltd being an 
independent resource sector analyst of future iron ore prices; 

 ● The discount rate has been applied since inception and reflects the implicit interest rate of 42 per cent of the 
Subordinated Loan Note;

 ● Expected royalty rates have not changed since 30 June 2008 and reflect current royalty rates payable to the 
Western Australian state government; and

 ● The total Reserve estimate of Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek has not changed since 30 June 2008.

Explanation of the revaluation of the Subordinated Loan Note from US$1,247,336,000 to US$381,631,000 is included 
in note 28(i). Explanation of the correction of error resulting from a change in estimates is included in note 8.

Note 4.  Critical accounting policies
(A) REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the gross consideration received or receivable. Fortescue recognises 
revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic benefits will 
flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of Fortescue’s activities. The amount of revenue 
is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. 
Fortescue bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of 
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(i) Sale of goods 
Revenue from the sale of goods and disposal of other assets is recognised when persuasive evidence, usually 
in the form of an executed sales agreement, or an arrangement exists, indicating there has been a transfer of 
risks and rewards to the customer, no further work or processing is required by Fortescue, the quantity and 
quality of the goods has been determined with reasonable accuracy, the price is fixed or determinable, and 
collectability is reasonably assured. This is generally when title passes.

The majority of Fortescue’s sales agreements specify that title passes when the product is delivered to the 
destination specified by the customer, which is typically the vessel on which the product will be shipped. In 
practical terms, revenue is generally recognised on the bill of lading date, which is the date the commodity is 
delivered to the shipping agent. These sales agreements also allow for an adjustment to the sales price based 
on a survey of the goods by the customer (an assay for mineral content); therefore recognition of the sales 
revenue is based on the most recently determined estimate of product specifications. 

(ii) Traded freight 
Revenue from freight services is recognised on the bill of lading date of the customer. 

(iii) Interest 
Interest revenue on cash balances is recognised using the effective interest method. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 4. Critical accounting policies (continued)

(B) PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Recognition and measurement
Each class of property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less, where applicable, any accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the 
acquisition of the items. 

The cost of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing an asset to a working condition ready for its intended use, and the costs of dismantling 
and removing the items and restoring the site on which they are located. When parts of an item of property, 
plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as separate items (major components) of 
property, plant and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is 
capitalised as part of the equipment.

Subsequent costs
Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to Fortescue and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

Depreciation
Depreciation on assets, other than land, is calculated using the straight line method or units or production 
method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual values, over their estimated useful lives. 
Land is not depreciated.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are included 
in the income statement. 

(i) Straight line method
Assets within operations where production is not expected to fluctuate significantly from one year to another or 
which have a physical life that differs from the related mine are depreciated on a straight line basis as follows:

Buildings     25 - 40 years

Machinery    10 - 15 years

Vehicles     3 - 5 years

Furniture, fittings and equipment  3 - 8 years

Infrastructure    5 - 15 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. 

(ii) Units of production method
Where the useful life of infrastructure assets is directly linked to the extraction of ore from the mine, these 
infrastructure assets are depreciated using the units of production method. In applying the units of production 
method, depreciation is normally calculated using the quantity of material extracted from the mine in the period 
as a percentage of the total quantity of material to be extracted in current and future periods based on proved 
and probable Reserves.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009

(C) IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs 
to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Assets that have suffered an impairment are reviewed for 
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(D) MINERAL EXPLORATION AND EVALUATION EXPENDITURE
Exploration and evaluation expenditure incurred is accumulated in respect of each identifiable area of interest. 
Exploration and evaluation expenditure includes:

 ● researching and analysing historical exploration data;

 ● gathering exploration data through topographical, geochemical and geophysical studies;

 ● exploratory drilling, trenching and sampling;

 ● determining and examining the value and grade of the resource;

 ● surveying transportation and infrastructure requirements;

 ● conducting market and finance studies;

 ● administration costs that are directly attributable to a specific exploration area; and

 ● licensing costs.

These costs are only carried forward to the extent that they are expected to be recouped through the successful 
development of the area, or where activities in the area have not yet reached a stage that permits a reasonable 
assessment of the existence or otherwise of economically recoverable Reserves.

A regular review is undertaken of each area of interest to determine the appropriateness of continuing to carry 
forward costs in relation to that area of interest. Accumulated costs in relation to an abandoned area are written 
off in full in the income statement in the year in which the decision to abandon the area is made.

(E) DEVELOPMENT EXPENDITURE 
Once a mining project has been established as commercially viable and technically feasible, expenditure 
other than that on land, buildings and plant and equipment is capitalised under development expenditure. 
Development expenditure costs include past capitalised exploration and evaluation costs, pre-production 
development costs, development excavation, development studies and other subsurface expenditure pertaining 
to that area of interest. Costs related to surface plant and equipment and any associated land and buildings are 
accounted for as property, plant and equipment.

Development costs are accumulated in respect of each separate area of interest. Costs associated with 
commissioning new assets in the period before they are capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management, are capitalised. Development costs incurred after the commencement of production are 
capitalised to the extent they are expected to give rise to a future economic benefit. 

When an area of interest is abandoned or the Directors decide that it is not commercial or technically feasible, 
any accumulated cost in respect of that area is written off in the financial period the decision is made. Each 
area of interest is reviewed at the end of each accounting period and accumulated cost written off to the income 
statement to the extent that they will not be recoverable in the future.
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Note 4. Critical accounting policies (continued)
Amortisation of carried forward exploration and development costs is charged on a unit of production basis over 
the life of economically recoverable Reserves.

Development assets are assessed for impairment if facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable amount. For the purposes of impairment testing, development assets are allocated 
to cash-generating units to which the development activity relates. The cash generating unit shall not be larger 
than the area of interest.

(F) REHABILITATION
The mining, extraction and processing activities of Fortescue give rise to obligations for site rehabilitation. 
Rehabilitation obligations can include facility decommissioning and dismantling; removal or treatment of waste 
materials; land rehabilitation; and site restoration. The extent of work required and the associated costs are 
estimated based on feasibility and engineering studies using current restoration standards and techniques. 
Provisions for the cost of each rehabilitation program are recognised at the time that environmental disturbance 
occurs.

Rehabilitation provisions are initially measured at the expected value of future cash flows required to rehabilitate 
the relevant site, discounted to their present value. The value of the provision is progressively increased 
over time as the effect of discounting unwinds. When provisions for rehabilitation are initially recognised, the 
corresponding cost is capitalised as an asset, representing part of the cost of acquiring the future economic 
benefits of the operation. The capitalised cost of rehabilitation activities is recognised in ‘Development 
Expenditure’ as rehabilitation assets and amortised accordingly.

Where rehabilitation is expected to be conducted systematically over the life of the operation, rather than at the 
time of closure, provision is made for the present obligation or estimated outstanding continuous rehabilitation 
work at each balance sheet date and the costs charged to the income statement in line with remaining future 
cash flows.

At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is re-measured to account for any new disturbance, updated cost 
estimates, changes to the estimated lives of operations, new regulatory requirements and revisions to discount 
rates. Changes to the rehabilitation liability are added to or deducted from the related rehabilitation asset and 
amortised accordingly.

(G) DEFERRED STRIPPING 
Overburden and other mine waste materials are often removed during the initial development of a mine in order 
to access the mineral deposit. This activity is referred to as development stripping. The directly attributable costs 
(inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) are capitalised as development costs. Capitalisation 
of development stripping costs ceases and amortisation of those capitalised costs commences upon extraction 
of ore. Amortisation of capitalised development stripping costs is determined on a unit of production basis for 
each separate area of interest.

Capitalised development and production stripping costs are classified as Development Expenditure. 
Development stripping costs are considered in combination with other assets of an operation for the purpose of 
undertaking impairment assessments.

Removal of waste material normally continues throughout the life of a mine. This activity is referred to as 
production stripping and commences upon extraction of ore.
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The costs of production stripping are charged to the income statement as operating costs when the ratio of 
waste material to ore extracted for an area of interest is expected to be reasonably constant throughout its 
estimated life.

When the ratio of waste to ore is not expected to be constant, production stripping costs are accounted for as 
follows:

 ● All costs are initially charged to the income statement and classified as operating costs;

 ● When the current ratio of waste to ore is greater than the estimated life-of-mine ratio, a portion of the 
stripping costs (inclusive of an allocation of relevant overhead expenditure) is capitalised; and

 ● In subsequent years when the ratio of waste to ore is less than the estimated life-of-mine ratio, a portion of 
capitalised stripping costs is charged to the income statement as operating costs.

The amount of production stripping costs capitalised or charged in a financial year is determined so that the 
stripping expense for the financial year reflects the estimated life-of-mine ratio. Changes to the estimated life-of-
mine ratio are accounted for prospectively from the date of the change.

The Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek area of interest has minimal overburden to remove from these alluvial 
mines, therefore production stripping costs for these mines are not deferred but charged to the income 
statement as they are incurred.

(H) BORROWINGS 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption 
amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities which are not an incremental cost relating to the actual 
draw-down of the facility, are expensed to the income statement.

Preference shares which are mandatorily redeemable on a specific date are classified as liabilities. The dividend 
on these preference shares are recognised in the income statement as interest costs.

Borrowings and other financial liabilities are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the 
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability 
that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income or other expenses.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless Fortescue has an unconditional right to defer settlement of 
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Note 5.  Significant accounting policies – 
income statement 
(A) FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES
Items included in the financial statements of each of Fortescue’s entities are measured using the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in United States (US) dollars, which is Fortescue Metals Group Limited’s functional 
and presentation currency.
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Note 5. Significant accounting policies – income statement (continued)

Group companies
The results and financial position of all Fortescue entities (none of which has the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the 
presentation currency as follows:

 ● assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of that 
balance sheet;

 ● income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is 
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in 
which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

 ● all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign entities, 
and of borrowings designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to equity. When a foreign operation is 
sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange 
differences are recognised in the income statement, as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable.

Transactions in foreign currencies have been converted at rates of exchange ruling on the date of those 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the income statement.

Translation differences on financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as equities held at 
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation 
differences on non-monetary financial assets such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets are 
included in equity.

(B) BORROWING COSTS 
Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred. Borrowing costs include interest expense on borrowings, foreign 
currency gains and losses on borrowings, and any other costs incurred in connection with the arrangement of 
borrowings. Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method.

(C) OTHER INCOME
Other income comprises, gains on the disposal of available-for-sale financial assets, changes in the fair value of 
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and loss and non-operational revenue.

(D) FINANCE COSTS
Finance costs comprise borrowing costs, unwinding of the discount on provisions, changes in fair value of 
derivatives, borrowing costs and impairment losses recognised on financial assets. 
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Note 6.  Significant accounting policies – 
balance sheet 
(A) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits 
held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three 
months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

(B) TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. An allowance for impairment of trade receivables 
is established when there is objective evidence that Fortescue will not be able to collect all amounts due.

(C) FINANCIAL ASSETS
Fortescue classifies its investments into the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose 
for which the investments were acquired. Management determines the classification of its investments at initial 
recognition. 

(i) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 
quoted in an active market and include trade receivables. They are included in current assets, except for those 
with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date which are classified as non-current assets. Loans 
and receivables are included in trade and other receivables (note 19).

(ii) Derivatives
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. Derivatives are classified 
as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current 
assets.

This category comprises only interest rate swaps. They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with 
changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. Other than interest rate derivative financial 
instruments, Fortescue does not have any assets held for trading nor has it designated any other financial 
assets as being at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair value of Fortescue’s interest rate derivative is based on comparisons to variable LIBOR rates.

(iii) Available for sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that 
are either designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories. They are included in non-
current assets unless management intends to dispose of the investment within 12 months of the reporting date. 
Investments are designated as available-for-sale if they do not have fixed maturities and fixed or determinable 
payments and management intends to hold them for the medium to long term. These instruments are 
recognised at fair value, with changes in fair value being recognised directly in a Reserve, unless the change is 
a decrease below original cost which is considered to be significant or prolonged, in which case the decrease is 
recognised in the income statement.
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Note 6. Significant accounting policies – balance sheet (continued)

Recognition and derecognition
Regular purchased and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which Fortescue 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs for 
all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and transactions costs are expensed in the income statement. 
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired 
or have been transferred and Fortescue has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in 
equity are included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in a foreign currency and classified as available-
for-sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of the security 
and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. The translation differences related to changes in the 
amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in carrying amount are recognised in equity. 
Changes in the fair value of other monetary and non-monetary securities classified as available-for-sale are 
recognised in equity.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are disclosed in note 6(f).

Impairment 
Fortescue assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group 
of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or 
prolonged decline in the fair value of a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are 
impaired. If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as 
the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 
asset preciously recognised in equity – is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement. 
Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments classified as available-for-sale 
which subsequently reverse are not reversed through the income statement.

If there is evidence of impairment for any of Fortescue’s financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss 
is measured as the difference between the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows. The cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is 
recognised in the income statement. If the impairment loss subsequently reverses, the reversal is recognised in 
the income statement.

(D) FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Fortescue classifies its financial liabilities into one of two categories, depending on the purpose for which the 
asset was acquired. 

(i) Fair value through profit or loss
This category comprises only ‘out of-the-money derivatives’. They are carried in the balance sheet at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. Other than these derivative financial instruments, 
Fortescue does not have any liabilities held for trading nor has it designated any financial liabilities as being at 
fair value through profit or loss.
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(ii) Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Other financial liabilities include the following items:

 ● Trade payables and other short-term monetary liabilities, which are initially recognised initially at fair value 
and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method; and

 ● Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of any transaction costs directly attributable to the issue 
of the instrument. Interest bearing borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method, which ensures that any interest expense over the period to repayment is at 
a constant rate on the balance of the liability carried in the balance sheet. Interest expense in this context 
includes initial amortisation of transaction costs and those payable on redemption, as well as any interest or 
coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Fair value is calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows using a market rate of interest. 

(E) EQUITY FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Financial instruments issued by Fortescue are treated as equity only to the extent that they do not meet the 
definition of a financial liability. Fortescue’s ordinary shares are classified as equity instruments. There have 
been no changes in what Fortescue considers to be equity since the previous period.

(F) FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for measurement disclosure 
purposes. Fair values have been determined based on the following methods.

Financial instruments traded in active markets 
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading 
and available-for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by Fortescue is the current bid price.

Financial instruments not traded in active markets
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example over-the-counter 
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques. Fortescue uses a variety of methods and makes 
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held and then adjusted to reflect risk of 
the particular instrument. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair 
value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows.

Trade receivables and payables
The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of current trade receivables and payables are assumed 
to approximate their fair values due to their short term nature. The fair value of non-current financial assets and 
liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current 
market interest rate that is available to Fortescue for similar financial instruments. 

Borrowings
Fair value, which is determined for disclosure purposes, is calculated based on the present value of the future 
principal and interest cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. In respect of the 
liability component of convertible notes, the market rate of interest is determined by reference to similar liabilities 
that do not have a conversion option. For finance leases the market rate of interest is determined by reference to 
similar lease agreements.
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Note 6. Significant accounting policies – balance sheet (continued)
Share-based payment transactions
The fair value of employee share options is measured using the Binomial model. Measurement inputs include 
share price at measurement date, exercise price of the instrument, expected volatility (based on weighted 
average historic volatility adjusted for changes expected due to publicly available information), weighted average 
expected life of the instruments (based on historical experience and general option holder behaviour), expected 
dividends, and the risk-free interest rate (based on government bonds). Service and non-market performance 
conditions attached to the transactions are not taken into account in determining fair value.

(G) INVENTORIES
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined primarily on the basis 
of weighted average costs. Cost for raw materials and stores is purchase price and for partly processed and 
saleable products cost is derived on an absorption costing basis. For this purpose the costs of production include:

 ● labour costs, materials and contractor expenses which are directly attributable to the extraction and 
processing of ore;

 ● the amortisation of development expenditure and depreciation of property, plant and equipment used in the 
extraction and processing of ore; and

 ● production overheads, including attributable mining and manufacturing overheads.

Stockpiles represent ore that has been extracted and is available for further processing. If there is significant 
uncertainty as to when the stockpiled ore will be processed it is expensed as incurred. Where the future 
processing of this ore can be predicted with confidence e.g., because it exceeds the mine’s cut off grade, it is 
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. If the ore will not be processed within 12 months after the 
balance sheet date it is included within non-current assets. Quantities are assessed primarily through surveys 
and assays.

(H) INTANGIBLE ASSETS
(i) IT development and software
Costs incurred in developing products or systems and costs incurred in acquiring software and licenses that will 
contribute to future period financial benefits through revenue generation and/or cost reduction are capitalised to 
software and systems. Costs capitalised include external direct costs of materials and service, direct payroll and 
payroll related costs of employees’ time spent on the project. 

IT development costs include only those costs directly attributable to the development phase and are only 
recognised following completion of technical feasibility and where Fortescue has an intention and ability to use 
the asset.

Intangible assets that have a physical life that differs from the related mine are amortised on a straight line basis 
over periods generally ranging from 3 to 6 years. Where the useful life of intangible assets is directly linked to 
the extraction of ore from the mine, these assets are amortised on the units of production method.
 
(ii) Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects 
(relating to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when 
it is probable that the project will, after considering its commercial and technical feasibility, be completed 
and generate future economic benefits and its costs can be measured reliably. The expenditure capitalised 
comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services, direct labour and an appropriate 
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proportion of overheads. Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as 
an expense as incurred. Capitalised research and development costs are recorded as intangible assets and 
amortised from the point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life.

(I) TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to Fortescue prior to the end of financial 
year which are unpaid. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(J) PROVISIONS
Provisions for legal claims are recognised when: Fortescue has a present legal or constructive obligation 
as a result of past events; it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the 
obligation; and the amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses. 
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is 
determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of 
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small. 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the present obligation at the balance sheet date. The discount rate used to determine the present 
value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

(K) EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave 
expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables and accruals in 
respect of employees services up to the reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. 

(ii) Long service leave 
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the 
present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the 
reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary 
levels, experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted 
using market yields at the reporting date on national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

(iii) Share-based payments
Share-based remuneration benefits are provided to employees via the Fortescue Metals Group Incentive 
Option Scheme (FMGIOS) and Performance Rights Plan (PRP). Information relating to these schemes is set 
out in note 38.

The fair value of options granted under the FMGIOS and PRP are recognised as an employee benefit expense 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised over the period 
during which the employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date is independently determined using the Binomial option pricing model that takes 
into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and 
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the 
term of the option.
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Note 6. Significant accounting policies – balance sheet (continued)
The fair value of the options granted is measured to reflect expected market vesting conditions, but excludes 
the impact of any non-market vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-
market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become 
exercisable. At each reporting date, the entity revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to 
become exercisable. The employee benefit expense recognised each period takes into account the most recent 
estimate. The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is recognised in the income statement with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

(iv) Defined contribution superannuation funds
Obligations for contributions to defined contribution superannuation funds are recognised as an expense in profit 
and loss as they are incurred.

(v) Bonus plans
Fortescue recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past 
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(L) CONTRIBUTED EQUITY
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Mandatorily redeemable preference shares are classified as liabilities. 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the 
acquisition of a business are not included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.
 

Note 7.  Significant accounting policies - other
(A) PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of the Company as 
at 30 June 2009 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended. 

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) controlled by the Company. Control exists 
when the Company has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an 
entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, potential voting rights that are presently 
exercisable or convertible are taken into account. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. They 
are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Company.

In the Company’s financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost.

(ii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent 
with the parent.
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(B) SEGMENT REPORTING
A business segment is identified for a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services 
that are subject to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments. A geographical 
segment is identified when products or services are provided within a particular economic environment subject 
to risks and returns that are different from those of segments operating in other economic environments.

(C) INCOME TAX
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income 
based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the 
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted 
for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is 
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date and 
are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability 
is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net 
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised 
directly in equity.

Tax consolidation legislation
Fortescue has implemented the tax consolidation legislation as of 1 July 2003 and is therefore taxed as a single 
entity from that date.

The head entity, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group continue 
to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in 
the tax consolidated group continues to be a standalone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the Company also recognises the current tax liabilities 
(or assets) and the deferred tax assets it has assumed from unused tax losses and unused tax credits from 
controlled entities in the tax consolidated group.
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Note 7. Significant accounting policies – other (continued)
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements within the tax consolidated entities are recognised 
as amounts receivable from or payable to other entities in the group. Any differences between the amounts 
assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are recognised as a contribution 
to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

(D) BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The purchase method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, including business 
combinations involving entities or businesses under common control, regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. Cost is measured as the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or 
liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Where 
equity instruments are issued in an acquisition, the fair value of the instruments is their published market price 
at the date of exchange unless, in rare circumstances, it can be demonstrated that the published price at the 
date of exchange is an unreliable indicator of fair value and that other evidence and valuation methods provide a 
more reliable measure of fair value. Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity instruments are recognised 
directly in equity.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. 
The excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of Fortescue’s share of the identifiable net assets 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less that Fortescue’s share of the fair value of the 
identifiable net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised directly in the income statement, 
but only after a reassessment of the identification and measurement of the net assets acquired.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are 
discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental 
borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier 
under comparable terms and conditions.

(E) EARNINGS PER SHARE 
(i) Basic earnings/(loss) per share 
Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing the loss attributable to equity holders of the Company, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the 
financial year. 

(ii) Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings/(loss) per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings/(loss) per 
share to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of additional shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(F) GOODS AND SERVICES TAX (GST) 
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where the amount 
of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO). In these circumstances the GST is 
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense. Receivables and 
payables in the balance sheet are shown inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable 
to, the ATO is included as a current asset or liability in the balance sheet.
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Cash flows are presented in the cash flow statement on a gross basis, except for the GST component of 
investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(G) LEASES
Leases of property, plant and equipment where Fortescue, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards 
of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair 
value of the leased property or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding 
rental obligations, net of finance charges, are included in other short-term and long-term payables. Each lease 
payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the income statement 
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over 
the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to Fortescue 
as lessee are classified as operating leases (note 43). Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor), except for investment property, are charged to the income statement on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(H) ROUNDING OF AMOUNTS
The Company is of a kind referred to in Class order 98/100, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the rounding off of amounts in the financial report. Amounts in the financial report have 
been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the 
nearest dollar.

(I) NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published but are not yet effective for 30 June 
2009 reporting periods. Fortescue’s and the Company’s assessment of the impact of these new standards and 
interpretations is set out below. 

(i) AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB 2007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from AASB 8 (effective from 1 January 2009) 
AASB 8 will result in a significant change in the approach to segment reporting, as it requires adoption of a 
‘management approach’ to reporting on financial performance. The information being reported will be based on 
what the key decision makers use internally for evaluating segment performance and deciding how to allocate 
resources to operating segments. Fortescue will adopt AASB 8 from 1 July 2009. It is likely to result in an 
increase in the number of reportable segments presented. In addition, the segments will be reported in a manner 
that is more consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. 

(ii) Revised AASB 123 Borrowing Costs and AASB 2007-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 123 (effective from 1 January 2009) 
The revised AASB 123 has removed the option to expense all borrowing costs and - when adopted - will require 
the capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a 
qualifying asset. The application of this standard constitutes a change in accounting policy and will be applied 
prospectively. This means Fortescue will apply the standard to borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for 
which the commencement date for capitalisation is on or after the application date (1 July 2009).
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Note 7. Significant accounting policies – other (continued)

(iii) Revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB 2007-8 Amendments to 
Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101 (effective from 1 January 2009) 
The September 2007 revised AASB 101 requires the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and 
makes changes to the statement of changes in equity, but will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. If an entity has made a prior period adjustment or has reclassified items in the financial 
statements, it will need to disclose a third balance sheet (statement of financial position), this one being as at the 
beginning of the comparative period. Fortescue will apply the revised standard from 1 July 2009. 

(iv) AASB 2008-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standard - Share-based Payments: Vesting 
Conditions and Cancellations (effective from 1 January 2009) 
AASB 2008-1 clarifies that vesting conditions are service conditions and performance conditions only and that 
other features of a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. It also specifies that all cancellations, 
whether by the entity or by other parties, should receive the same accounting treatment. Fortescue will apply the 
revised standard from 1 July 2009, but it is not expected to affect the accounting for Fortescue’s share-based 
payments. 

(v) Revised AASB 3 Business Combinations, AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
and AASB 2008-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 3 and AASB 127 
(effective periods commencing on or after 1 July 2009) 
The revised AASB 3 continues to apply the acquisition method to business combinations, but with some 
significant changes. For example, all payments to purchase a business are to be recorded at fair value at the 
acquisition date, with contingent payments classified as debt subsequently remeasured through the income 
statement. There is a choice on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. 
All acquisition-related costs must be expensed. This is different to Fortescue’s current policy which is set out in 
note 7(d) above. 

The revised AASB 127 requires the effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be recorded 
in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and 
losses. The standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is 
remeasured to fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss. This is consistent with Fortescue’s 
current accounting policy if significant influence is not retained. 

Fortescue will apply the revised standards prospectively to all business combinations and transactions with non-
controlling interests from 1 July 2009. 

(vi) AASB 2008-6 Further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Annual 
Improvements Project (effective 1 July 2009) 
The amendments to AASB 5 Discontinued Operations and AASB 1 First-Time Adoption of Australian-
Equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards are part of the IASB’s annual improvements project 
published in May 2008. They clarify that all of a subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are classified as held for sale 
if a partial disposal sale plan results in loss of control. Relevant disclosures should be made for this subsidiary if 
the definition of a discontinued operation is met. Fortescue will apply the amendments prospectively to all partial 
disposals of subsidiaries from 1 July 2009. 
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(vii) AASB 2008-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Cost of an Investment in a 
Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate (effective 1 July 2009) 
In July 2008, the AASB approved amendments to AASB 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards and AABS 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements. Fortescue will apply 
the revised rules prospectively from 1 July 2009. After that date, all dividends received from investments in 
subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities or associates will be recognised as revenue, even if they are paid out 
of pre-acquisition profits, but the investments may need to be tested for impairment as a result of the dividend 
payment. Under the Company’s current policy, these dividends are deducted from the cost of the investment. 
Furthermore, when a new intermediate parent entity is created in internal reorganisations it will measure its 
investment in subsidiaries at the carrying amounts of the net assets of the subsidiary rather than the subsidiary’s 
fair value.  
 

(viii) AASB Interpretation 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation (effective 1 October 2008) 
AASB-I 16 clarifies which foreign currency risks qualify as hedged risk in the hedge of a net investment in a 
foreign operation and that hedging instruments may be held by any entity or entities within Fortescue. It also 
provides guidance on how an entity should determine the amounts to be reclassified from equity to profit or loss 
for both the hedging instrument and the hedged item. Fortescue will apply the interpretation prospectively from 1 
July 2009. 
 

(ix) AASB 2008-8 Amendment to IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement (effective 
1 July 2009).
AASB 2008-8 amends AASB 139 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” and must be applied 
retrospectively in accordance with AASB 108 “Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and 
Errors”. The amendment makes two significant changes. It prohibits designating inflation as a hedgeable 
component of a fixed rate debt. It also prohibits including time value in the one-sided hedged risk when 
designating options as hedges. Fortescue will apply the amended standard from 1 July 2009. It is not expected 
to have a material impact on Fortescue’s financial statements. 

(x) AASB Interpretation 17 Distribution of Non-cash Assets to Owners and AASB 2008-13 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB Interpretation 17 
AASB-I 17 applies to situations where an entity pays dividends by distributing non-cash assets to its 
shareholders. These distributions will need to be measured at fair value and the entity will need to recognise the 
difference between the fair value and the carrying amount of the distributed assets in the income statement on 
distribution. This is different to Fortescue’s current policy which is to measure distributions of non-cash assets 
at their carrying amounts. The interpretation further clarifies when a liability for the dividend must be recognised 
and that it is also measured at fair value. Fortescue will apply the interpretation prospectively from 1 July 2009.

(J) CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY IN COMPARATIVE YEAR
AASB 123 “Borrowing Costs” permits two alternative treatments for borrowing costs. The standard benchmark 
treatment requires all borrowing costs to be expensed in the period incurred. An allowable alternative treatment 
expenses all borrowing costs except that it allows capitalisation of borrowing costs directly attributable to the 
acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset, less any investment income on the temporary 
investment of those borrowings. Prior to the 2008 financial year Fortescue accounted for borrowing costs using 
the allowable alternative treatment and capitalised borrowing costs related to qualifying assets.
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Note 7. Significant accounting policies – other (continued)
During the 2008 financial year Fortescue decided to adopt the benchmark treatment and expense all borrowing 
costs as incurred. The Directors believe this provides a more conservative approach and better matches the 
short term future economic benefits of these borrowings, rather than expensing them over the life of the asset.

The change in accounting policy was applied retrospectively. The change in accounting policy had the following 
impact on the 2008 consolidated financial statements.
 

Consolidated 
2008 

US$’000
Represented

Company 
2008 

US$’000
Represented

Loss attributable to members of the Company for the year ended 
30 June 2007

(606,100) (8,495)

Increase in other income 45,910 13,152

Increase in financial expense (282,581) -

Increase in income tax benefit/(expense) 71,001 (3,945)

Final profit/(loss) attributable to members of the Company 2008 (771,770) 712

Net assets/(deficit) as at 30 June 2007 (102,512) 723,199

Decrease in development expenditure (236,671) -

Increase/(decrease) in intercompany receivable - 13,152

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability 71,001 (3,945)

Final net assets/(deficit) at 30 June 2008 (63,158) 732,406

Increase/(decrease) in accumulated losses 165,670 (9,207)

Note 8.  Correction of errors
In August 2006 the Company put in place a US$100 million Subordinated Loan Note. The terms of this facility 
are set out Note 28(i) to the financial statements. At inception of the loan an error in the application of the 
AASB 139 requirements for determining the effective interest rate method occurred. The error relates to the 
incorrect application of the effective interest rate method to the Subordinated Loan Note liability under AASB 
139 by recognition of a “day 1 loss” instead of applying the 42 per cent interest rate implicit in the Note based 
on the face value of US$100 million. The day 1 loss totalling US$202 million was incorrectly recognised in the 
30 June 2007 income statement which should have been reflected in the effective interest of the Notes. The 
corrected implicit interest rate at inception of the Subordinated Loan Note liability has resulted in a reduction 
of the Subordinated Loan Note liability at 30 June 2008 from US$2,779,929,000 to US$1,247,336,000. This 
has resulted in a decrease in losses for the year ended 30 June 2007 of US$101,335,000 and 30 June 2008 of 
US$971,480,000. 

An error, where material, is corrected through applying the correct accounting treatment at the date of the error 
and adjusting the comparatives in the financial statements in the year that the correction was accounted for. 
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The impact of the restatement on prior year comparatives for the consolidated entity is as follows: 
 

Consolidated

2008 
US$’000

Represented

2007 
US$’000

Represented
Loss attributable to members of the Company for the year ended 
30 June

(1,743,250) (133,195)

Fair value adjustment to Subordinated Loan Note (refer note 28(i)) 1,331,156 202,378

Increase/(decrease) in financial expense (4,419) 3,566

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) on borrowings 61,092 (61,180)

Increase in income tax benefit/(expense) (416,349) (43,429)

Restated profit/ (loss) attributable to members of the Company (771,770) (31,860)

Net assets/(deficit) as at 30 June (1,135,974) 258,199

Decrease in borrowings 1,387,830 144,764

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax liability (416,349) (43,429)

Opening accumulated loss adjustment 101,335 -

Restated net assets/ (deficit) at 30 June (63,158) 359,534

Increase/(decrease) in accumulated losses (1,072,815) (101,335) 

 
The correction of error had an impact in the 2008 financial year of decreasing Fortescue’s loss per share 
by 59.96 cents per share on basic loss per share. Diluted loss per share has not been calculated for the 
consolidated entity as any conversion of options would result in a decrease in the net loss per share.

Note 9. Revenue       

Consolidated Company

2009 
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

2009 
US$’000

2008 
US$’000

Represented

Sale of iron ore 1,571,884 89,997 - -

Shipping revenue 259,069 49,297 39,747 22,707

1,830,953 139,294 39,747 22,707
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Note 10. Cost of sales
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Operating expenses 1,261,850 87,098 53,288 15,300

Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 88,846 3,770 1,372 1,600

1,350,696 90,868 54,660 16,900

(a) Operating expenses

Mining costs 470,636 21,496 - -

Rail costs 60,419 4,903 - -

Port costs 48,304 2,079 - -

Operating Leases 104,107 8,264 - -

Shipping costs 490,053 42,158 53,288 15,300

Government royalty 88,331 8,198 - -

1,261,850 87,098 53,288 15,300

(b) Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment

35,946 2,784 1,019 1,579

Amortisation of intangible assets 353 21 353 21

Amortisation of development 
expenditure

52,547 965 - -

88,846 3,770 1,372 1,600

Note 11. Other income
Profit on debt buy back 11,544 - - -

Debt forgiven on deposits received 6,928 - - -

Lease income on facilities 2,906 - - -

Other income 5,339 - 1,037 -

26,717 - 1,037 -
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Note 12. Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) 
- borrowings

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) –  
July 2008 – December 2008 

(559,915) 121,626 - -

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) – 
January 2009 – June 2009

(8,427) 103,267 (8,427) -

(568,342) 224,893 (8,427) -

Fortescue has significant borrowings denominated in US currency. During the period from 1 July 2008 to 1 
January 2009 the functional currency was AUD and accordingly the change in exchange rates during this period 
has resulted in the recognition of the above exchange losses.

Note 13. Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) - other
Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) –  
July 2008 – December 2008 

35,818 (138,806) 26,557 (571)

Net foreign exchange gain/(loss) – 
January 2009 – June 2009

78,780 108,715 (25,050) 4,423

114,598 (30,091) 1,507 3,852

Note 14. Other financial expenses
Interest expense – Subordinated Loan 
Note1 258,706 116,568 - -

Interest expense – Senior Secured 
Notes

197,998 170,432 - -

Interest expense – Preference Shares 9,309 - 9,309 -

Debt establishment costs 4,358 2,254 2,970 2,254

Fair value loss on interest swaps 20,574 12,699 - -

490,945 301,953 12,279 2,254

1 = Interest expense of US$258.7 million (2008: US$116.6 million) represents the difference in present value 
of the Subordinated Loan Note between 1 July 2008 and 30 June 2009, prior to any Subordinated Loan Note 
revaluation during the financial year ended 30 June 2009 (refer note 28).

Interest is yet to be paid on the Subordinated Loan Note. The amount recognised as payable as at 30 June 
2009 is US$70.9 million (2008: US$4.9 million). These amounts are likely to be paid in July 2010 together with 
accrued interest at 9.5 per cent per annum. 
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Note 15. Administration expenses
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Wages and salaries, including 
superannuation

6,044 1,048 6,044 1,048

Share based payments expense 1,399 1,175 1,399 1,175

Legal costs 8,899 2,995 8,899 2,995

Other administration expenses 18,278 15,191 18,278 15,191

34,620 20,409 34,620 20,409

Fortescue’s gross wages and salaries, including superannuation, for the financial year ended 30 June 2009 
were US$141,712,000 (2008: US$52,506,000). Wages and salaries, including superannuation, are charged to 
applicable cost centres related to their activity and are costed to capital, cost of sales or administration expenses 
where appropriate.

Note 16. Income tax benefit/(expense)
(a) Income tax benefit/(expense)

Current tax (57,105) 6,942 (89,260) -

Adjustment for prior periods – current tax 23,638 1,715 771 1,715

Deferred tax (120,451) 322,979 107,893 (1,151)

(153,918) 331,636 19,404 564

(b) Numerical reconciliation of income tax benefit/(expense) to prima facie tax payable:

Loss/(profit) before tax (661,960) 1,103,406 63,552 (148)

Income tax benefit/(expense)  
calculated at 30% (2007: 30%)

(198,588) 331,022 19,066 (44)

Sundry non-deductible/(deductible) 
expenses

3,440 (101) (23) (107)

Share based payments (409) (353) (409) (353)

Research and development 16,740 - - -

Investment allowance 1,261 - - -

Adjustment for prior periods – current tax 23,638 1,068 770 1,068

Income tax benefit/(expense) for  
the year

(153,918) 331,636 19,404 564
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(c) Tax consolidation legislation
The Company and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation 
from 1 July 2003. The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note 7(c).

On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidation group entered into a tax 
sharing agreement which, in the opinion of the Directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned 
entities in the case of a default by the head entity, Fortescue Metals Group Ltd.

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully 
compensate the Company for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by the Company for 
any current tax receivable and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are 
transferred to the Company under the tax consolidation legislation. The funding amounts are determined by 
reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-owned entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice 
from the head entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity 
may also require payment of interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments. The 
funding amounts are recognised as current intercompany receivables or payables.

Note 17. Earnings per share
BASIC EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share at 30 June 2009 was based on the profit/(loss) attributable 
to ordinary shareholders of US$508,042,000 (2008: loss US$771,770,000) and a weighted average number 
of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year ended 30 June 2009 of 2,858,944,000 (2008: 
1,620,211,000), calculated as follows:

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shares

Consolidated

2009
US$’000 

Profit

2008
US$’000

Represented

Net profit/(loss) for the year 508,042 (771,770)

Consolidated

2009 2008
Represented

Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (US$’000) 508,042 (771,770)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (’000) 2,858,944 1,620,211

Basic earnings/(loss) per share (in cents) 17.77 (47.63)

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary shareholders (US$’000) 508,042 (771,770)

Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary  
shares (‘000)

2,871,071 1,620,211

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (in cents) 17.70 (47.63)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 17.70 (47.63)

During the 2008 financial year the Company’s potential ordinary shares, being its options granted, are not 
considered dilutive as the conversion to these options would result in a decrease in the net loss per share.
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Note 18. Cash and cash equivalents - current
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Cash on hand 21 18 21 18

Cash at bank 654,921 133,164 452,242 179

Cash and cash equivalents 654,942 133,182 452,263 197

Note 19.  Trade and other receivables
Current

Trade debtors 109,162 34,681 - 9,039

GST receivables 14,678 11,696 16,513 11,696

Security deposits 56,119 62,332 - -

Intercompany receivables - - 492,872 596,094

Other receivables 3,229 1,267 3,058 1,267

183,188 109,976 512,443 618,096

Non-Current

Amounts held pending arbitration of 
shipping contracts

2,657 - - -

Receivables from sale and leaseback 
transactions

10,728 - - -

Loan receivable 127 1,694 127 1,694

13,512 1,694 127 1,694

Information about Fortescue and the Company’s exposure to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price 
risk are disclosed in Note 36. Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed 
to approximate their fair value.
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Note 20. Inventories
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Raw materials and stores – at cost 25,500 9,840 - -

Iron ore stockpiles – at cost 95,622 26,004 - -

121,122 35,844 - -

Inventories recognised as expense during the year ended 30 June 2009 amounted to US$683,466,000 (2008: 
US$36,742,000)

Note 21. Financial assets
Current

Listed investments – at fair value 31 26 31 26

31 26 31 26

Non-Current

Unquoted investments – at cost 1 1 1 1

1 1 1 1

Unquoted investments are available-for-sale assets.

Note 22. Other current assets
Prepayments 1,498 1,147 1,498 1,147

1,498 1,147 1,498 1,147
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Note 23. Exploration and evaluation 
expenditure

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Carrying amount at beginning of year 2,790 3,534 - -

Expenditure 11,267 7,828 - -

Transfers to development expenditure (2,168) (8,572) - -

Carrying amount at end of year 11,889 2,790 - -

The ultimate recoupment of costs carried forward for exploration assets is dependent on the successful 
development and commercial exploitation or sale of the respective areas.

Note 24. Development expenditure
Development expenditure at cost 1,476,734 1,047,184 - -

Accumulation amortisation (53,512) (965) - -

1,423,222 1,046,219 - -

Reconciliation of movement in carrying amounts

Balance at beginning of year 1,046,219 353,557 - -

Expenditure 375,121 669,367 - -

Net additions of rehabilitation assets 52,261 15,688 - -

Transfer from exploration 2,168 8,572 - -

Amortisation of development expenditure (52,547) (965) - -

Balance at end of year 1,423,222 1,046,219 - -
 
All expenditure for Port, Rail and Mine Development is included in Development Expenditure and Property, Plant 
and Equipment. The recoverable amount of development expenditure is determined as the higher of its fair 
value less costs to sell and its value in use (discounted future cash flows).
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Note 25. Property, plant and equipment
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented
Land and buildings 236 236 236 236

Accumulated depreciation (7) (4) (7) (4)

229 232 229 232

Plant and other office equipment 7,249 7,181 7,249 7,181

Accumulated depreciation (3,646) (2,839) (3,646) (2,839)

3,603 4,342 3,603 4,342

Motor vehicles 147 147 147 147

Accumulated depreciation (51) (29) (51) (29)

96 118 96 118

Computer equipment 1,611 1,611 1,611 1,611

Accumulated depreciation (1,473) (1,286) (1,473) (1,286)

138 325 138 325

Infrastructure assets1 1,399,452 1,286,080 - -

Accumulated depreciation (36,132) (1,205) - -

1,363,320 1,284,875 - -

Assets under construction 274,533 - - -

Total property, plant and equipment 1,641,919 1,289,892 4,066 5,017

Reconciliation of movements in carrying amounts

Land and Buildings

Carrying amount at beginning of year 232 218 232 218

Additions - 17 - 17

Depreciation (3) (3) (3) (3)

Carrying amount at end of year 229 232 229 232

Plant and other equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 4,342 5,172 4,342 5,172

Additions 68 290 68 290

Disposals - - - - 

Depreciation (807) (1,120) (807) (1,120)

Carrying amount at end of year 3,603 4,342 3,603 4,342

Motor vehicles

Carrying amount at beginning of year 118 95 118 95

Additions - 42 - 42

Disposals - - -  -

Depreciation (22) (19) (22) (19)

Carrying amount at end of year 96 118 96 118

Table continued next page.
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Note 25. Property, plant and equipment (table continued)

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented
Computer equipment

Carrying amount at beginning of year 325 748 325 748

Additions - 14 - 14

Depreciation (187) (437) (187) (437)

Carrying amount at end of year 138 325 138 325

Infrastructure assets1

Carrying amount at beginning of year 1,284,875 - - -

Transfers - 1,286,080 - -

Additions 353,323 - - -

Disposals (239,951) - - -

Depreciation (34,927) (1,205) - -

Carrying amount at end of year 1,363,320 1,284,875 - -

Assets under construction

Carrying amount at beginning of year - 574,430 - -

Additions 274,533 843,796 - -

Disposals - (132,146) - -

Transfers - (1,286,080) - -

Carrying amount at end of year 274,533 - - -

1 = Infrastructure assets consist of Mine, Port and Rail infrastructure assets as part of the Pilbara Iron Ore and 
Infrastructure Project.

Note 26. Intangible assets – non-current
Software

Software at cost 25,518 22,694 25,518 22,694

Amortisation (374) (21) (374) (21)

25,144 22,673 25,144 22,673

Reconciliation of movement in carrying amounts

Carrying amount at beginning of year 22,673 3,686 22,673 3,686

Additions 2,824 19,008 2,824 19,008

Amortisation (353) (21) (353) (21)

Balance at end of year 25,144 22,673 25,144 22,673
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Note 27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

Assets Liabilities Net

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000 
Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000 
Represented

2008
US$’000

2008
US$’000 
Represented

Consolidated

Exploration and evaluation - - (4,813) (1,246) (4,813) (1,246)

Property, plant and equipment - 31,394 (189,472) - (189,472) 31,394

Net unrealised foreign exchange gains 5,309 - - (117,053) 5,309 (117,053)

Borrowing costs - (13,726) (11,845) (13,726) (11,845)

Senior Secured Notes 13,614 3,871 - - 13,614 3,871

Subordinated Loan Note 77,424 357,452 - - 77,424 357,452

Provisions 38,917 1,077 - - 38,917 1,077

Business related costs 793 479 - - 793 479

Other items 1,756 243 (4,243) (2,222) (2,487) (1,979)

Revenue tax losses 194,636 88,603 - - 194,636 88,603

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 332,449 483,119 (212,254) (132,366) 120,195 350,753

Set off of tax - - - - - -

Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) 332,449 483,119 (212,254) (132,366) 120,195 350,753

Company

Revenue tax losses 194,636 88,603 - - 194,636 88,603

Provisions 6,454 1,077 - - 6,454 1,077

Property, plant and equipment 2,322 - - (627) 2,322 (627)

Net unrealised foreign exchange gains 89,660 - - (1,272) 89,660 (1,272)

Borrowing costs - 700 (426) - (426) 700

Business related costs 1,303 1,149 - - 1,303 1,149

Other items 1,756 245 - - 1,756 245

Tax (assets)/liabilities 296,131 91,774 (426) (1,899) 295,705 89,875

Set off tax - - - - - -

Net tax (assets)/liabilities 296,131 91,774 (426) (1,899) 295,705 89,875
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Note 27. Deferred tax assets and liabilities (continued) 
Movement in temporary differences during the year

Balance
1 July 07
US$’000

Represented

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss
US$’000 

Represented

Recognised 
in equity
US$’000

Represented

Balance
30 June 08

US$’000
Represented

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss
US$’000

Recognised 
in equity
US$’000

Balance
30 June 09

US$’000

Consolidated
Exploration and evaluation (1,060) (186) - (1,246) (3,567) - (4,813)

Property, plant and equipment (5,184) 36,578 - 31,394 (220,866) - (189,472)

Net unrealised foreign exchange gains (69,814) (47,239) - (117,053) 199,564 (77,202) 5,309

Borrowing costs (5,348) (6,497) - (11,845) (1,881) - (13,726)

Subordinated Loan Note 19,754 337,697 - 357,451 (280,027) - 77,424

Senior Secured Notes - 3,871 - 3,871 9,743 - 13,614

Provisions 297 780 - 1,077 37,840 - 38,917

Other items (903) (1,076) - (1,979) (508) - (2,487)

Revenue tax losses 79,946 8,657 - 88,603 106,033 - 194,636

Business related costs - (949) 1,429 480 (249) 562 793

17,688 331,636 1,429 350,753 (153,918) (76,640) 120,195

Balance
1 July 07
US$’000

Represented

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss
US$’000 

Represented

Recognised 
in equity / as 
intercompany

US$’000
Represented

Balance
30 June 08

US$’000
Represented

Recognised 
in profit or 

loss
US$’000

Recognised 
in equity  / as 
intercompany

US$’000

Balance
30 June 09

US$’000

Company
Revenue tax losses 79,946 783 7,874 88,603 (89,260) 195,293 194,636

Other items 132 113 - 245 1,511 - 1,756

Provisions 297 780 - 1,077 5,377 - 6,454

Property, plant and equipment 264 (891) - (627) 2,949 - 2,322

Net unrealised foreign exchange gains (631) (641) - (1,272) 100,354 (9,422) 89,660

Borrowing costs 1 699 - 700 (1,126) - (426)

Business related costs - (279) 1,428 1,149 (401) 555 1,303

80,009 564 9,302 89,875 19,404 186,426 295,705

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented
2009

US$’000
2008

US$’000
Represented

Consolidation Adjustments
Total increase/(reduction) to tax expense of company - - - (8,432)

Total increase/(decrease) to inter-company assets of company - - - 8,432

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009
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For the year ended 30 June 2009

Note 28. Borrowings 
 

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Current

Subordinated Loan Note (i) 103,359 105,999 - -

Senior Secured Notes (ii) 206,240 158,066 - -

Preference shares (iii) 10,224 - 10,224 -

319,823 264,065 10,224 -

Non-Current

Subordinated Loan Note (i) 278,272 1,141,337 - -

Senior Secured Notes (ii) 1,867,625 1,431,233 - -

Preference shares (iii) 104,585 - 104,585 -

2,250,482 2,572,570 104,585 -

All borrowings are interest bearing. Information about Fortescue and the Company’s exposure to interest rate 
risk can be found in Note 36.

The following reconciliations (non-current and current) detail the movements in Fortescue’s borrowing accounts 
throughout the 2008 and 2009 financial years:  

Current
US$’000

Non-Current
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Subordinated Loan Note

Balance at 1 July 2007 12,589 120,391 132,980

Fair value adjustment 49,627 1,020,555 1,070,182

Interest expense - 116,568 116,568

Foreign exchange gains - (72,394) (72,394)

Debt transfer 43,783 (43,783) -

Balance at 30 June 2008 
(Represented)

105,999 1,141,337 1,247,336

Balance at 1 July 2008 105,999 1,141,337 1,247,336

Fair value adjustment (2,640) (1,121,771) (1,124,411)

Interest expense - 258,706 258,706

Balance at 30 June 2009 103,359 278,272 381,631

The Subordinated Loan Note was revalued at 30 June 2009 based on prevailing market conditions and 
economic forecasts.
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Note 28. Borrowings (continued)

Current
US$’000

Non-Current
US$’000

Total
US$’000

Senior Secured Notes

Balance at 1 July 2007 173,880 1,565,522 1,739,402

Interest expense - 170,432 170,432

Interest repayments - (168,036) (168,036)

Foreign exchange gain (15,814) (136,685) (152,499)

Balance at 30 June 2008 (Represented) 158,066 1,431,233 1,589,299

Balance at 1 July 2008 158,066 1,431,233 1,589,299

Interest expense - 197,998 197,998

Interest repayments - (186,998) (186,998)

Debt buy back (9,198) (71,999) (81,197)

Foreign exchange losses to June 2009 57,372 497,391 554,763

Balance at 30 June 2009 206,240 1,867,625 2,073,865

Senior Secured Notes

Balance at 1 July 2008 - - -

Recognition of issue of preference 
shares

10,224 86,768 96,992

Interest expense - 9,309 9,309

Foreign exchange losses to June 2009 - 13,579 13,579

Interest repayments - (5,071) (5,071)

Balance at 30 June 2009 10,224 104,585 114,809

i) Subordinated Loan Note (through its wholly owned subsidiary Chichester Metals Pty Ltd – 
previously FMG Chichester Pty Ltd)
The Company put in place a US$100 million Subordinated Loan Note during the 2007 financial year. The key 
terms and conditions of the facility are:

 ● Interest under the note is calculated as 4 per cent of the revenue, net of government royalties, from the 
sale of iron ore FOB Port Hedland from the tenements of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek areas only. 
Accordingly the interest is only payable when Fortescue is in production and is only relevant to iron ore 
produced from these two tenement areas for a period of 13 years from 18 August 2006;

 ● The note is unsecured and deeply subordinated to any secured debt. In the event that an interest payment is 
earned but not payable due to secured lender restrictions, the amount unpaid will accrue interest at a market 
interest rate until payment is made.
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At inception of the loan an error in the application of the AASB 139 requirements for determining the effective 
interest rate method occurred (refer note 8).

The note was revalued at 30 June 2009 to US$381,631,000 (30 June 2008: US$ 1,247,336,000) in line with 
changes in the following management estimates, prevailing market conditions and economic forecasts:

 ● Production was revised to reflect Fortescue’s forecast production profile as at 30 June 2009 of production 
levels from Christmas Creek and Cloudbreak reaching a maximum of 95mtpa in February 2012 (2008: 
forecast reaching a maximum 160mtpa in December 2010);

 ● Future iron ore prices were updated to reflect lower forecasts provided by Metalytics Pty Ltd being an 
independent resource sector analyst of future iron ore prices; 

 ● The discount rate has been applied since inception and reflects the implicit interest rate of 42 per cent of the 
Subordinated Loan Note;

 ● Expected royalty rates have not changed since 30 June 2008 and reflect current royalty rates payable to the 
Western Australian state government; and

 ● The total Reserve estimate of Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek has not changed since 30 June 2008.

ii) Senior Secured Notes (through its wholly owned subsidiary FMG Resources (August 2006) 
Pty Ltd – previously FMG Finance Pty Ltd) 
The Company raised US$1,650 million in US dollar denominated and €315 million in Euro denominated Senior 
Secured Notes in August 2006 to facilitate the construction and initial operation of the Pilbara Iron Ore and 
Infrastructure Project. 

During the financial year Fortescue bought back parcels of its own listed debt through the Singapore Stock 
Exchange. This debt has subsequently been extinguished. A summary of the transactions are included below:

Note Description Face value Principal Debt 
Purchased Purchase Price Amount Paid

10.625% notes due 2016 US$1.00 $US54,000,000 $US0.710 US$38,340,000

10.000% notes due 2013 US$1.00 $US2,500,000 $US0.709 US$1,772,500

9.750% notes due 2013 €1.00 €16,200,000 €0.624 €10,106,500

The key terms and conditions of the notes are:

 ● US$320 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2013 bearing interest at 10.000 per cent per annum accruing 
from August 18, 2006.  Interest is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 
2007;

 ● €315 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2013 bearing interest at 9.750 per cent per annum accruing from 
August 18, 2006. Interest is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 2007;

 ● US$1,080 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2016 bearing interest at 10.625 per cent per annum accruing 
from August 18, 2006. Interest is payable on March 1 and September 1 of each year, beginning on March 1, 
2007. The Company has swapped these notes to a fixed rate of 9 per cent; and

 ● US$250 million of Senior Secured Notes due 2011 bearing interest at three-month LIBOR plus 4.000 per 
cent per annum, accruing from August 18, 2006.  Interest is payable on March 1, June 1, September 1 and 
December 1 of each year, beginning on December 1, 2006. Fortescue has a floating-to-fixed interest rate 
swap over its US$250 million Senior Secured Notes due 2011, swapping these notes to a fixed rate of 9 per 
cent per annum.
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Note 28. Borrowings (continued)

Other key terms of the notes are:

 ● They rank pari passu in right of payment with all existing and future senior indebtedness.

 ● They are secured by, among other security documents, fixed and floating charges over the assets of FMG 
Resources (August 2006) Pty Ltd, (previously FMG Finance Pty Ltd), and the project-related assets of 
Chichester Metals Pty Ltd (previously FMG Chichester Pty Ltd), Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd and The 
Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd (the Project Guarantors), a charge, assignment or pledge over the bank 
accounts in which proceeds of the Senior Secured Notes will be deposited, share mortgages over all of the 
shares in the capital of the Project Guarantors and FMG Resources (August 2006) Pty Ltd, a featherweight 
charge over all of the assets and undertakings of Fortescue and mortgages of the real property leasehold 
rights of the Project and the Project mining tenements. 

 ● They are listed on the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (the SGX-ST).

iii) Preference shares recognised as debt 
The Company issued 1,400 fully paid non-converting, redeemable preference shares at a price of $AUD100,000 
per share on 30 September 2008. These preference shares have been recognised as debt in the financial 
statements as unlike ordinary shareholders there is not a right for preferential shareholders to share in the 
residual interests of the assets of Fortescue. A holder of Preference Shares is not entitled to share in the 
distribution of any surplus assets of the Company beyond its Redemption Amount. The Preference Shares rank 
in priority to Fortescue’s ordinary shares for the payment of distributions in accordance with these terms.

The Preference Shares confers upon the holder the right in a winding up or return of capital to payment of an 
amount equal to the Redemption Amount, in priority to any other class of shares ranking behind it. 

The Preference Shares shall rank pari passu with the most senior ranking preference shares of the Company 
and in priority to all other preference shares that are expressed to rank junior to the Preference Shares and the 
Company’s ordinary shares, in a winding up of the Company.

The key terms for these preference shares are;

 ● Dividend coupon rate of 9 per cent fixed p.a. payable six monthly either in cash, or where cash distributions 
are not able to be made by Fortescue, additional preference shares or ordinary shares (calculated on the 
basis of the volume weighted average share price) as elected by Fortescue;

 ● Term of 8.5 years;

 ● Redeemable by Fortescue at any time subject to minimum 30 days notice;

 ● Preference shares to rank in priority to Fortescue’s ordinary shares on a winding up and in relation to the 
payment of distributions; and

 ● Limited voting rights. 
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Note 29. Provisions
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Site rehabilitation

Balance at 1 July 15,688 - - -

Provisions made during the year 39,894 15,688 - -

Balance at 30 June 55,582 15,688 - -

In accordance with State Government legislative requirements, a provision for site rehabilitation has been 
recognised in relation to Fortescue’s iron ore operations. The provision has been made in full for all disturbed 
areas at the reporting date based on current estimates of costs to rehabilitate such areas, discounted to their 
present value based on expected future cash flows.

Note 30. Trade and other payables
Current

Trade payables 55,043 - - -

Other payables and accruals 284,042 113,899 14,623 6,320

339,085 113,899 14,623 6,320

Non-Current

Deposits received 349,602 80,629 - -

349,602 80,629 - -

On 5 December 2008 Fortescue exercised suspension of all its 10 long term CFR shipping contracts of 
Affreightment and Consecutive Voyage Contracts. Subsequent to this Fortescue negotiated settlement 
agreements with Bocimar International NV (Bocimar) (4 February 2009) and Classic Maritime (Classic) (27 May 
2009) leaving only five disputed contracts remaining. The Bocimar and Classic contracts were the five largest 
disputed contracts. Fortescue has accrued for the liability outstanding as at 30 June 2009 that it believes reflects 
(i) outstanding potential settlements remaining on its disputed contracts; and (ii) outstanding liabilities to be 
settled with Bocimar International NV and Classic Maritime. The details of this amount has not been separately 
disclosed for commercial reasons.

Note 31. Derivative at fair value - current
Interest rate derivative held at fair value 31,397 10,504 - -

31,397 10,504 - -

Risk exposure
Information about Fortescue’s and the Company’s exposure to credit risk, foreign exchange and price risk is 
provided in note 36.
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Note 32. Contributed equity
A reconciliation of the movement in capital and reserves for the Company and Fortescue can be found in the 
Statements of Changes in Equity.

Date Ordinary shares fully paid: Number of 
Shares Issue Price US$’000

1 July 2007 Balance at beginning of financial year 265,687,743 397,669

Shares issued 14,063,000 US$24.93 350,547

Exercise of options issued under the 
Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Option 
Scheme (FMGIOS)

3,217,216 US$0.59 1,897

Share issue costs - - (4,541)

Transfer option expense from reserve for 
converted options

- - 1,219

Reorganisation of capital * 2,521,395,801 -

30 June 2008 Balance at end of financial year 2,804,363,760 746,791

Shares issued 280,535,780 US$1.71 481,560

Exercise of options issued under the 
Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Option 
Scheme (FMGIOS)

4,697,159 US$0.29 1,379

Transfer option expense from reserve for 
converted options

- - 1,439

Share issue costs - - (1,293)

30 June 2009 Balance at end of financial year 3,089,596,699 1,229,876

* = The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The 
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully paid 
ordinary shares. 

Fully paid ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and to one vote per share at meetings of 
the Company. Ordinary shares participate in the proceeds on winding up of the Company in proportion to the 
number of shares held.

Effective 1 July 1998, the Company Law Review Act abolished the concept of par value shares and the concept 
of authorised capital. Accordingly, the Company does not have authorised capital or par value in respect of its 
issued shares. 
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Note 33. Reserves
THE SHARE BASED PAYMENTS RESERVE 
The share based payments reserve records items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee share 
options. The movement in the share based payments reserve is disclosed in the Statements of Changes in 
Equity.

ASSET REVALUATION RESERVE
The asset revaluation reserve records revaluations of non-current assets and has a carrying value as at 30 
June 2009 of $610,000. There has been no movement in the asset revaluation reserve during the 2008 or 2009 
financial years. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION RESERVE
Foreign currency differences arising on the revaluation of Australian deferred tax assets and liabilities to US 
dollar deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised directly in equity in the foreign currency translation 
reserve (FCTR). 

A reconciliation of reserves in included below:

Share based 
payment 
reserve
US$’000

Asset 
revaluation 

reserve
US$’000 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve
US$’000

Total 
reserves 
US$’000 

Consolidated
Opening balance at 1 July 2007 2,089 610 - 2,699
Exercise of options (1,219) - - (1,219)
Forfeited options (163) - - (163)
Equity settled share based payment transactions 1,338 - - 1338
Closing balance at 30 June 2008 (Represented) 2,045 610 - 2,655

Opening balance at 1 July 2008 2,045 610 - 2,655
Exercise of options (1,474) - - (1,474)
Forfeited options (41) - - (41)
Deferred tax translation to USD - - (77,202) (77,202)
Equity settled share based payment transactions 1,440 - - 1,440
Closing balance at 30 June 2009 1,970 610 (77,202) (74,622)

Amounts are stated net of tax.

Company
Opening balance at 1 July 2007 2,089 610 - 2,699
Exercise of options (1,219) - - (1,219)
Forfeited options (163) - - (163)
Equity settled share based payment transactions 1,338 - - 1,338
Closing balance at 30 June 2008 (Represented) 2,045 610 - 2,655

Opening balance at 1 July 2008 2,045 610 - 2,655
Deferred tax translation to USD - - (9,422) (9,422)
Exercise of options (1,474) - - (1,474)
Forfeited options (41) - - (41)
Equity settled share based payment transactions 1,440 - - 1,440
Closing balance at 30 June 2009 1,970 610 (9,422) (6,842)

Amounts are stated net of tax. 
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Note 34. Total equity
Total equity for Fortescue is lower than that of the Company.  It is not considered that this represents an 
impairment event as there will be significant profit generated through operation of the Cloudbreak and Christmas 
Creek iron ore mines. The Directors believe Fortescue will be able to meet all of its debts as and when they fall 
due in line with current cash flow forecasts.

Note 35. Reconciliation of cash flows from 
operating activities

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Profit/(loss) for the year 508,042 (771,770) (44,148) 712

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment

35,946 2,784 1,019 1,579

Amortisation of intangible assets 353 21 353 21

Amortisation of development expenditure 52,547 965 - -

Profit on extinguishment of debt (11,544) - - -

Provision – employee entitlements 3,700 2,188 3,700 2,188

Equity-settled share based payment 
transactions

1,399 1,175 1,399 1,175

Net effective interest on borrowings 466,013 118,965 9,309 -

Debt establishment costs 4,358 2,254 2,970 2,254

Fair value adjustment on interest rate swaps 20,574 12,699 - -

Fair value adjustment on  Subordinated 
Loan Note

(1,124,411) 1,070,182 - -

Tax (benefit)/expense 153,918 (331,636) (19,404) (564)

Realised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange (127,246) - 1,796 -

Unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange 541,304 (177,772) 8,427 -

Operating profit/(loss) before changes in 
working capital 524,953 (69,945) (34,579) 7,365

Changes in assets and liabilities during the year:

Increase/ (decrease) in payables 134,954 (105,183) - -

(Increase) /decrease in receivables and 
prepayments

(101,281) 77,551 18,082 (9,370)

(Increase) /decrease in inventory (85,278) (35,844) - -

Net cash from/(used in) operating 
activities

473,348 (133,421) (16,497) (2,005) 
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Note 36. Financial risk management
In common with all other business, Fortescue is exposed to risks that arise from its use of financial instruments. 
This note describes Fortescue’s objectives, policies and processes for managing those risks and methods 
used to measure them. Further quantitative information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these 
financial statements. 

General objectives, policies and processes
The Board has overall responsibility for the determination of Fortescue’s risk management objectives and 
policies, and whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for them, it has delegated the authority for designing and 
operating processes that ensure the effective implementation of the objectives and policies to the Audit and 
Risk Management Committee. The Audit and Risk Management Committee receives reports as required from 
the Chief Financial Officer through which it reviews the effectiveness of the processes put in place and the 
appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets.

Fortescue’s Audit and Risk management Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the 
Company’s and Fortescue’s risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the risks faced by the Company and Fortescue. Fortescue’s Audit and 
Risk Management Committee is assisted in its oversight role by Internal Audit. Internal Audit undertakes both 
regular and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee. 

The overall objective of the Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible without unduly 
affecting Fortescue’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details regarding these policies are set out below.

FINANCIAL RISKS
Fortescue’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest 
rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Fortescue’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial 
performance of Fortescue. Fortescue uses interest rate swaps to hedge interest rate risk exposures. Derivatives 
are exclusively used for hedging purposes, i.e. not as trading or other speculative instruments. Fortescue uses 
different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. 
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Note 36. Financial risk management (continued)
PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Fortescue and the Company hold the following financial instruments: 

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 654,942 133,182 452,263 197

Trade receivables 109,162 34,681 - 9,039

Security deposits 56,119 62,332 - -

Intercompany receivables - - 492,872 596,094

Other receivables 3,229 1,267 3,058 1,267

Loan receivable 127 1,694 127 1,694

Amounts held pending arbitration of shipping contracts 2,657 - - -

Receivables from sale and leaseback transactions 10,728 - - -

Financial assets 31 26 31 26

836,995 233,182 948,351 608,317

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 339,085 113,899 14,623 6,320

Derivative held at fair value 31,397 10,504 - -

Deposits received 349,602 80,629 - -

Borrowings 2,570,305 2,836,635 114,809 -

3,290,389 3,041,667 129,432 6,320

(A) MARKET RISK
Market risk arises from Fortescue’s use of interest bearing and foreign currency financial instruments. It is the 
risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in interest 
rates (interest rate risk), foreign exchange rates (currency risk) or other market factors (other price risk).

(i) Foreign exchange risk
Fortescue’s policy is, where possible, to allow group entities to settle liabilities denominated in their functional 
currency (USD) with the cash generated from their own operations in that currency. Where group entities have 
liabilities denominated in a currency other than their functional currency (and have insufficient reserves of that 
currency to settle them) cash already denominated in that currency will, where possible, be transferred from 
other entities within Fortescue. 

Fortescue operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency 
exposures primarily with respect to the Australian dollar and Euro. Fortescue is exposed to currency risk on cash 
reserves, deposits received, trade receivables and borrowings.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency. The risk is measured using sensitivity 
analysis and cash flow forecasting. Fortescue has not entered into any forward exchange contracts as at 30 
June 2009 and is currently fully exposed to foreign exchange risk.



FO
RT

ES
CU

E 
M

ET
AL

S 
GR

OU
P 

AN
NU

AL
 R

EP
OR

T 
20

09
   

  

97

97

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2009

 Fortescue
30 June 2009 30 June 2008

USD
US$’000

AUD
US$’000

EURO
US$’000

Total
US$’000

USD
US$’000

Represented

AUD
US$’000

Represented

EURO
US$’000

Represented

Total
US$’000

Represented

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 141,753 486,663 26,526 654,942 109,479 4,621 19,082 133,182

Trade receivables 75,823 17,777 15,562 109,162 34,681 - - 34,681

Security deposits 12,152 42,018 1,949 56,119 9,983 51,076 1,273 62,332

Other receivables - 3,229 - 3,229 - 1,267 - 1,267

Loan receivable - 127 - 127 - 1,694 - 1,694

Amounts held pending 
arbitration of shipping contracts

2,657 - - 2,657 - - - -

Receivables from sale and 
leaseback transactions

10,728 - - 10,728 - - - -

Financial assets - 31 - 31 - 26 - 26

Total financial assets 243,113 549,845 44,037 836,995 154,143 58,684 20,355 233,182

Financial liabilities

Derivative held at fair value 31,397 - - 31,397 10,504 - - 10,504

Trade and other payables - 339,085 - 339,085 - 113,899 - 113,899

Deposits received 349,602 - - 349,602 73,701 6,928 - 80,629

Borrowings 2,021,242 114,809 434,254 2,570,305 2,468,114 - 368,521 2,836,635

Total financial liabilities 2,402,241 453,894 434,254 3,290,389 2,552,319 120,827 368,521 3,041,667

The carrying amounts of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities are denominated in US dollars except as 
set out below:

 Company
30 June 2009 30 June 2008

USD
US$’000

AUD
US$’000

EURO
US$’000

Total
US$’000

USD
US$’000

Represented

AUD
US$’000

Represented

EURO
US$’000

Represented

Total
US$’000

Represented

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents - 452,263 - 452,263 - 197 - 197

Trade receivables - - - - 9,039 - - 9,039

Intercompany receivables - 492,872 - 492,872 - 596,094 - 596,094

Other receivables - 3,058 - 3,058 - 1,267 - 1,267

Loan receivable - 127 - 127 - 1,694 - 1,694

Financial assets - 31 - 31 - 26 - 26

Total financial assets - 948,351 - 948,351 9,039 599,278 - 608,317

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables - 14,623 - 14,623 - 6,320 - 6,320

Borrowings - 114,809 - 114,809 - - - -

Total financial liabilities - 129,432 - 129,432 - 6,320 - 6,320
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Note 36. Financial risk management (continued)
Sensitivity analysis
A five per cent strengthening of the US dollar against the Australian dollar and Euro at 30 June on a net basis 
would have:

 ● decreased equity and decreased Fortescue’s profit, primarily through a higher valuation of Fortescue’s Euro 
borrowings, by the amounts shown below; and

 ● increased equity and decreased the Company’s loss, primarily through higher cash and intercompany 
receivable balances.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2008. 

Consolidated Company

Equity
US$’000

Profit or loss
US$’000

Equity
US$’000

Profit or loss
US$’000

30 June 2009

AUD 4,798 4,798 40,946 40,946

Euro (19,511) (19,511) - -

30 June 2008 (Represented)

AUD (3,107) (3,107) 29,648 29,648

Euro (17,408) (17,408) - -

A five per cent weakening of the US dollar against the Australian dollar and Euro at 30 June on a net basis 
would have:

 ● increased equity and increased Fortescue’s profit, primarily through a lower valuation of Fortescue’s Euro 
borrowings, by the amounts shown below; and

 ● decreased equity and increased the Company’s loss, primarily through lower costs and intercompany 
receivable balances.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2008.

30 June 2009

AUD (4,798) (4,798) (40,946) (40,946)

Euro 19,511 19,511 - -

30 June 2008 (Represented)

AUD 3,107 3,107 (29,648) (29,648)

Euro 17,408 17,408 - -
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(ii) Commodity price risk
Fortescue and the Company are exposed to commodity price risk. Contract iron ore prices are set by the global 
market annually on 1 April of each year for the following 12 months. Fortescue has not entered into any forward 
commodity price contracts as at 30 June 2009 and is currently fully exposed to commodity price risk. Fortescue’s 
exposure to commodity price risk at the reporting date was as follows:

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Subordinated loan note (381,631) (1,247,336) - -

Trade receivables 109,162 34,681 - 9,039

Total exposure (272,469) (1,212,655) - 9,039

Sensitivity analysis
Trade receivables relate primarily to USD iron ore commodity sales and are subject to price risk due to potential 
final adjustment to the sales price based on a survey of the goods by the customer.

Borrowings relates to Fortescue’s Subordinated Loan Note. Fortescue’s Subordinated Loan Note is calculated 
at 4 per cent of the revenue, net of government royalties, from the sale of iron ore FOB Port Hedland from the 
tenements of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek areas only. The valuation of the note is based on several 
forecasts including future iron ore prices.

A 10 per cent strengthening of the future iron ore price included in trade receivables and the valuation model at 
30 June would have decreased equity and decreased Fortescue’s profit by the amounts shown below. This is 
because under current accounting standards Fortescue is required to account for the fair value impact of higher 
projected revenues on its Subordinated Loan Note borrowing. Conversely, Fortescue has adopted the cost 
method of accounting for its assets which does not show the fair value impact on its assets resulting from higher 
revenues and higher future cash inflows. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The 
analysis is performed on the same basis for 2008.

Consolidated Company

Equity
US$’000

Profit or loss
US$’000

Equity
US$’000

Profit or loss
US$’000

30 June 2009 (20,204) (20,204) - -

30 June 2008 (Represented) (120,636) (120,636) 904 904

A 10 per cent weakening of the future iron ore price included in trade receivables and the valuation model for 
Fortescue’s Subordinated Loan Note at 30 June would have increased equity and increased Fortescue’s profit 
by the amounts shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant. The analysis is 
performed on the same basis for 2008.

30 June 2009 20,204 20,204 - -

30 June 2008 (Represented) 120,636 120,636 (904) (904)
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Note 36. Financial risk management (continued)
(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
Interest rate risk
It is Fortescue’s policy either to eliminate interest rate risk over the cash flows on its long-term debt finance 
through the use of fixed rate instruments or to mitigate the risk through the use of floating-to-fixed interest rate 
swaps. Fortescue currently has a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap over its US$250 million Senior Secured 
Notes due 2011 and various operating lease contracts. Whilst this is an economic hedge of the cash flow risk 
Fortescue does not apply hedge accounting.

Fortescue invests surplus cash in term deposits and in doing so exposes itself to the fluctuations in interest rates 
that are inherent in such a market. 

As at reporting date, Fortescue had the following variable rate borrowings (US$250 million Senior Secured 
Notes due 2011 and the Subordinated Loan Note) and interest rate swap contracts outstanding:

30 June 2009 30 June 2008

Weighted 
average 

interest rate

Balance 
$’000

Weighted 
average 

interest rate
Represented

Balance 
$’000

Represented

Borrowings – Subordinated Loan Note 170.31% 381,631 662.62% 1,247,336

Borrowings – Senior Secured Notes 9.75% 253,083 9.75% 181,534

Interest rate swaps 8.49% 31,397 7.08% 10,504

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk 666,111 1,439,374

 
The Company did not hold any variable rate borrowings or interest rate swap contracts.

An analysis by maturities is provided in (C) below.

Interest rate swap contract – Senior Secured Notes
US$250 million of the Senior Secured Notes Facility is denominated in floating rate notes. It is policy to protect 
Fortescue from exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly Fortescue has entered into interest rate swap 
contracts under which it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to pay interest at fixed rates. The fixed 
interest rate is at 5% and the variable interest rate is based on 3 month LIBOR. 

At 30 June 2009, the notional principal amount and period of expiry of the interest rate swap contract is as 
follows:

2009
$’000

2008 $’000
Represented

2 - 3 years 250,000 250,000

250,000 250,000

The contract requires settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days. The settlement dates 
coincide with the dates on which interest is payable on the underlying Senior Secured Notes. The contracts are 
settled on a net basis.
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The gain or loss from measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the income statement 
immediately. In the year ended 30 June 2009 a loss of US$13,166,000 (2008 loss of US$11,911,000) was 
recognised.

All borrowings other than the US$250 million Senior Secured Floating Rate Notes above and operating lease 
contracts below are issued at fixed interest rates which minimises cash flow interest rate risk.

Interest rate swap contract – Operating Leases
US$10.65 million of variable interest rate operating lease contracts were entered into during the 30 June 2009 
financial year. It is policy to protect Fortescue from exposure to increasing interest rates. Accordingly Fortescue 
has entered into interest rate swap contracts under which it is obliged to receive interest at variable rates and to 
pay interest at fixed rates. The fixed interest rate is at 2.88% - 3.99% and the variable interest rate is based on 3 
month LIBOR. 

At 30 June 2009, the notional principal amount and period of expiry of the interest rate swap contracts are as 
follows:

2009
$’000

2008 $’000
Represented

3 - 4 years 144,225 92,537

144,225 92,537

The contracts require settlement of net interest receivable or payable each 90 days.  

The gain or loss from measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised in the income statement 
immediately. In the year ended 30 June 2009 a loss of US$7,408,000 (2008 loss of US$787,000) was 
recognised.

Sensitivities
If variable interest rates had changed by -/+ 50 basis points from the year-end rates with all other variables held 
constant the impact on Fortescue’s post tax profit and equity position would not have been material.

(B) CREDIT RISK
Credit risk is managed on a consolidated basis. Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its 
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to Fortescue. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, 
derivative financial instruments, deposits with banks and financial institutions and credit exposures to customers, 
including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. 

Fortescue is exposed to a concentration of risk with all iron ore customers being Chinese companies. Fortescue 
has adopted a policy of only dealing with credit worthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of 
financial loss from defaults. Cash and cash equivalents are held in various financial institutions with long-term 
investment grade credit rating and with the capacity for payment of financial commitments considered strong. 
Fortescue has not recognised any bad debt expense in the 2009 or 2008 financial years.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as 
summarised in the Principal Financial Instruments section of this note. For commodity trade receivables 
Fortescue mitigates its credit risk in most cases by obtaining security in the form of letters of credit prior to 
ship loading covering approximately 95% of the value of iron ore shipped, thereby reducing credit risk to an 
acceptable level as determined by the Board. 

Fortescue has no receivables past due as at 30 June 2009 (2008: $nil), nor does it consider there to be any 
potential impairment loss on these receivables.
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Note 36. Financial risk management (continued)
(C) LIQUIDITY RISK
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding through 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities. Fortescue manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows. 

Financing arrangements
Fortescue and the Company are fully drawn on their borrowing facilities as at 30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008.

Maturities of financial liabilities
The tables below analyse Fortescue and the Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in 
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

The maturity profiles below are undiscounted. The expected maturity profile of Fortescue and the Company’s 
financial liabilities are analysed below:

Less than 6 
months
$’000

6-12
months
$’000

Between 1 
and 2 years

$’000

Between 
2 and 5 
years
$’000

Over 5 
years
$’000

Total 
contractual 
cash flows

$’000

Carrying 
amount

liabilities
$’000

Fortescue - At June 2009

Non-interest bearing 381,885 42,800 80,200 183,802 - 688,687 688,687

Variable rate 85,819 50,222 113,989 769,436 1,117,831 2,137,297 634,714

Fixed rate 86,499 85,172 171,671 1,018,669 1,442,121 2,804,132 1,966,988

554,203 178,194 365,860 1,971,907 2,559,952 5,630,116 3,290,389

Fortescue - At June 2008 (Represented)

Non-interest bearing 113,899 - - - - 113,899 194,528

Variable rate 47,251 83,124 278,206 2,556,832 4,794,578 7,759,991 1,428,870

Fixed rate 83,809 82,443 166,252 499,213 2,027,347 2,859,064 1,418,269

244,959 165,567 444,458 3,056,045 6,821,925 10,732,954 3,041,667

The Company – At 30 June 2009

Non-interest bearing 14,623 - - - - 14,623 14,623

Variable rate - - - - - - -

Fixed rate 5,112 5,112 10,224 30,671 143,441 194,560 114,809

19,735 5,112 10,224 30,671 143,441 209,183 129,432

The Company – At 30 June 2008 (Represented)

Non-interest bearing 6,320 - - - - 6,320 6,320

Variable rate - - - - - - -

Fixed rate - - - - - - -

6,320 - - - - 6,320 6,320

Fortescue Derivatives

(Interest Rate Swaps)

30 June 2009 3,988 4,320 9,591 13,498 - 31,397 31,397

30 June 2008 1,502 1,669 3,705 3,628 - 10,504 10,504

There are no derivatives in the Company. 
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(D) FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for measurement and disclosure 
purposes. The carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
represents their respective fair values (determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in notes 
3-7 to the financial statements) except for borrowings disclosed in Note 28.

The fair value of borrowings for disclosure purposes would be estimated by discounting the future contractual 
cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to Fortescue for similar financial instruments.  
However, due to the unique nature of Fortescue’s borrowings and the lack of an active market due to the current 
financial crisis, there is no comparable instrument against which Fortescue can benchmark in order to determine 
the fair value of its borrowings.

(E) CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
In managing its capital, Fortescue’s primary objective is to ensure its continued ability to provide a consistent 
return for its equity shareholders through capital growth. Fortescue considers its capital to comprise its ordinary 
share capital, accumulated losses, subordinated loan notes and senior secured notes.  

The Board seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher levels of 
borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.  

There were no changes in Fortescue’s approach to capital management during the year. Fortescue has not 
breached any covenants during the 2009 or 2008 financial years. Fortescue’s capital management portfolio at 
30 June 2009 and 30 June 2008 was as follows:

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Total borrowings 2,570,305 2,836,635 114,809 -

Less: cash and cash equivalents (654,942) (133,182) (452,263) (197)

Net debt 1,915,363 2,703,453 (337,454) (197)

Total equity/ (deficiency) 850,692 (63,158) 1,161,846 732,406

Total capital 2,766,055 2,640,295 824,392 732,209

Gearing ratio 69% 102% (41%) (0%)

The reduction in the gearing ratio during 2009 resulted primarily from the revaluation of the Subordinated 
Loan Note. 
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Note 37. Key management personnel 
disclosures
KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION 
The Key Management Personnel remuneration included in ‘administration expenses’ in the income statement 
are as follows:

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008 US$’000
Represented

2009
US$’000

2008 US$’000
Represented

Short-term employee benefits 3,513,770 1,731,634 3,513,770 1,731,634

Other long term benefits - - - -

Post-employment benefits 417,298 132,040 417,298 132,040

Termination benefits 60,705 - 60,705 -

Equity compensation benefits 278,557 114,318 278,557 114,318

4,270,330 1,977,992 4,270,330 1,977,992

Balances above are recognised on a gross basis. Wages and salaries, disclosed as part of administration 
expenses in the income statement, are recognised net of salary recoveries.

Apart from the details disclosed in this note, no Director has entered into a material contract with the Company 
or Fortescue since the end of the previous financial year and there were no material contracts involving 
Directors’ interests existing at year-end.

OPTION OVER EQUITY INSTRUMENTS 
The movement during the reporting period in the number of options over ordinary shares in the Company held 
directly, indirectly or beneficially, by each Key Management Person, including their related parties, is as follows:

 2009 Held at 1 
July 2008

Granted as 
remuneration Exercised

Other 
changes 

during the 
year

Balance 
at 30 June 

2009

Vested 
during the 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 
at 30 June 

2009

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

A Forrest - - - - - - -

G Rowley - - - - - - -

H Elliott - - - - - - -

R Scrimshaw - 600,000 - - 600,000 - -

K Ambrecht - - - - - - -

J Steinberg - - - - - - -

G Brayshaw - - - - - - -

O Hegarty - - - - - - -

I Burston - - - - - - -

L Xiaowei - - - - - - -

Other key management personnel

P Hallam - 600,000 - - 600,000 - -

M Minosora - 600,000 - - 600,000 - -
C Catlow 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 250,000 750,000
A Watling 1,000,000 - (500,000) (500,000)# - - -

G Cowe - - - - - - -

2,000,000 1,800,000 (500,000) (500,000) 2,800,000 250,000 750,000

# = Options forfeited upon resignation/cessation of employment
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 2008 Held at 1 
July 2007

Granted as 
remuneration Exercised

Other 
changes 

during the 
year *

Balance 
at 30 June 

2008

Vested 
during the 

year

Vested and 
exercisable 
at 30 June 

2008

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

H Elliott - - - - - - -

A Forrest  - - - - - - -

G Rowley - - - - - - -

R Scrimshaw - - - - - - -

K Ambrecht - - - - - - -

J Steinberg - - - - - - -

G Brayshaw - - - - - - -

Other key management personnel
A Watling 200,000 - (1,000,000) 1,800,000 1,000,000 500,000 500,000
C Catlow 100,000 - - 900,000 1,000,000 250,000 500,000

G Cowe - - - - - - -

300,000 - (1,000,000) 2,700,000 2,000,000 750,000 1,000,000

* = The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The 
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully 
paid ordinary shares. To maintain the value of options issued by Fortescue, Fortescue’s options were also 
reorganised through an option split whereby each option was split into ten options. The numbers of options 
vested during the 2008 financial year have been adjusted to account for this option split.

MOVEMENTS IN SHARES
The movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares in the Company held directly, 
inadvertently or beneficially, by each Key Management Person, including their related parties, are set out below.
 
2009 Ordinary shares

Name Held at 1 July 
2008

Received on 
exercise of 

options
Purchases Share split* Sales Held at 30 June 

2009

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

A Forrest 1,005,493,300 - - - (32,665,000)(A) 972,828,300

G Rowley 20,235,690 - - - (1,000,000) 19,235,690

H Elliott 2,540,689 - 27,249 - (400,000) 2,167,938

R Scrimshaw 8,000,000 - 400,000 - (400,000) 8,000,000

K Ambrecht 6,283,833 - 29,297 - - 6,313,130

J Steinberg 277,986,000 - - - - 277,986,000

G Brayshaw 17,225 - 15,924 - - 33,149

O Hegarty - - - - - -

I Burston - - - - - -

L Xiaowei (B) - - - - - -

Other key management personnel
P Hallam - - - - - -
M Minosora - - - - - -

C Catlow 8,000,000 - - - (3,310,000) 4,690,000

A Watling 1,000,000 500,000 - - (1,500,000) -

G Cowe - - - - - -

TOTAL 1,329,556,737 500,000 472,470 - (39,275,000) 1,291,254,207
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Note 37. Key management personnel disclosures (continued)
2008 Ordinary shares

Name Held at 1 July 
2007

Received on 
exercise of 

options
Purchases Share split* Sales Held at 30 June 

2008

Directors of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd

A Forrest 102,307,830 - - 907,090,470 (3,905,000) 1,005,493,300

G Rowley 2,095,569 - - 18,860,121 (720,000) (C) 20,235,690

H Elliott 550,000 - 7,560 4,951,179 (2,968,050) (C) 2,540,689

R Scrimshaw 800,000 - - 7,200,000 - 8,000,000

K Ambrecht 650,000 - 7,618 5,851,215 (225,000) 6,283,833

J Steinberg 26,400,000 - 1,398,600 (D) 250,187,400 - 277,986,000

G Brayshaw - - 4,418 12,807 - 17,225

Other key management personnel

A Watling - 100,000 - 900,000 - 1,000,000

C Catlow 800,000 - - 7,200,000 - 8,000,000

G Cowe - - - - - -

TOTAL 133,603,399 100,000 1,418,196 1,202,253,192 (7,818,050) 1,329,556,737

A = Mr Forrest’s relevant direct or indirect interest in those Company shares have been disposed of for nil 
cash consideration, and were disposed of as separate gift transactions.

B = Mr Xiaowei is Chairman of Hunan Valin Iron and Steel Group Company (Valin), which holds 535,000,000 
Fortescue shares as at 30 June 2009.

C = The Directors relevant direct or indirect interest in these Fortescue Metals Group Ltd shares have been 
disposed of as a result of a transaction with Opes Prime and are subject to a scheme of arrangement. 
These disposals do not reflect sales to the benefit of the Directors. 

D = LUK-Fortescue LLC held 277,986,000 shares in the Company as at 30 June 2009. LUK-Fortescue LLC 
is a wholly owned subsidiary of Leucadia National Corporation. Messrs. Steinberg and Cumming have 
an oral agreement pursuant to which they will consult with each other as to the election of a mutually 
acceptable Board of Directors of Leucadia National Corporation. As their collective voting power in 
Leucadia National Corporation exceeds 20 per cent, Mr Steinberg is deemed under s608(3)(a) of 
the Corporations Act to have a relevant interest in the Fortescue shares in which Leucadia National 
Corporation has a relevant interest.

* = The reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd was effected on 19 December 2007. The 
reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten fully paid 
ordinary shares.  

OTHER TRANSACTIONS WITH KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL
The Company has revised its estimate in relation to the liability to Leucadia National Corporation (Leucadia) 
under the terms of the Subordinated Loan Note (see Note 28). The note was revalued at 30 June 2009 to 
US$381,631,000 (30 June 2008: US$1,247,336,000). Leucadia is a company related to Mr Joseph Steinberg, 
who is a director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd.

At 30 June 2009 Mr Joseph Steinberg, who is a director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd, held €500,000.00 9.75 
per cent Senior Secured Notes due 2013. Interest paid and payable for the year was US$34,612. The balance 
as at 30 June 2009 was US$705,517 (30 June 2007: US$568,241).
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Dr Ian Burston was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of Fortescue Metals Group Ltd on 13 October 2008. 
He is also Chairman and Director of NRW Holdings Ltd (NRW). NRW provide mining contracting services to 
Fortescue’s Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek mines. Since his appointment Fortescue has incurred US$69.6 
million for services rendered by NRW on the Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure project. As at 30 June 2009 
amounts owed to NRW by Fortescue were US$18.6 million. 

NON-KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
Subsidiaries
Loans are made by the Company to wholly owned subsidiaries for capital purchases. Loans outstanding 
between the Company and its controlled entities have no fixed date of repayment and is non-interest bearing. 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2009, such loans to subsidiaries totalled US$492.9 million receivable 
(2008: US$596.1 million). These loans have been recognised as current receivables.

Note 38. Share based payments
Shareholders approved the implementation of the Fortescue Metals Group Incentive Option Scheme (FMGIOS) 
at the 2005 AGM. The FMGOIS entitles key management personnel and senior employees to purchase shares 
in the Company. In accordance with these programmes options are exercisable at the market price of the shares 
at the date of grant.

During the financial year the Company issued 2,400,000 employee options to certain key executives. Under the 
terms of the FMGIOS the options will progressively vest over a 4 year period, with 25 per cent vested on each 
anniversary. In addition, Directors have imposed a further requirement that the exercise of options is conditional 
upon Fortescue shares trading above AU$6 for a set period. The price target was approximately double the 
share price at inception. The options have been issued at an exercise price of AU$2.50, which is in accordance 
with the FMGIOS whereby the price must be at or greater that the volume weighted average price for the five 
days prior to the offer date, which was 11 February 2009.

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date (in 
Australian dollars):

Grant date Expiry date Fair value per 
option

Exercise  
price

Price of 
shares on 
grant date

Expected 
volatility

Risk free 
interest rate

Dividend  
yield

11 February 
2009

11 February 
2014

A$1.61 A$2.50 A$2.42 25.50%1 6.5% -

1 = Expected volatility is calculated using the AGSM risk measurement for the period.

The terms and conditions of the grants are as follows, whereby all options are settled by physical delivery of shares:

Grant date / employee entitled Number of 
instruments * Vesting conditions Contractual life of 

options

Option grant to key management in June 2005 20,000,000 Four years of service 5 years

Option grant to key management in January 2006 4,300,000 Four years of service 5 years

Option grant to key management in June 2006 5,000,000 Four years of service 5 years

Option grant to key management in February 2009 2,400,000 Four years of service 5 years

Total share options 31,700,000
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Note 38. Share based payments (continued)
* = Adjusted in line with the reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Groups Ltd effected on 19 December 
2007. The reorganisation was by way of a share split whereby each fully paid ordinary share was split into ten 
fully paid ordinary shares. Options were also split whereby each option was split into ten options.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share options are as follows:

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
2009 US$

Number
of options

2009

Weighted 
average 
exercise  

price
2008 US$

Represented

Number
of options

2008

Outstanding at 1 July 0.27 18,292,910 2.93 2,560,675

Exercised between 1 July and 19 December 0.25 (3,012,500) 2.31 (436,847)

Granted between 1 July and 19 December - - - -

Outstanding at 19 December 0.31 15,280,410 3.06 2,123,828

Option split on 19 December - - - 19,114,452

Outstanding at 20 December 0.31 15,280,410 0.30 21,238,280

Exercised between 20 December and 30 June 0.26 (1,760,290) 0.30 (2,945,370)

Granted between 20 December and 30 June 1.64 2,400,000 - -

Forfeited between 20 December and 30 June 0.33 (4,299,740) - -

Outstanding at 30 June 0.73 11,620,380 0.30 18,292,910

Exercisable at 30 June 0.46 7,896,005 0.27 11,474,800

The options outstanding at 30 June 2009 have an exercise price in the range of US$0.22 to US$2.03 and a 
weighted average contractual life of 4 years.

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair 
value of share options granted. The estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on the 
Binomial model. The contractual life of the option is used as an input into this model.

The following factors and assumptions were used in determining the fair value of options on grant date:

Grant date Expiry  
date

Fair value per 
option *

Exercise  
price *

Price of 
shares on 
grant date*

Expected 
volatility1

Risk free 
interest rate

Dividend  
yield

1 June 2005
31 December 

2009
A$0.20 A$0.27 A$0.27 26.40% 5.75% -

25 January 
2006

25 January 
2011

A$0.46 A$0.57 A$0.62 26.80% 5.13% -

1 June 2006 1 June 2011 A$0.58 A$0.70 A$0.77 26.80% 5.75% -

11 February 
2009

11 February 
2014

A$1.61 A$2.50 A$2.42 25.50% 6.50% -

1 = Expected volatility is calculated using the AGSM risk measurement for the period

* = Adjusted in line with the reorganisation of capital of Fortescue Metals Groups Ltd effected on 19 December  
 2007. Each option was split into ten options.
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EMPLOYEE EXPENSES

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Share options granted in 2005 – equity settled 143 346 143 346

Share options granted in 2006 – equity settled 876 845 876 845

Share options granted in 2007 – equity settled 120 147 120 147

Share options granted in 2009 – equity settled 301 - 301 -

Total expense recognised as employee costs 1,440 1,338 1,440 1,338

Note 39. Contingent liabilities 
ASIC Proceedings
The Australian Securities and Investment Commission (ASIC) has commenced legal proceedings against 
Fortescue and its Chief Executive Officer in relation to market disclosure of certain agreements signed by 
the Company in 2004. The agreements in question relate to those signed with China Railway Engineering 
Corporation (CREC), China Harbour Engineering Corporation (CHEC) and China Metallurgical Construction 
Corporation (MCC).

The ASIC statement of claim alleges a breach by the Company and by the CEO of the continuous disclosure 
provisions of the Corporations Act under Section 674 and also a breach under Section 1041H relating to 
deceptive and misleading conduct. ASIC is seeking civil penalties of up to A$6,000,000 from the Company 
and A$5,600,000 for the CEO and an order that he compensate Fortescue for any pecuniary penalty it may be 
required to pay.

The trial has been completed and the parties are awaiting a decision from the Court.

Fatality at Mine Site
On 11 January 2008 an incident occurred during the construction of the processing plant at the Cloudbreak Mine 
site involving an employee of United Construction and which tragically resulted in the employee’s death.

The Company understands that a Coronial inquest and Worksafe investigation into the circumstances 
surrounding the fatality has commenced but at this time there is insufficient information to quantify any potential 
damages resulting from this event.

Cyclone George Fatalities
Following an investigation into events surrounding Cyclone George which occurred in March 2007. Fortescue 
was charged on 18 March 2009 with one offence and its subsidiary, The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd (TPI), 
charged with 18 offences under the Occupational Safety & Health Act 1984. Each charge has a maximum 
penalty of A$400,000 thus comprising a potential aggregate maximum penalty to Fortescue and its subsidiary of 
A$7,200,000. Fortescue’s solicitors have been instructed to defend the charges. 
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Note 39. Contingent liabilities (continued)
Shipping contracts
On 5 December 2008 Fortescue announced the contractual suspension or termination of all its long term 
shipping contracts of Affreightment and Consecutive Voyage Contracts. Some ship owners are disputing 
Fortescue’s right to take such action, which has led to a number of claims being lodged in the United Kingdom 
arbitration system (being the legal domicile for maritime disputes pursuant to the relevant contracts). The 
arbitration process for these claims is currently underway in London and Fortescue has engaged specialist UK 
maritime legal advisers.

The Company has since reached agreements with two of the ship owners being messrs Bocimar International 
NV and Classic Maritime Inc. There are five suspended shipping contracts remaining with tenures ranging from 
three to five years.

Fortescue has accrued for the estimated liabilities associated with the remaining suspended contracts in the 30 
June 2009 financial report. 

United Industries WA Pty Ltd Action
An action has been commenced against Fortescue’s wholly owned subsidiaries, Chichester Metals Pty Ltd 
(Chichester) and The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd (TPI), following the termination of the services contract. 
Solicitors have been instructed to defend the action and a counter claim has been lodged. It is not possible to 
quantify potential damages, if any, resulting from this event.

Note 40. Subsequent events
On 29 July 2009 Fortescue announced a 1.23 billion tonne Inferred Resource Estimate for its Glacier Valley 
tenement area. Glacier Valley is held by Fortescue but is subject to a joint venture (JV) arrangement with an 
Australian subsidiary of China’s Baosteel Group Corporation (Baosteel). The exploration expenditure associated 
with the resource definition enables Baosteel to move to a 35 per cent interest in the JV. Upon expenditure of an 
additional agreed amount to cover feasibility studies Baosteel can move to a 50 per cent interest.

The tenement is approximately 100 kilometres south of Fortescue’s Herb Elliott Port at Port Hedland and 
approximately 25 kilometres to the east of the Fortescue rail line.

No other significant events requiring disclosure have occurred since 30 June 2009.
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Note 41. Subsidiaries

Company
Class 

of
share

Country of 
Incorporation

Equity 
Holding

Cost to 
Company

2009 
%

2008 
%

2009
US$

2008
US$

Parent Entity

Fortescue Metals Group Ltd Australia - -

Controlled Entities

International Bulk Ports Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1

The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd @ Ordinary Australia 100 100 - -

FMG Resources Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 275 275

FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1

Chichester Metals Pty Ltd # Ordinary Australia 100 100 - -

FMG Resources (Aug 2006) Pty Ltd * Ordinary Australia 100 100 - -

Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1

Karribi Developments Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1

FMG Magnetite Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1

FMG North Pilbara Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 100 1 1

FMG Pacific Limited Ordinary New Zealand 100 - 1 -

FMG International Pte Ltd Ordinary Singapore 100 - 1 -

Pilbara Housing Services Pty Ltd Ordinary Australia 100 - 1 -

284 281 
@ = The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd is a subsidiary of International Bulk Ports Pty Ltd
# = Chichester Metals Pty Ltd (previously FMG Chichester Pty Ltd) is a subsidiary of FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd

*  = FMG Resources (August 2006) Pty Ltd (previously FMG Finance Pty Ltd) is a subsidiary of Chichester   
  Metals Pty Ltd

Note 42. Segment reporting
Fortescue operates exclusively in the iron ore exploration and production industry in Australia.
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Note 43. Operating leases
LEASES AS LESSEE
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Less than one year 127,800 51,064 4,453 6,740

Between one and five years 328,738 159,705 2,982 5,431

More than five years 1,660 43,648 - -

458,198 254,417 7,435 12,171

Fortescue leases various offices and other premises under non-cancellable operating leases expiring within one 
to seven years. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.  On renewal, the terms of 
the leases are renegotiated.

Fortescue also leases various motor vehicles, office equipment and plant and machinery under non-cancellable 
operating leases. The leases have varying terms.

Note 44. Commitments
(A) EXPLORATION TENEMENT LEASES – COMMITMENTS FOR 
EXPENDITURE
In order to maintain current rights of tenure to exploration tenements, Fortescue is required to outlay lease 
rentals and to meet the minimum expenditure requirements of US$5.1million over the next financial year (2008: 
US$2.4 million). 

Financial commitments for subsequent periods are contingent upon future exploration results and cannot 
be estimated. These obligations are subject to renegotiation upon expiry of the exploration leases or when 
application for a mining licence is made and have not been provided for in the accounts.

(B) PROJECT COMMITMENTS
Commitments exist in relation to the project for up to US$87.3 million (2008: US$123.9 million) over the next 
financial year, being the current contracts and orders in relation to the construction of the Pilbara Iron Ore and 
Infrastructure project.

(C) CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
As at 30 June 2009 Fortescue has commitments to capital expenditure contracted for at the reporting date but 
not recognised as liabilities for mobile mining equipment orders of US$22.2million (2008: US$374.8 million) 
related to the development and production of its Pilbara Iron Ore and Infrastructure Project. The majority of this 
equipment is expected to be funded through operating leases.
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Note 45. Auditors remuneration
Consolidated Company

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

2009
US$’000

2008
US$’000

Represented

Audit and assurance services

Auditors of Fortescue

BDO Kendalls Audit & Assurance (WA) Pty Ltd

- Audit and review 251 156 251 156

- Other assurance services 25 - 25 -

Other services

Auditors of Fortescue

BDO Consultants (WA) Pty Ltd

- Financial due diligence 10 33 10 33

BDO Risk Advisory Services (QLD) Pty Ltd

- Risk advisory services - 14 - 14

286 203 286 203
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Note 46. Deed of cross guarantee
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd and its controlled entities, except FMG Pacific Limited and FMG International Pte 
Ltd, are parties to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the others:

Holding Entity
 ● Fortescue Metals Group Ltd 

Group Entities
 ● FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd

 ● Chichester Metals Pty Ltd (previously FMG Chichester Pty Ltd)

 ● FMG Resources (Aug 2006) Pty Ltd (previously FMG Finance Pty Ltd)

 ● FMG Magnetite Pty Ltd

 ● FMG North Pilbara Pty Ltd

 ● Pilbara Mining Alliance Pty Ltd

 ● Karribi Developments Pty Ltd

 ● FMG Resources Pty Ltd

 ● International Bulk Ports Pty Ltd

 ● The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd

By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare 
a financial report and Directors’ Report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian 
Securities and Investments Commission.

a) Consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated  
retained profits
The ‘Closed Group’ is represented by the above companies is the same as the consolidated group, and as there 
are no other parties to the Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by the Company, they also represent the 
‘Extended Closed Group’. The income statement and summary movements in consolidated accumulated losses 
for the year ended 30 June 2009 along with the consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June 2009 for the Closed 
Group are materially the same as that of the consolidated group.
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION
Fortescue Metals Group Ltd and its Controlled Entities
ACN 002 594 872

Declaration by Directors 
The Directors of the Company declare that:

 1. The financial statements, comprising the income statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement,   
  statement of changes in equity, accompanying notes, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001  
  and: 

  (a)  comply with Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

  (b)  give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 30 June 2009 and of the performance   
                 for the year ended on that date of the company and the consolidated entity.

 2. In the Directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay  
  its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

 3. The remuneration disclosures included in the Directors’ Report (as part of audited Remuneration   
  Report), for the year ended 30 June 2009, comply with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

 4. The Directors have been given the declarations by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial   
  Officer required by section 295A. 

Parties identified in note 46 are parties to the deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees 
the debts of the others. At the date of this declaration there are reasonable grounds to believe that the 
companies which are parties to this deed of cross guarantee will as a consolidated entity be able to meet any 
obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject to, by virtue of the deed of cross guarantee 
described in note 46.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors and is signed for and on 
behalf of the Directors by:

Herb Elliott
Chairman

Dated at Perth this 10th day of August 2009.
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Information as at 7 September 2009

Top 20 Holders of Ordinary Shares

Rank Name Units
% of 

issued 
capital

1 The Metal Group Pty Ltd 972,828,300 31.46

2 LUK-Fortescue LLC 277,986,000 8.99

3 ANZ Nominees Limited <Cash Income A/C> 230,399,787 7.45

4 Valin Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd 228,007,497 7.37

5 Valin Resources Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd 154,267,590 4.99

6 Valin Mining Investments (Singapore) Pte Ltd 152,724,913 4.94

7 Citicorp Nominees Pty Limited 150,198,268 4.86

8 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited 128,024,881 4.14

9 Emichrome Pty Ltd 105,268,310 3.40

10 JP Morgan Nominees Australia Limited 98,242,722 3.18

11 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited A/C 2 74,710,360 2.42

12 HSBC Custody Nominees (Australia) Limited – GSCO ECA 63,274,610 2.05

13 National Nominees Limited 51,788,932 1.67

14 Bocimar International NV 16,453,469 0.53

15 Leaping Joey Pty Ltd (The Australian Children’s Trust) 14,287,000 0.46

16 Mr William Graeme Rowley 13,235,690 0.43

17 McNeil Nominees Pty Limited 10,553,128 0.34

18 WWB Investments Pty Ltd 9,650,000 0.31

19 John Cunningham & Associates Pty Limited 7,300,100 0.24

20 Queensland Investment Corporation 7,296,970 0.24

Total 2,766,498,527 89.47

Substantial Shareholders

Substantial Shareholder Total Shares % of Total Shares Notice

The Metal Group 972,828,300 31.46 30 December 2008

Hunan Valin Iron and Steel Group 535,000,000 17.30 30 April 2009

Leucadia National Corporation 277,986,000 8.99 22 August 2006

Harbinger Capital Partners 182,926,916 5.92 1 May 2009
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Range of Shares

Range Total Holders Units % Issued 
Capital

1-1,000 24,396 13,527,052 0.44

1,001 – 5,000 19,471 49,767,208 1.61

5,001 – 10,000 3,761 29,746,276 0.96

10,001 – 100,000 2,785 73,178,363 2.37

100,000 - max 269 2,925,995,964 94.63

Rounding

Total 50682 3092214863 100

Unmarketable Parcels

Minimum parcel size Holders Units

Minimum $500.00 parcel at $4.17 per unit 120 1,959 148,604
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TENEMENT REPORT
Information as at 7 September 2009

Western Australia Tenure
Holder: Blue Mist Enterprises Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

E 47/1861 E 47/1863

Holder: Chichester Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

E 46/664 E 46/666 M 45/1138 M 45/1139 M 45/1140 M 45/1147 M 45/1148 M 45/1149 M 45/1150

Holder: Chichester Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

L 46/50 L 46/60 L 47/204

Holder: Chichester Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

E 45/2497 E 45/2498 E 45/2499 E 45/2593 E 45/2651 E 45/2652 E 45/2708 E 46/467 E 46/516 E 46/518

E 46/519 E 46/566 E 46/567 E 46/568 E 46/569 E 46/590 E 46/595 E 46/600 E 46/601 E 46/610

E 46/611 E 46/612 E 46/623 E 46/675 E 47/1434 M 45/1082 M 45/1083 M 45/1084 M 45/1085 M 45/1086

M 45/1087 M 45/1088 M 45/1089 M 45/1090 M 45/1091 M 45/1092 M 45/1093 M 45/1094 M 45/1102 M 45/1103

M 45/1104 M 45/1105 M 45/1106 M 45/1107 M 45/1124 M 45/1125 M 45/1126 M 45/1127 M 45/1128 M 45/1141

M 45/1142 M 46/292 M 46/293 M 46/314 M 46/315 M 46/316 M 46/317 M 46/318 M 46/319 M 46/320

M 46/321 M 46/322 M 46/323 M 46/324 M 46/325 M 46/326 M 46/327 M 46/328 M 46/329 M 46/330

M 46/331 M 46/332 M 46/333 M 46/334 M 46/335 M 46/336 M 46/337 M 46/338 M 46/339 M 46/340

M 46/341 M 46/342 M 46/343 M 46/344 M 46/345 M 46/346 M 46/347 M 46/348 M 46/349 M 46/350

M 46/351 M 46/352 M 46/353 M 46/354 M 46/355 M 46/356 M 46/357 M 46/401 M 46/402 M 46/403

M 46/404 M 46/405 M 46/406 M 46/407 M 46/408 M 46/409 M 46/410 M 46/411 M 46/412 M 46/413

M 46/414 M 46/415 M 46/416 M 46/417 M 46/418 M 46/419 M 46/420 M 46/421 M 46/422 M 46/423

M 46/424 M 46/449 M 46/450 M 46/451 M 46/452 M 46/453 M 46/454

Holder: Chichester Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% iron ore rights 

E 46/413

Holder: Chichester Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

G 46/7 L 45/152 L 46/35 L 46/36 L 46/37 L 46/40 L 46/46 L 46/47 L 46/48 L 46/49

L 46/51 L 46/52 L 46/53 L 46/54 L 46/55 L 46/56 L 46/57 L 46/58 L 46/62 L 46/64

L 46/66 L 47/193 L 47/194 L 47/195 L 47/196 L 47/197 L 47/198 L 47/199

Holder: Contract Power Australia Pty Ltd/Contract Power Holdings Pty Ltd as Trustee for Contract Power Holdings Sub-trust  
Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

L 46/63

Holder: Cullen Exploration Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: Earning 51% iron ore rights

E 08/1393 E 47/1154 E 47/1649 E 47/1650 E 52/1667 P 08/505 P 08/556

Holder: David Ryan  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: Option for 100% all minerals rights

P 47/1275

Holder: Derek Ammon  FMG mineral rights status: 40% of all mineral rights

Status: Application  M 47/583    Status: Granted  E 47/1140

Holder: Flinders Mines Ltd  FMG mineral rights status: 100% iron ore rights 

Status: Application  M 47/1407 Status: Granted  E 47/1306

Holder: FMG North Pilbara Pty Ltd  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

Status: Application  M 45/1184 Status: Granted  E 45/3084

Holder: FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

E 08/1432 E 08/1439 E 08/1440 E 08/1548 E 08/1550 E 08/1585 E 08/1623 E 08/1624 E 08/1626 E 08/1627

E 08/1628 E 08/1629 E 08/1630 E 08/1631 E 08/1632 E 08/1633 E 08/1714 E 08/1741 E 08/1762 E 08/1814 

E 08/1816 E 08/1878 E 08/1893 E 08/1894 E 08/1895 E 08/1896 E 08/1897 E 08/1898 E 08/1902 E 08/1903

E 08/1904 E 08/1905 E 08/1906 E 08/1907 E 08/1908 E 08/1909 E 08/1915 E 08/1916 E 08/1933 E 08/1942

E 08/1943 E 08/1949 E 08/1950 E 08/1956 E 08/1957 E 08/1959 E 08/1961 E 08/1962 E 08/1978 E 08/1982

E 08/1985 E 08/1986 E 08/1989 E 08/1992 E 08/2000 E 08/2003 E 08/2004 E 08/2034 E 08/2037 E 08/2038

E 08/2039 E 45/2840 E 45/2841 E 45/2842 E 45/2843 E 45/2844 E 45/2845 E 45/2846 E 45/2847 E 45/2848

E 45/2849 E 45/2850 E 45/2851 E 45/2852 E 45/2853 E 45/2854 E 45/2855 E 45/2856 E 45/2857 E 45/2858

E 45/2859 E 45/2860 E 45/2861 E 45/2862 E 45/2863 E 45/2864 E 45/2865 E 45/2866 E 45/2867 E 45/2870

E 45/2919 E 45/2920 E 45/2945 E 45/2946 E 45/2970 E 45/2971 E 45/2972 E 45/2973 E 45/3191 E 45/3270

E 45/3305 E 45/3306 E 45/3307 E 45/3310 E 45/3316 E 45/3318 E 45/3328 E 45/3360 E 45/3365 E 45/3366

E 45/3369 E 45/3386 E 45/3399 E 45/3400 E 45/3402 E 45/3410 E 45/3412 E 45/3413 E 45/3414 E 45/3417

E 45/3421 E 45/3422 E 45/3423 E 45/3426 E 45/3428 E 45/3429 E 45/3430 E 45/3431 E 45/3432 E 45/3433

E 45/3434 E 45/3438 E 45/3441 E 45/3442 E 45/3443 E 45/3445 E 45/3448 E 45/3459 E 45/3460 E 45/3461

E 45/3463 E 45/3465 E 45/3466 E 45/3469 E 45/3472 E 45/3473 E 45/3486 E 46/694 E 46/695 E 46/696

E 46/697 E 46/698 E 46/699 E 46/700 E 46/701 E 46/702 E 46/703 E 46/704 E 46/706 E 46/708

E 46/711 E 46/715 E 46/716 E 46/722 E 46/724 E 46/725 E 46/726 E 46/727 E 46/728 E 46/729

E 46/735 E 46/741 E 46/743 E 46/776 E 46/799 E 46/805 E 46/832 E 47/1342 E 47/1343 E 47/1349

E 47/1351 E 47/1355 E 47/1357 E 47/1361 E 47/1363 E 47/1370 E 47/1375 E 47/1383 E 47/1384 E 47/1387

E 47/1388 E 47/1396 E 47/1397 E 47/1404 E 47/1419 E 47/1420 E 47/1423 E 47/1433 E 47/1435 E 47/1446

E 47/1449 E 47/1453 E 47/1460 E 47/1500 E 47/1533 E 47/1535 E 47/1543 E 47/1549 E 47/1578 E 47/1579

E 47/1623 E 47/1651 E 47/1652 E 47/1653 E 47/1654 E 47/1655 E 47/1656 E 47/1659 E 47/1660 E 47/1661

E 47/1662 E 47/1663 E 47/1664 E 47/1665 E 47/1666 E 47/1667 E 47/1668 E 47/1669 E 47/1670 E 47/1671

E 47/1672 E 47/1673 E 47/1674 E 47/1675 E 47/1676 E 47/1677 E 47/1678 E 47/1679 E 47/1680 E 47/1681

E 47/1682 E 47/1684 E 47/1685 E 47/1686 E 47/1687 E 47/1688 E 47/1690 E 47/1703 E 47/1728 E 47/1734

E 47/1735 E 47/1741 E 47/1762 E 47/1768 E 47/1772 E 47/1773 E 47/1805 E 47/1808 E 47/1809 E 47/1818

E 47/1833 E 47/1843 E 47/1852 E 47/1853 E 47/1854 E 47/1855 E 47/1858 E 47/1879 E 47/1882 E 47/1918
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E 47/1920 E 47/1921 E 47/1923 E 47/1938 E 47/1944 E 47/1969 E 47/1985 E 47/1986 E 47/1987 E 47/1988

E 47/1989 E 47/1990 E 47/1991 E 47/1992 E 47/1993 E 47/1994 E 47/1995 E 47/1996 E 47/1997 E 47/1998

E 47/1999 E 47/2000 E 47/2020 E 47/2026 E 47/2035 E 47/2036 E 47/2037 E 47/2046 E 47/2047 E 47/2055

E 47/2056 E 47/2057 E 47/2059 E 47/2060 E 47/2061 E 47/2062 E 47/2069 E 47/2080 E 47/2082 E 47/2083

E 47/2085 E 47/2099 E 47/2102 E 47/2104 E 47/2105 E 47/2106 E 47/2119 E 47/2132 E 47/2133 E 47/2137

E 47/2138 E 47/2142 E 47/2143 E 47/2146 E 47/2154 E 47/2155 E 47/2156 E 47/2157 E 52/1788 E 52/1789

E 52/1790 E 52/1937 E 52/1977 E 52/1984 E 52/2007 E 52/2034 E 52/2035 E 52/2113 E 52/2114 E 52/2205

E 52/2264 E 52/2277 E 52/2284 E 52/2285 E 52/2290 E 52/2311 E 52/2333 E 52/2340 E 52/2341 E 52/2342

E 52/2347 E 52/2353 E 52/2380 E 52/2382 E 52/2393 E 52/2408 E 52/2414 E 52/2415 E 52/2416 E 52/2452

E 52/2453 E 52/2454 M 47/1404 M 47/1413 M 47/1431 P 08/531 P 08/532 P 45/2721 P 45/2748 P 45/2749

P 47/1198 P 47/1199 P 47/1210 P 47/1211 P 47/1237 P 47/1255 P 47/1256 P 47/1261 P 47/1262 P 47/1269

P 47/1278 P 47/1280 P 47/1281 P 47/1282 P 47/1283 P 47/1284 P 47/1285 P 47/1287 P 47/1304 P 47/1305

P 47/1315 P 47/1390 P 47/1391 P 47/1392 P 47/1393 P 47/1394 P 47/1395 P 47/1396 P 47/1397 P 47/1423

P 47/1427 P 47/1468 P 47/1469 P 47/1470 P 47/1513 P 47/1514 P 47/1515

Holder: FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights except diamonds

E 47/1398 E 47/1399 M 47/1408 M 47/1409 M 47/1410 M 47/1411 M 47/1417

Holder: FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

G 45/285 G 45/286 L 47/293 L 47/294 L 47/295 L 47/296 L 47/297 L 47/298 L 47/299 L 47/300

L 47/301

Holder: FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights

E 08/1547 E 08/1549 E 08/1760 E 08/1761 E 08/1831 E 45/2707 E 45/2709 E 45/2712 E 45/2713 E 45/2714

E 45/2737 E 45/2748 E 45/2749 E 45/2770 E 46/517 E 46/621 E 46/622 E 46/770 E 47/1155 E 47/1320

E 47/1373 E 47/1390 E 47/1391 E 47/1392 E 47/1393 E 47/1395 E 47/1447 E 47/1448 E 47/1455 E 47/1479

E 47/1480 E 47/1532 E 47/1702 E 47/1761 E 47/1763 E 47/1764 E 47/1821 E 47/1832 E 52/1759 E 52/1760

E 52/1779 E 52/2268 M 45/1177 P 47/1252 P 47/1253 P 47/1257 P 47/1270 P 47/1279 P 47/1286 P 47/1306

P 47/1307 P 47/1308 P 47/1309 P 47/1398 P 47/1399 P 47/1400 P 47/1401 P 47/1402 P 47/1403 P 47/1404

P 47/1405 P 47/1406 P 47/1407 P 47/1408 P 47/1409 P 47/1410 P 47/1411 P 47/1412

Holder: FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights except diamonds

E 47/1333 E 47/1334 E 47/1352 E 47/1372 E 47/1436 E 47/1523 E 47/1524

Holder: FMG Pilbara Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

G 45/275 L 47/232 L 47/302

Holder: FMG Resources Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights

E 04/1536 E 04/1537 E 04/1538 E 04/1539 E 45/3221 E 45/3222 E 45/3223 E 45/3224 E 45/3225 E 45/3226

E 51/1158 E 51/1159 E 51/1165 E 51/1166 E 52/1945 E 52/1946 E 52/1947 E 52/2423 E 57/738 E 57/756

E 59/1267 E 59/1279 E 59/1595 E 59/1608 E 69/2516 E 69/2517 E 69/2518 E 69/2519 E 69/2520 E 69/2521

E 69/2522 E 69/2523 E 69/2524 E 69/2525 E 69/2526 E 69/2527 E 69/2528 E 69/2529 E 69/2530 E 69/2531

E 70/3546

Holder: FMG Resources Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights

E 04/1534 E 59/1275 E 59/1360 E 77/1385

Holder: Fortescue Metals Group Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights

E 47/1319 M 45/1180 M 45/1181 M 45/1182 M 45/1183 P 47/1172 P 47/1173 P 47/1174 P 47/1175 P 47/1176

P 47/1177 P 47/1178 P 47/1179 P 47/1180

Holder: Fortescue Metals Group Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights

E 47/1299 E 47/1300 E 47/1301 E 47/1302 E 45/2510 E 45/2535

Holder: Fortescue Metals Group Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

L 45/158 L 45/191

Holder: Gwalia Tantalum Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: Earning 60% iron ore rights

E 45/2310

Holder: Maincoast Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights

E 47/1461 E 70/2596

Holder: Pilbara Iron Ore Pty Ltd  Status: Application  

FMG mineral rights status: 50% all mineral rights M 47/580 M 47/581 M 47/582

FMG mineral rights status: n/a L 47/132 L 47/134 L 47/205

Holder: Pilbara Iron Ore Pty Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 50% all mineral rights

E 47/1191 E 47/1192 E 47/1224 E 47/1225 E 47/1235 E 47/1380 P 47/1156 P 47/1414

Holder: Prenti Exploration Pty Ltd/ Flinders Mines Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% iron ore rights

M 47/663 M 47/664 M 47/665 M 47/666 M 47/667 M 47/668 M 47/669 M 47/670 M 47/671 M 47/672

Holder: Prenti Exploration Pty Ltd/ Flinders Mines Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% iron ore rights

E 47/1011 E 47/1016

Holder: Talisman Mining Ltd  Status: Granted  FMG mineral rights status: 100% iron ore rights

E 47/1136 E 47/1194 E 47/1195 E 47/1196

Holder: The Pilbara Infrastructure Pty Ltd  FMG mineral rights status: n/a

Status: Application L 45/199 L 47/329 L 47/330 L 47/331

Status: Granted AL 70/1 AL 70/2 AL 70/3 

South Australia Tenure
Holder: FMG Resources Pty Ltd  Status: Application  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

238/2009

New Zealand Tenure
Holder: FMG Pacific Ltd  FMG mineral rights status: 100% all mineral rights 

Status: Application 50993 50994

Status: Granted 50873 50874 50960 50961 50992 50995 50996

Holder: FMG Pacific Ltd  FMG mineral rights status: 100% coal rights 

Status: Application 51074 51213 51258 51267 51330

Status: Granted 50990 51016 51183 51209 51212 51268
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Total Fortescue Resources

Resource Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Measured 134 59.36 3.71 1.97 0.050 8.39

Indicated 1,627 58.53 4.25 2.51 0.055 7.87

Inferred 467 58.16 4.24 2.48 0.058 7.74

Total Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek 2,227 58.50 4.21 2.47 0.055 7.87

Resources Chichester Other * Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Indicated 222 50.00 10.89 6.83 0.060 7.98

Inferred 473 54.09 7.58 4.86 0.066 7.51

Total Chichester Other 695 52.78 8.64 5.49 0.064 7.66

Resource Solomon Group Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Indicated 543 56.4 6.98 2.89 0.060 8.91

Inferred 1,680 56.1 7.00 3.51 0.079 8.34

Total Solomon 2,223 56.2 6.99 3.39 0.076 8.45

 
Joint Venture Resource

Resource Glacier Valley Tonnes 
millions

Fe  
%

FeO  
%

Silica 
%

Alumina 
%

Phos  
%

LOI  
%

Inferred 1,230 33.1 21.4 38.8 1.59 0.105 7.65
 

Summary of Davis Tube Analysis Microns 
mµ

Recovery 
%

Iron Fe 
%

FeO 
%

Silica  
%

Alumina  
%

LOI  
%

28 33.1 67.3 33.4 1.59 0.105 7.65
 

* Tenements included are Mt Lewin, Mt Nicholas and White Knight.

Competent Persons Statement
The detail in this report that relates to Mineral Resources is based on information compiled by Mr Stuart 
Robinson and Dr John Clout, who are both Fellows of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 
together with information that was provided by Mr Olaf Frederickson who is a Member of The Australasian 
Institute of Mining and Metallurgy.  

The detail in this report that relates to Mineral Reserves is based on information compiled by Mr Geoffrey Bull 
who is a Member of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy. Supporting information on mineral 
processing and products for the reserve estimate was provided by Dr Clout.

Dr Clout, Mr Robinson, Mr Frederickson and Mr Bull are all full time employees of Fortescue Metals Group 
Ltd and provided technical input for Mineral Resource estimations, Reserve calculations and compilation of 
exploration results. Dr Clout, Mr Robinson, Mr Frederickson and Mr Bull have sufficient experience which is 
relevant to the style of mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration to qualify as a Competent Person 
as defined in the 2004 Edition of the “Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources 
and Ore Reserves”. 

The development of the Cloudbreak and Christmas Creek Ore reserve model was carried out in accordance with 
the Australasian Code for Reporting of Mineral Resources and Ore Reserves (JORC Code), prepared by the 
Joint Ore Reserves Committee of the Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy, the Australian Institute of 
Geoscientists and the Minerals Council of Australia, effective December 2004.

Dr Clout, Mr Robinson, Mr Frederickson and Mr Bull consent to the inclusion in this report of the matters based 
on their information in the form and context in which it appears.
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